
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Council 
 
 
 
 
Monday 6th June 
2011 
7.00 pm 
 
Council Chamber 
Town Hall 
Redditch 

 

Public Document Pack



 
 
 
 

Access to Information - Your Rights 
 

The Local Government 
(Access to Information) Act 
1985 widened the rights of 
press and public to attend 
Local Authority meetings 
and to see certain 
documents.  Recently the 
Freedom of Information Act 
2000, has further broadened 
these rights, and limited 
exemptions under the 1985 
Act. 

Your main rights are set out 
below:- 

• Automatic right to attend 
all Council and 
Committee meetings 
unless the business 
would disclose 
confidential or “exempt” 
information. 

• Automatic right to inspect 
agenda and public reports 
at least five days before 
the date of the meeting. 

• Automatic right to inspect 
minutes of the Council 
and its Committees (or 
summaries of business  

 

undertaken in private) for 
up to six years following a 
meeting. 

• Automatic right to inspect 
lists of background 
papers used in the 
preparation of public 
reports. 

• Access, upon request, to 
the background papers 
on which reports are 
based for a period of up 
to four years from the 
date of the meeting. 

• Access to a public 
register stating the names 
and addresses and 
electoral areas of all 
Councillors with details of 
the membership of all 
Committees etc. 

• A reasonable number of 
copies of agenda and 
reports relating to items to 
be considered in public 
must be made available 
to the public attending 
meetings of the Council 
and its Committees etc. 

• Access to a list specifying 
those powers which the 
Council has delegated to its 
Officers indicating also the 
titles of the Officers 
concerned. 

• Access to a summary of the 
rights of the public to attend 
meetings of the Council and 
its Committees etc. and to 
inspect and copy 
documents. 

• In addition, the public now 
has a right to be present 
when the Council 
determines “Key Decisions” 
unless the business would 
disclose confidential or 
“exempt” information. 

• Unless otherwise stated, all 
items of business before the 
Executive Committee are 
Key Decisions.  

• (Copies of Agenda Lists are 
published in advance of the 
meetings on the Council’s 
Website: 
www.redditchbc.gov.uk 

 
If you have any queries on this Agenda or any of the decisions taken or wish to 

exercise any of the above rights of access to information, please contact  
Ivor Westmore  

Committee Support Services  
 

Town Hall, Walter Stranz Square, Redditch, B98 8AH 
Tel: (01527) 64252 (Extn. 3269) Fax: (01527) 65216 

e.mail: ivor.westmore@bromgroveandredditch.gov.uk            Minicom: 595528 
 



 

 
Welcome to today’s meeting. 

Guidance for the Public 
 
 
Agenda Papers 

The Agenda List at the front 
of the Agenda summarises 
the issues to be discussed 
and is followed by the 
Officers’ full supporting 
Reports. 
 
Chair 

The Chair is responsible for 
the proper conduct of the 
meeting. Generally to one 
side of the Chair is the 
Committee Support Officer 
who gives advice on the 
proper conduct of the 
meeting and ensures that 
the debate and the 
decisions are properly 
recorded.  On the Chair’s 
other side are the relevant 
Council Officers.  The 
Councillors (“Members”) of 
the Committee occupy the 
remaining seats around the 
table. 
 
Running Order 

Items will normally be taken 
in the order printed but, in 
particular circumstances, the 
Chair may agree to vary the 
order. 
 
Refreshments : tea, coffee 
and water are normally 
available at meetings - 
please serve yourself. 
 

 
Decisions 

Decisions at the meeting will 
be taken by the Councillors 
who are the democratically 
elected representatives. 
They are advised by 
Officers who are paid 
professionals and do not 
have a vote. 
 
Members of the Public 

Members of the public may, 
by prior arrangement, speak 
at meetings of the Council or 
its Committees.  Specific 
procedures exist for Appeals 
Hearings or for meetings 
involving Licence or 
Planning Applications.  For 
further information on this 
point, please speak to the 
Committee Support Officer. 
 
Special Arrangements 

If you have any particular 
needs, please contact the 
Committee Support Officer. 
 
Infra-red devices for the 
hearing impaired are 
available on request at the 
meeting. Other facilities may 
require prior arrangement. 
 
Further Information 

If you require any further 
information, please contact 
the Committee Support 
Officer (see foot of page 
opposite). 

Fire/ Emergency  
instructions 
 
If the alarm is sounded, 
please leave the building 
by the nearest available 
exit – these are clearly 
indicated within all the 
Committee Rooms. 
 
If you discover a fire, 
inform a member of staff 
or operate the nearest 
alarm call point (wall 
mounted red rectangular 
box).  In the event of the 
fire alarm sounding, leave 
the building immediately 
following the fire exit 
signs.  Officers have been 
appointed with 
responsibility to ensure 
that all visitors are 
escorted from the 
building. 
 
Do Not stop to collect 
personal belongings. 
 
Do Not use lifts. 
 
Do Not re-enter the 
building until told to do 
so.  
 
The emergency 
Assembly Area is on 
Walter Stranz Square. 

 
 
 



 
 
 

Declaration of Interests: 
Guidance for Councillors 
 
 

DO I HAVE A “PERSONAL INTEREST” ? 
 
• Where the item relates or is likely to affect your  registered interests 

(what you have declared on the formal Register of Interests) 
OR 
 
• Where a decision in relation to the item might reasonably be regarded as affecting your 

own well-being or financial position, or that of your family, or your close associates more 
than most other people affected by the issue, 

 
you have a personal interest. 
 
WHAT MUST I DO?  Declare the existence, and nature, of your interest and stay 
 
• The declaration must relate to specific business being decided - 

a general scattergun approach is not needed 
 
• Exception - where interest arises only because of your membership of another public 

body, there is no need to declare unless you speak on the matter. 
 
• You can vote on the matter. 
 
 
IS IT A “PREJUDICIAL INTEREST” ? 
 
In general only if:- 
 
• It is a personal interest and 
 
• The item affects your financial position (or conveys other benefits), or the position of your 

family, close associates or bodies through which you have a registered interest (or 
relates to the exercise of regulatory functions in relation to these groups) 

 
 and 
 
• A member of public, with knowledge of the relevant facts, would reasonably believe the 

interest was likely to prejudice your judgement of the public interest. 
 
 
WHAT MUST I DO?  Declare and Withdraw 
 
BUT you may make representations to the meeting before withdrawing, if the public have similar 
rights (such as the right to speak at Planning Committee). 



 
 

 
 
 

Council 
 

 

 

 

6th June 2011 

7.00 pm 

Council Chamber Town Hall 

 

Agenda Membership: 

 Cllrs: Anita Clayton (DMayor) 
Peter Anderson 
R Blake 
Michael Braley 
Andrew Brazier 
Juliet Brunner 
David Bush 
Michael Chalk 
Simon Chalk 
Greg Chance 
Brandon Clayton 
Andrew Fry 
Carole Gandy 
Adam Griffin 
Malcolm Hall 
 

Bill Hartnett 
Roger Hill 
Gay Hopkins 
Robin King 
Wanda King 
Alan Mason 
P Mould 
William Norton 
Jinny Pearce 
Brenda Quinney 
Mark Shurmer 
Luke Stephens 
Debbie Taylor 
Derek Taylor 
 

1. Welcome  The Mayor will open the meeting and welcome all present. 
 
The Mayor’s Celebrant, Ms June Saville, will lead the Council 
in a moment’s reflection. 
 
  

2. Apologies  To receive any apologies for absence on behalf of Council 
members. 
 
  

3. Declarations of Interest  To invite Councillors to declare any interests they may have 
in items on the agenda. 
 
  

4. Minutes  

Chief Executive 

To confirm as a correct record the minutes of the meeting of 
the Council held on 23rd May 2011. 
 
(Minutes circulated in Minute Book 1- 2011/12 – To 
follow) 
 
  



 
 
Council 
 

 

 

6th June 2011 
 

5. Communications and 
Mayor's Announcements  

To receive a report from the Mayor on civic matters which 
have arisen since the last meeting or events which may be 
occurring in the near future. 
 
To give notice of any variation to the items listed in the 
Forward Plan and/or items accepted as “Urgent Business”. 
 
(No separate report / oral update) 
 
  

6. Leader's Announcements  To receive a report from the Leader on matters considered to 
be of significance to the Council. 
 
(No separate report / oral update) 
 
  

7. Questions on Notice  

Chief Executive 

No questions had been submitted to the Mayor, a member of 
the Executive Committee or the Chair of any committee or 
sub-committee in accordance with Standing Order 9.2 at the 
time of publication of the agenda. 
 
  

8. Motions on Notice - 
Worcestershire Acute 
Hospitals NHS Trust  

(Pages 1 - 2)  

Chief Executive 

To consider an urgent Motion submitted by Councillor Carole 
Gandy further to the very recent report of the Care Quality 
Commission on the Worcestershire Acute Hospitals NHS 
Trust and, amongst others, the Alexandra Hospital. 
 
(Motion attached) 
 
(This Motion was received at less than the required 9 clear 
days’ notice. However, in view of the likely broad public 
interest in the matter, the Mayor has agreed its addition to 
the agenda in accordance with the powers vested in her by 
virtue of Section 100(B)(4)(b) of the Local Government Act 
1972.) 
 
 
 
 
  



 
 
Council 
 

 

 

6th June 2011 
 
 

9. Executive Committee  

(Pages 3 - 194)  

Chief Executive 

To receive the minutes and consider the recommendations 
and/or referrals from the following meeting of the Executive 
Committee: 
 
12th April 2011 
 
Matters requiring the Council’s consideration include: 
 
• Worcestershire Housing Strategy 2011-2016; 
• Worcestershire Local investment Plan and 

Affordable Homes Programme Framework; and 
• Member Development Steering Group, 31st March 

2011 - Referrals 
 

 
(Reports and decisions attached) 
 
31st May 2011 
 
Matters requiring the Council’s consideration may include: 
 
• Council Plan 2011-2014; 
• Disposal of Site of Former Park House 
 
(Reports and decisions to follow) 
 
(Minutes circulated in Minute Book 1 – 2011/12 – To 
Follow) 
 
 
 
  



 
 
Council 
 

 

 

6th June 2011 
 
 

10. Regulatory Committees  

(Pages 195 - 220)  

Chief Executive 

To formally receive the minutes of the following meetings of 
the Council’s Regulatory Committees: 
 
Audit and Governance Committee - 18th April 2011 
 
Planning Committee -   29th March 2011 
 
      27th April 2011 
 
Standards Committee -   20th April 2011 
 
(Reports and decisions from the Audit and Governance 
Committee attached) 
 
(Minutes circulated in Minute Book 1 – 2011/12 – To 
Follow) 
 
  

11. Administrative Matters  

Chief Executive 

To consider any administrative matters arising out of the 
Annual Meeting, including appointments to various bodies 
and minor Constitutional matters. 
 
(No separate report – none to date) 
 
 
  

12. Urgent Business - 
Record of Decisions  

Chief Executive 

To note any decisions taken in accordance with Standing 
Order 36 and/or the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules 
(Constitution), as specified. 
 
(None to date). 
 
  

13. Urgent Business - 
general  

To consider any additional items exceptionally agreed by the 
Mayor as Urgent Business in accordance with the powers 
vested in her by virtue of Section 100(B)(4)(b) of the Local 
Government Act 1972. 
 
(This power should be exercised only in cases where there 
are genuinely special circumstances which require 
consideration of an item which has not previously been 
published on the Order of Business for the meeting and/or on 
the Leader’s Forward Plan.) 
 
  



 
 
Council 
 

 

 

6th June 2011 
 

14. Exclusion of the Public  Should it be necessary, in the opinion of the Chief Executive, 
to consider excluding the public from the meeting in relation 
to any items of business on the grounds that exempt 
information is likely to be divulged it may be necessary to 
move the following resolution: 
 
“that, under S.100 I of the Local Government Act 1972, 
as amended by the Local Government (Access to 
Information) (Variation) Order 2006, the public be 
excluded from the meeting for the following matter(s) on 
the rounds that it/they involve(s) the likely disclosure of 
exempt information as defined in the relevant 
paragraphs (to be specified) of Part 1 of Schedule 12 (A) 
of the said Act, as amended.” 
 
 
  

(Note: Anyone requiring copies of any previously circulated reports, or supplementary papers, 
should please contact Committee Services Officers in advance of the meeting.) 
 
  

  

 
 





REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

 
COUNCIL  6th June 2011 
 

Demo S’s Council 110606/NoM report/sms/26.5.11 

MOTION ON NOTICE –  
WORCESTERSHIRE ACUTE HEALTH TRUST / ALEXANDRA HOSPITAL  
 
Relevant Portfolio Holder(s) Cllrs Carole Gandy, Brandon Clayton 

and Juliet Brunner 
Relevant Head of Service Head of Legal, Equalities & 

Democratic Services 
Not a Key Decision  

 
The following Motion has been submitted by Councillor Carole Gandy: 
 
“Redditch Borough Council wishes to express its deep concern regarding the 
recent Care Quality Commission report on the Worcestershire Acute Health 
Trust.  
 
The Trust has failed to meet legal standards for nutrition, hydration and dignity.  
 
Public confidence in the Trust has deteriorated and this Council is concerned 
about the health and welfare of patients in the Alexandra Hospital. 
 
This Council requests that: 
 

1) Worcestershire PCT undertake a scrutiny into the management 
systems that enabled this failure to occur; 

 
2) Worcestershire Health Overview & Scrutiny Panel undertake an urgent 

scrutiny into the standards of care given to patients; and 
 

3) Worcestershire Acute Hospital NHS Trust undertake scrutiny on their 
failures and report back the measures they have put in place to 
reassure the public.” 

 
 
Proposed by:   Councillor Carole Gandy, Leader of the Council 
 
Seconded by : Councillor Juliet Brunner, Portfolio Holder for Community Safety 
                        & Regulatory Services 
 
 
Dated:           26th May 2011 

Agenda Item 8Page 1



Page 2



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

COUNCIL  6th June 2011  

 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\6\3\AI00006366\WHSdecision0.doc 

WORCESTERSHIRE HOUSING STRATEGY 2011 - 2016 
 
RECOMMENDED that 
 
the Countywide Housing Strategy and action plan attached at Appendix 1 
to the report be approved. 

Agenda Item 9Page 3



Page 4



 
REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

EXECUTIVE  
COMMITTEE  12th April 2011 

 

 

WORCESTERSHIRE HOUSING STRATEGY 2011 - 2016. 
 
Relevant Portfolio Holder Cllr Brandon Clayton, Housing, Local 

Environment & Health 
Relevant Head of Service Angie Heighway, Head of Community 

Services 
Key Decision  

 
1. SUMMARY OF PROPOSALS 
 
 The report brings before Members a Countywide Housing Strategy for 

approval (Appendix 1).  The report explains why a Countywide Housing 
Strategy has been developed to replace the former District Housing 
Strategies, who it is aimed at and who and what helped shape the strategy. 

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS  
 

 The Committee is asked to RECOMMEND that 

 the Countywide Housing Strategy and action plan attached at 
Appendix 1 be approved. 

 
3. BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 Strategic housing functions, which include enabling affordable housing,  

homelessness prevention, , supported housing services and private sector 
housing conditions and enforcement, are predominantly operated through 
District/Borough Councils with a very wide range of partnerships with 
statutory and voluntary sector agencies.  Strategic arrangements and 
revenue funding for supported housing provision is administered through the 
Worcestershire Supporting People programme and has a major impact on 
strategic housing.  

 
3.2 Increasingly there has been more co-operation and joint development 

between the six District Councils, Worcestershire County Council, its 
partners and other Local Authorities outside Worcestershire.  Significant 
examples include the South Housing Market Area Partnership, the 
development of a Countywide Homelessness Strategy and the creation of a 
Countywide Home Improvement Agency. 

 
3.3 District Councils are required to produce a comprehensive needs led, 

Housing Strategies and Homelessness Strategies which focus primarily on 
an area’s needs.  Increasingly these strategies are required to take a much 

Page 5



 
REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

EXECUTIVE  
COMMITTEE  12th April 2011 

 

 

wider geographical overview and respond to increasingly complex policy and 
strategic policy requirements of Government, key partners and stakeholders. 

 
3.4 Each of the Worcestershire District Councils has had individual housing 

strategies.  The Redditch Borough Council Housing Strategy expired at the 
end of 2010.  These strategies have also improved our approach to working 
together and this has led to an increase in the number of countywide 
initiatives. 

 
4. KEY ISSUES 

 
4.1 The new Worcestershire Housing Strategy (Attached at Appendix 1) takes 

the next step; a concerted and more integrated countywide approach for the 
development and delivery of our housing services.  We are corporately and 
jointly committed to this approach as the Chief Executives and Leaders for 
the District/Borough Councils, gave approval for the development of a 
County Housing Strategy in 2009. 

 
4.2 In practice, the Worcestershire Local Authorities have been working in close 

and effective partnership on housing matters for many years through the 
Worcestershire Chief Housing Officers Group (CHOG) and Worcestershire 
Supporting People Commissioning Body (SPCB).  Government guidance 
issued by the CLG broadened the approach for the development of housing 
strategies, enabling these to be developed at Local Strategic Partnership or 
sub regional level as well as locally. 

 
4.3 It is intended that the new Countywide Housing Strategy will sit alongside 

the existing Worcestershire Homelessness Strategy and the Worcestershire 
Supporting People Strategy, which are closely aligned.   

 
4.4 The partnership working between Local Authorities, Housing Associations, 

and the Homes & Communities Agency (HCA) will be the investment route 
and delivery vehicle for affordable housing, which is a top priority for the 
Worcestershire Partnership and was reflected in previous LAA targets.  The 
Countywide Housing Strategy also sits comfortably with the recent dialogue 
that has been developed by the District/Borough Councils, County Councils, 
RSLs and with the HCA on the approach to the ‘Single Conversation’ and 
the development of the Local Investment Plan (LIP) to guide the HCA’s 
investment in affordable housing across Worcestershire. 

 
 
 

Page 6



 
REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

EXECUTIVE  
COMMITTEE  12th April 2011 

 

 

4.5 The strategy is aimed at anyone with an interest in the commissioning and 
delivery of housing related services within the county.  Its objective is to 
influence thinking, policy making and action at a county and local level to 
meet the housing aspirations of individuals and communities and to support 
Local Housing Authorities in attracting resources into Worcestershire. 

 
4.6 Central to the strategy is the promotion of partnership working with 

customers, other agencies and across boundaries to create sustainable 
places to live.  The strategy identifies the importance of working with all 
housing providers, including those in the private sector, to achieve a 
balanced housing market and we will promote the document and its priorities 
to developers and landlords. 

 
4.7 The strategy responds to the national focus on the importance of the 

Strategic Housing Role of Local Authorities, the implications of the Regional 
Housing Strategy and the outcome of the recent Comprehensive Area 
Assessment of the County.  In addition, national and regional economic, 
housing and planning policy requirements are considered in the context of 
locally prioritised demographic and economic needs. 

 
4.8 Within the county, two consultation events were held during autumn 2009 to 

consider housing from both a strategic and client based perspective.  These 
events included partners from a variety of statutory and voluntary 
organisations. 

 
4.9 There was also consultation with service users, both through the 

consultation events and a series of focus groups with specific client groups. 
A questionnaire was also made available through the District/Borough 
Council websites to maximise the number of people who could contribute 
their views. 

 
4.10 The Vision set out in the new strategy is ‘The right home, at the right 

time, in the right place’ with a view to every household in Worcestershire 
being able to access housing that suits their needs and circumstances when 
they need it.  In order to achieve the vision, the strategy identifies four 
Primary Goals: 

 
a) To make better use of existing homes.  
b) Deliver more new affordable homes.  
c) Improve the condition of existing homes.  
d) Provide housing related support. 

 
 

Page 7



 
REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

EXECUTIVE  
COMMITTEE  12th April 2011 

 

 

4.11 To underpin these goals, the strategy aims:    
 

i) To ensure that our plans contribute to the development of sustainable 
communities and economic success for Worcestershire.  

ii) To adopt a strategic commissioning approach, including identification of 
needs; gap analysis; prioritisation; outcome based commissioning; 
monitoring and review, to ensure the right solutions are provided. 

iii) To embrace the diversity that exists within Worcestershire and ensure 
that we plan to meet the diverse needs of our communities. 

iv) To ensure that services are delivered efficiently balancing performance, 
customer satisfaction and cost.  

 
5. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 There are no immediate financial implications to the Council associated with 

the approval of the Countywide Housing Strategy and Action Plan as the 
implementation of the actions will be carried out within existing Strategic 
Housing staff resources. 

 
5.2 Where actions within the action plan are set to assess or investigate the 

potential implementation of certain new services and local funding would be 
required, a bid would have to be submitted for consideration under the 
Council’s corporate annual budget process. 

 
6. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
6.1 Section 87(1) of the Local Government Act 2003 provides that the Secretary 

of State may require a Local Housing Authority to have a strategy in respect 
of such matters relating to housing as he may specify.  The Secretary of 
State may impose requirements as to ends the strategy is designed to 
achieve, the formulation of policy or review of the strategy. 

 
6.2 Subsection 2 permits the Secretary of State to require an Authority, at a 

specified time, to supply a statement of their housing strategy and any other 
housing material that may be specified.  Further, requirements as to the 
form, content and supply of the statement may also be imposed.   

 
7. POLICY IMPLICATIONS 
 
 Policies relating to Homelessness, Allocation of housing stock and Private 

Sector Housing come before members as separate documents. 
 
 

Page 8



 
REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

EXECUTIVE  
COMMITTEE  12th April 2011 

 

 

8. COUNCIL OBJECTIVES 
 
8.1 Enterprising Communities – The strategies goal is to ensure the housing in 

Redditch is affordable, decent, varied and suitable for the community.  
 
8.2 Safe – Ensuring housing is decent and suitable for the community will assist 

in improving people’s perception of their area.  New developments will 
ensure Secure by Design is incorporated in the planning process.  
Supported housing projects will assist in the reduction and fear of crime. 

 
8.3 Clean & Green – Projects will reduce fuel poverty and increase the efficiency 

of homes. 
 
9. RISK MANAGEMENT INCLUDING HEALTH & SAFETY 

CONSIDERATIONS 
 
9.1 The main risks associated with the details included in this report are: 
  

a) The ability to maintain continued commitment and support from 
partners in addressing the actions identified. 

 
9.2 These risks are being managed as follows:  
 

b) Regular partnership meetings to ensure a shared common goal is 
maintained. 

 
10. CUSTOMER IMPLICATIONS 
 
 The actions set out within the document are designed to enhance the 

Council’s response to the identified housing needs of the community and to 
improve the quality, standard and accessibility of housing services provided.  

 
11. EQUALITIES AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
 The strategy and consultation process has been carried out in accordance 

with corporate equality and diversity policy and where appropriate, housing 
services undergone an impact assessment.  An underpinning goal of the 
strategy is to embrace the diversity that exists within Worcestershire and 
ensure that we plan to meet the diverse needs of our communities. 

 
 
 

Page 9



 
REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

EXECUTIVE  
COMMITTEE  12th April 2011 

 

 

12. VALUE FOR MONEY IMPLICATIONS, PROCUREMENT AND ASSET 
MANAGEMENT 

 
 The Housing Strategy is based upon bringing together partners and 

resources to maximise the benefit to the community.  The goals set within 
the new strategy include making best use of existing stock across all tenures 
by addressing under occupancy and empty homes and adopt a strategic 
commissioning approach, including prioritisation and outcome based 
commissioning, to ensure the right solutions are provided. 

 
13. CLIMATE CHANGE, CARBON IMPLICATIONS AND BIODIVERSITY 
 
 Addressed within Goal 3 – Improving the condition of existing homes. 
 
14. HUMAN RESOURCES IMPLICATIONS 
  
 None identified. 
 
15. GOVERNANCE/PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS 
  
 None identified. 
 
16. COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS INCLUDING SECTION 17 OF 

CRIME AND DISORDER ACT 1998 
  
 None identified. 
 
17. HEALTH INEQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 
  
 None identified. 
 
18. LESSONS LEARNT 
 
 Feedback from Audit Commission updated Key Lines of Enquiry have fed 

into the development of the strategy and action plans. 
 
19. COMMUNITY AND STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT 
 
19.1 Within the county, two consultation events were held during autumn 2009 to 

consider housing from both a strategic and client based perspective.  These 
events included partners from a variety of statutory and voluntary 
organisations. 

  

Page 10



 
REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

EXECUTIVE  
COMMITTEE  12th April 2011 

 

 

19.2 There was also consultation with service users, both through the 
consultation events and a series of focus groups with specific client groups. 
A questionnaire was also made available through the District Council 
websites to maximise the number of people who could contribute their views. 

 
20. OTHERS CONSULTED ON THE REPORT 
 

Portfolio Holder  
Chief Executive  
Executive Director (S151 Officer)  
Deputy Chief Executive/Executive Director – Leisure, 
Environment and Community Services 

 

Executive Director – Planning & Regeneration, 
Regulatory and Housing Services  

 

Director of Policy, Performance and Partnerships  
Head of Service  
Head of Resources   
Head of Legal, Equalities & Democratic Services  
Corporate Procurement Team  

 
21. WARDS AFFECTED 
 

 All Wards 
 
22. APPENDICES 
 
 Appendix 1: Housing Strategy Document and Action Plan  
 
23. BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

 None 
 
AUTHOR OF REPORT 
 
Name:  Matthew Bough  
E Mail: matthew.bough@redditchbc.gov.uk 
Tel:      (01527) 64252 ext: 3120 
 

Page 11



Page 12



 
REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

EXECUTIVE  Appendix 1 
COMMITTEE  12th April 2011 
 

 

 

The right home, at the right time, 
in the right place: A Housing 
Strategy for Worcestershire 

Draft  

8th March 2011 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 13



 
 

2 

 

1. FOREWORD 
(By Kevin Dicks, Housing Lead for the Worcestershire Chief Executive Panel) 

We have a driving vision for the future and this strategy will deliver:  

“The right home, at the right time, in the right place”  

Housing is important to everybody and is essential to achieving a good quality of life. 
This may mean something different to each of us and may vary throughout our lives 
but generally involves a safe, secure and affordable home with the right support.  It 
is true that many people are able to solve their own housing issues without help and 
support from the councils and other agencies but this strategy is about providing the 
right type of housing and support to those who need assistance.  

The adoption of this new countywide housing strategy is well timed as it comes 
alongside the localism agenda being implemented by the new Coalition Government 
moving from the era of the ‘Big Government’ into the era of the ‘Big Society’.    

 ‘Big Society’ is to be locally defined but generally involves; removing unnecessary 
red tape and regulation, supporting people to get involved with development of their 
communities and how public money can be spent locally, giving people more choice 
and a better standard of service, making government information more available and 
strengthening accountability to local people.  In response to this new and evolving 
agenda we will work together with our local communities to take forward common 
goals and priorities in ways that are more diverse, more personal and more local.   

We will also be working with the Government to implement major changes to 
housing and welfare policy and develop plans to mitigate the potential risks of the 
changes to local people.  Reductions in public expenditure through the 
Comprehensive Spending Review1 will drive efficiencies in service delivery and the 
need for innovative solutions to help resolve new and existing needs.  We will make 
sure that our communities are places where people want to live with a   clear vision 
of what is required and ensuring that this can be sustained in the long term.  

We have a track record of joint working and this strategy is about building on that. 
We will work together more closely to provide consistent, quality services that meet 
customers’ needs irrespective of where they live within the county.  By considering  

the root causes of housing needs we will deliver services, which tackle issues at a 
much earlier stage. 

                                                           
1 More detail about the changes and implications of these is provided in a supporting document to this 
strategy. This can be found on our website or obtained by contacting us – see website link an contact details 
on the back page of this document. 

Page 14



 
 

3 

Partnership though is much wider than just the councils. We recognise the crucial 
role that a wide range of agencies will have in delivering the strategy. They have 
been actively involved in developing this strategy and we welcome their commitment 
to partner us in its delivery. 

We have worked hard to ensure that people in the County have had the chance to 
tell us what they think. We have listened carefully and we are confident that our 
priorities reflect what people have told us and that our objectives and plans are the 
right ones. 

Page 15



 
 

4 

 

2.  INTRODUCTION 

Context  

A suitable, decent and affordable home is central to ensuring that residents enjoy a 
good quality of life and contributes to the sustainability of our local communities. 
Housing is an issue that affects everybody, including those in need of help and 
support and an inclusive, partnership approach is essential to achieve successful 
outcomes for Worcestershire residents 

However this needs to be considered in light of the huge amount of change to social 
housing being introduced by the new Coalition Government. These changes include 
a move towards Localism with local communities having a bigger say about what is 
required, major funding cuts, the slimming down of regulation, significant reforms to 
the Benefit system, more emphasis on getting people back into employment, the 
need to address security of tenure and the role that private sector housing plays in 
meeting local needs.   

The government’s Health and Social Care Bill is also the biggest piece of health 
legislation since the creation of the NHS.  This new landscape will have significant 
implications for local authorities who will have a big role both in overseeing health 
provision in their patch and in leading on public health.  Good housing plays a crucial 
role in ensuring healthy communities.  The changes to commissioning will affect 
organisations providing care and support but more widely, all housing providers may 
well be offered new opportunities to take a bigger role in promoting health and 
wellbeing in their communities.  The challenges for housing organisations will be to 
ensure that their role is recognised and their voice is heard in the new NHS. 

Increased delivery of affordable housing is a priority for Worcestershire residents.  
There continue to be a number of constraints that inhibit delivery such as the 
availability of suitable sites housing association partners can secure for new 
development continue to be a difficulty, both in terms of the number of sites 
generally available, and the financial rules that housing associations are bound by, in 
terms of competing with the private sector.  However there are also new 
opportunities such as the proposed New Homes Bonus and the new ‘affordable rent 
tenure’ both of which will bring further investment to the development of affordable 
homes.   

The existing housing and planning framework suggests that Worcestershire will need 
to accommodate 36,600 additional dwellings between 2006 and 2026 but the 
government will be revoking this and abolishing top down targets in favour of local 
decision making to reflect the local areas vision in the forthcoming Localism Bill.   

Page 16



 
 

5 

The Worcestershire local authorities are working with a range of partner 
organisations to ensure that the full range of housing needs are addressed and a 
Local Investment Plan is being produced within the county to set out how partner 
resources can be invested into delivery and provision of necessary infra-structure. 
Worcestershire partners and local businesses have successfully negotiated a 
countywide Local Enterprise Partnership which will replace the role of Regional 
Development Agencies and be influential in the growth of the locality.    

There are increased in-migration pressures from both the south as well as from the 
north, and the effect on house prices and longer distance commuting by higher paid 
employees is significant in South Worcestershire and Bromsgrove.   

Despite the Regional Spatial and Housing Strategies being aimed at reversing this 
migration pressure from the conurbation, there seems little prospect of the overall 
migration pressures being relieved in the foreseeable future as a result of the 
combination of lifestyle choices and demographic growth which is particularly 
increasing the size of the older population. 

The result is that the lower paid and locally employed are being increasingly 
excluded from the market, with increasing numbers of households on council 
housing registers and in inadequate accommodation (over 24,000 in 2010).   The 
longest waiting times for social rented accommodation is for two bedroom houses 
for young families and four bedroom houses for established families that have 
outgrown their present accommodation.  Changes by the Government will focus 
investment on the provision of shared ownership (new build home-buy) and the new 
affordable rent tenure rather than social rented homes.  

Delivery of rural housing can be difficult to achieve and some rural housing needs 
are not being adequately met in Worcestershire. These areas require additional and 
appropriate affordable housing, as without it, the provision of an equitable supply of 
affordable homes in rural communities is unlikely to be realised. A recent study has 
been carried out to review the way rural enabling is provided across the county to 
improve the outcomes achieved for our rural communities and the key findings are 
reflected within this strategy. 

There is some positive action being taken in the county through the planning 
process to secure allocations of affordable housing on new developments. In most 
cases, however, these are focussed on larger sites where planning thresholds can be 
applied, although planning policies are being reviewed to address this. The 
consequence is that despite affordable housing being a local priority, there are 
significant challenges in meeting both general housing needs and providing for 
people who need support. 

In addition to the central issue of balancing supply and demand, particularly of 
affordable housing, there are other principal housing issues that we need to address. 

Page 17



 
 

6 

We need to ensure that the use of the existing housing stock is maximised in line 
with the emerging Government policies. For example; that effective action is taken 
to bring empty homes back into use, that we respond both to overcrowding and 
under occupation, that we maximise the use of the private rented sector, that 
housing for older people is in scale with need and is of the right kind to meet 
changing needs and that the needs of people with disabilities are responded to 
effectively. 

While the condition of homes in the social rented sector is good with most meeting 
the Decent Homes standard at the deadline of 2010, this is not the case with 
privately owned homes. Nearly 40 per cent of those, occupied by vulnerable 
households, fail to meet the standard and a substantial number are a risk to the 
health and safety of those who live there. Heating and insulation is a problem, with 
more than 20,000 households in fuel poverty. 

There is a growing need for housing related support to a wide range of individuals. 
This needs to be approached in the context of both funding cuts to the Supporting 
People programme which commissions low level housing related support and the 
implementation of the `Choice and Control’ agenda which provides individuals the 
opportunity to directly purchase services they require to meet their needs. 

Within the county, we already have a proportionally older population than England 
generally and older people are projected to increase substantially over the next 20 
years. There is also a significant forecast growth in the number of people with 
dementia. This growth in the needs of older people is expected to increase the 
demand for; low level support, supported housing models including Extra Care, help 
in making housing choices, adapting homes to enable continued independence and 
responding to the impact of falls. It is essential that new innovative solutions to 
housing need, support and care are developed.  

There are a range of other vulnerable customer groups who are identified requiring 
housing and related support including; people with learning and/or physical 
disability, sensory impairment, mental health issues, substance misuse and people 
with chaotic lifestyles. 

Of particular concern is where people are faced with homelessness and the impact 
of this on their quality of life. The proposed benefit and housing reforms will need to 
be monitored to mitigate any risk of increased levels of homelessness within the 
county.  

Housing also needs to play its part in creating and maintaining sustainable 
communities - a complicated and multi dimensional issue - and in driving through 
regeneration in areas of market failure to bring about housing growth and economic 
success. 

Why a countywide strategy?   

Page 18



 
 

7 

A countywide strategy will be used to complement the new localism agenda, 
enabling a consistent and cost effective service offer to be provided whilst retaining 
the ability to be flexible in meeting needs at a local level. 

In the past, the six strategic housing authorities have developed individual district 
strategies which have led to improved services for our local communities. These 
strategies have also improved our approach to working together and this has led to 
an increase in the number of countywide initiatives.  

This new Worcestershire Strategy takes the next step; a concerted and more 
integrated countywide approach for the development and delivery of our housing 
services. We are corporately and jointly committed to this approach; the Chief 
Housing Officers Group, in conjunction with the Chief Executives and Leaders for the 
district councils, gave approval for the development of a County Housing Strategy in 
2009.  

There is a need for more focus around the outcomes achieved for our customers and 
the social benefits for our partners and the public purse. We aim to work together 
flexibly, using best practice from outside Worcestershire where this has a strategic fit 
with our local issues and in partnership with our local communities to find new and 
innovative solutions to our problems. We will be reviewing existing services and 
where possible aligning how we work in a more effective and efficient way.  

Who is the strategy aimed at?  
 
This strategy is aimed at anyone with an interest in the commissioning and delivery 
of housing related services within the county. Its objective is to influence thinking, 
policy making and action at a county and local level to meet the housing aspirations 
of individuals and communities and to support Local Housing Authorities in attracting 
resources into Worcestershire. 

Central to the strategy is the promotion of partnership working with customers, 
other agencies and across boundaries to create sustainable places to live.  

We recognise the importance of working with all housing providers, including those 
in the private sector, to achieve a balanced housing market and we will promote the 
document and its priorities to developers and landlords.  

Who and what helped to shape the Strategy? 
 

The strategy responds to the new Localism agenda and the views of local 
communities and partners to take forward common goals and priorities in ways that 
are more diverse, more personal and more local. 

During the development of the countywide Housing Strategy the local authority 
partners have sought to engage a broad range of stakeholders, including service 

Page 19



 
 

8 

users and the wider community, in identifying the key challenges and potential 
solutions to these.  

The consultation process commenced with an event for stakeholders in September 
2009. The event sought to identify the key housing issues for different groups within 
the community and to draw out ideas for resolving these. The event was well 
attended with 46 different agencies represented representing a wide range of 
agencies concerned with housing, etc.  

Although it was intended that service users attend the event, low attendance by this 
stakeholder group resulted in a commitment to engage them through existing fora 
and dedicated focus groups. A series of meetings and focus groups were held 
between January and July 2010 to engage with: 

• People with learning difficulties and their carers 

• People with mental health issues 

• Young people 

• Gypsies and Travellers 

• People with visual impairment 

• Rough sleepers 

In addition, in order to secure the engagement of the wider community an on-line 
survey was conducted in January 2010 seeking peoples’ views about housing 
priorities and the ways in which local authorities should intervene to help address 
these priorities. A report produced by the Research and Intelligence Unit for 
Worcestershire County Council provides an analysis of the results of this survey.  
This can be found at : 

http://www.worcester.gov.uk/fileadmin/assets/pdf/Housing/strategic_housing/M
icrosoft_Word_-_100122_CountyHousing_Strategy_Questionnaire_Analysis1.pdf  

Our understanding of the views of local people about housing priorities has been 
further enhanced by the results of consultation during the development of other 
strategies. The report of the “Research into the Housing and Support Needs of Older 
People in Worcestershire” conducted by The Housing and Support Partnership in 
2009 has provided useful information about the aspirations of older people as well 
as their needs. The research involved a questionnaire survey resulting in nearly 1300 
responses as well as holding 9 focus groups with 94 older people attending.  

An early draft of the strategy was circulated to the West Midlands Leaders Board, 
the Local Enterprise Partnership and other consultees for comments and the officers 
responsible for writing the strategy utilised the Audit Commissions’ Key Lines of 
Enquiry to ensure all aspects of strategic housing were covered. 

Page 20



 
 

9 

A further event was also held with our partners to comprehensively consider the 
range of responses received via each of the different consultation mechanisms.  This 
informed the strategic direction and priorities within the new strategy.  The key 
messages from consultees can be found at appendix 3. 

How will the Housing Strategy meet Local needs? 

The Worcestershire Housing Strategy reflects the multiple and varied housing 
markets that exist within Worcestershire. For decades, the supply of new homes has 
not kept up with the rising demand.  This strategy will be used to set the high level 
themes within an action plan that will be co-ordinated to deliver county wide 
priorities.  At a city and district level further action plan will be developed to address 
local housing needs.  

Page 21



 
 

10

 

3. SUMMARY OF THE NATIONAL AND COUNTRYWIDE CONTEXT 

 

A. NATIONAL CONTEXT 
The new Coalition Government which took control in May 2010 has commenced the 
introduction of major change in regional and local government which will impact on 
this strategy.  

The main focus of the new Government is the localism agenda which shifts power 
from the centralised state to local communities and introduces six actions to deliver 
de-centralisation down through every level of government to every citizen. The six 
actions are detailed below: 

§ Lift the burden of bureaucracy by removing the cost and control of unnecessary 
red tape and regulation whose effect is to restrict local action. 

§ Empower communities to do things their way by creating rights for people to get 
involved with and direct the development of their communities 

§ Increase local control of public finance so that more of the decisions over how 
public money is spent and raised can be taken within communities 

§ Diversify the supply of public services by ending public sector ‘monopolies’ 
ensuring a level playing field for all suppliers giving people more choice and a 
better standard of service 

§ Open up government to public scrutiny by relation government information into 
the public domain so that people can know how their money is spent, how it is 
used and to what effect 

§ Strengthen accountability to local people by giving every citizen the power to 
change the services provided to them through participation, choice or the ballot 
box. 

The Comprehensive Spending Review 2010 announced substantial cuts in public 
expenditure and the Government has abolished many agencies, including the 
Regional Government Offices and the Audit Commission. Local authorities are 
expected to make cuts in addition to those already planned to balance their budgets 
and housing association budgets will be constrained by the impact of low inflation on 
rent levels and the impending welfare reform. The changes announced regarding the 
current welfare system, including caps on housing benefit will impact on people’s 
ability to afford private rented housing, thus creating even greater pressure on 
subsidised housing, and reduce the security of tenure for social housing tenants. 
Cuts have also been made in planned programmes, such as the funding for new 

Page 22



 
 

11

affordable housing promised by the previous Government. Therefore the funding 
and staffing capacity available for delivery of the strategy is expected to reduce 
significantly. 

The key policy and resource changes announced by the new Government that 
impact on this Housing Strategy and housing services more generally are set out 
below: 

• Communities, citizens and volunteers will be supported to play a bigger role in 
shaping and providing services  

• Government funding to local authorities will reduce by 28% over the next four 
years  

• Ring fences will be removed from all funding for 2011-12, except for schools 
and a new public health grant  

• Councils will be able to cease monitoring on Local Area Agreement targets, 
and those which are kept will not be monitored by government 

• £6bn will be allocated to funding the Supporting People programme over four 
years  

• Provision for Disabled Facilities Grants will rise with inflation, with local 
authorities given more discretion for their allocation  

• The Regional Growth Fund will be extended to three years, and is increased 
to £1.4bn  

• Government wants to ensure growth is driven by local business and 
communities  

• Local Enterprise Partnerships will help develop the local economy  
• The Homes and Communities Agency will be introducing new intermediate 

rental tenancy plus capital investment will support the building of up to 
150,000 new affordable homes over the next 4 years  

• Reform of the planning system will put local authorities and local people in 
charge of decisions on new house-building in their local areas, increasing 
housing supply  

• Introduction of the New Homes Bonus scheme will mean communities benefit 
from new housing and economic development – matching the additional 
council tax from each new home for each of the following 6 years. Permission 
for homes granted now will count for the bonus and the Government are 
consulting on whether reuse of empty homes will also qualify  

• There are no plans to change tenancy terms or rents for existing tenants  
• Government wants to make social housing more responsive, flexible and fair 

so that a greater number of people are able to access social housing in a way 
that reflects their needs and changing circumstances  

• Social housing will be reformed to provide a more tailored response to 
individual need at lower cost  

• Housing associations will be introducing a new intermediate rent tenure called 
‘affordable rent’  to social tenants for a new fixed period  
 
 

• Investment via the Decent Homes programme will continue  
• Government will reform the National Register of Social Housing which will 

reduce reporting requirements on social landlords  

Page 23



 
 

12

• £2 billion will be allocated over the next four years to fund the 
implementation of the Universal Credit.  

• Household benefit payments for couples and lone parent households will be 
capped at around £500 per week from 2013  

• The age threshold for the Shared Room Rate in Housing Benefit will be 
increased from 25 to 35  

• A one-year time limit will be introduced for contributory Employment and 
Support Allowance for those in the Work Related Activity Group  

• The Warm Front Programme will be scaled down over the next two years, 
with a budget of £110 million in 2011/-12 and £100 million in 2012-13  

• From 2013, the Green Deal will replace Warm Front, and a new obligation will 
be imposed on energy providers – this will help households improve their 
energy efficiency with no up-front costs. Phasing out Warm Front is estimated 
to save £345 million by 2013-14.  

• The Government has also announced an independent review of the fuel 
poverty target and definition before the end of the year  

 

B. COUNTYWIDE CONTEXT 
The Housing Strategy is complementary to a web of policies and strategies that are 
in place across Worcestershire. 

Local Enterprise Partnership 

A successful bid has been submitted for the first stage in creating a new LEP for the 
county.  This is a developing agenda and both the Local Investment Plan and a 
robust strategic approach to housing will enable partners to create the conditions for 
the private sector to flourish in Worcestershire.  The bid set out the following 
priorities for the partnership with commitments for housing and regeneration: 

 

Priorities Commitments for Housing & Regeneration 

Deliver the strategic employment sites & related infrastructure, 

highways access, utilities etc needed to ensure sustainable 

economic growth & a low carbon economy. 

Ensure an approach to strategic planning that is responsive 

to the aspirations of Worcestershire’s communities and that 

helps to create a thriving environment for jobs and 

enterprise 

Ensure there is the right support for business start up, 

business growth, business retention and inward investment 

Continue a proactive joint approach to housing, particularly 

on innovative approaches to affordable housing with locally 

initiated schemes to meet local needs 

Deliver the right infrastructure for businesses including 

broadband, improving access from the M5 to the Malvern Hills 

Science park and QinetiQ, improvements to the east west links 

and the A449 

 

Page 24



 
 

13

Invest in skills, ensuring that provision is responsive to 

business needs, and relevant to future growth & business 

opportunity 

 

 

Local Investment Plan 

 

 

The development of a Local Investment Plan will set out the vision for 
Worcestershire in terms of housing, planning, transport, regeneration, social care, 
health, infrastructure and employment.  There is real value in using this process to 
help develop priorities for place shaping, investment and set out a co-ordinated and 
cohesive approach to utilising a wide range of partner resources including monies, 
land and expertise to achieve the vision.  This plan is anticipated to be in place by 
March 2011 to meet the requirements of the Homes and Communities Agency and 
their allocation timetable however it is recognised that this is an evolving process. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 25



 
 

14

Table 1: Worcestershire LIP: Summary of Strategic Priorities 

 

As the LIP is updated over time, partners will clearly refine their lists of individual 
schemes to reflect the delivery of sites and schemes, new investment opportunities 
that emerge and the availability of public and private sector funding. 

Sustainable Community Strategy 

The Worcestershire Partnership is the Local Strategic Partnership (LSP) for the 
County and is responsible for the development and implementation of the 
Sustainable Communities Strategy (SCS) Partnership Towards Excellence which sets 
out the overarching strategic vision for Worcestershire and identifies the activity that 
partners will need to carry out to achieve outcomes within the following themes for 
action between 2008 and 2013: 

 

 

 

 

Page 26



 
 

15

Table 2: Worcestershire Community Strategy Themes & Priority Outcomes 

 

The themes are led by six groups and housing aspects fit primarily within stronger 
communities.  The Housing Strategy has been developed with strong links to the 
Sustainable Communities Strategy, associated theme groups and the Local Strategic 
Partnerships have been a key consultee. 

The Worcestershire Partnership has recently agreed to move to a single Sustainable 
Community Strategy for the County that will run from 2011.  Revision of the strategy 

Page 27



 
 

16

is currently in place and future updates of strategically relevant documents including 
the Housing Strategy and Local investment Plan will need to reflect the themes and 
priorities agreed by the Partnership.  

Worcestershire Community Safety Agreement 2010/11 

There are also links with the Safer Communities Board (SCB) which is one of the 
theme groups of the Worcestershire Partnership responsible for delivering the 
"Communities that are safe and feel safe" block of the Local Area Agreement. It was 
established to take responsibility for those areas of community safety that require a 
countywide perspective and to strengthen the strategic co-ordination of community 
safety activity in the county of Worcestershire, against the overarching priorities 
identified in the relevant section of table 2 above.  The majority of funding is 
accessed from Central Government via the area based grant (ABG) or via the Local 
Area Agreements (LAA), both of which exists at county-wide level and is distributed 
by the SCB.  The SCB has a joint commissioning role, which is increasingly becoming 
a key way of meeting joint or common strategic priorities.  Community Safety 
initiatives in the County are delivered by four Community Safety Partnerships (CSPs) 
in Bromsgrove, Redditch, South Worcestershire and Wyre Forest.  

The following countywide priorities have been identified for Worcestershire: 

• Anti-social behaviour – including agreed anti-social behaviour 
minimum standards and improving perceptions 

• Offending / re-offending – including a strategy to deliver the new 
re-offending requirements placed on CSPs and responsible 
authorities 

• Preventing violent extremism / building community cohesion 

The priorities have been informed by what the four local Community Safety 
Partnerships identified as the main issues for local people. The Housing Strategy will 
work to promote inclusion by delivering sustainable communities, improving people’s 
life chances, raising capabilities, creating opportunities and developing stronger 
alignment to economic development through education and employment pathways 
to seeking and securing work.  The impact of the recession in terms of deprivation 
and unemployment will increase the demand for local services at a time when public 
sector resources are being significantly reduced.  This strategy will work to find 
bespoke ways to address these issues and focus on ways to achieve a home and a 
job for vulnerable groups including offenders under probation supervision, adults in 
contact with secondary mental health services and adults with moderate to severe 
learning disabilities.  

 
 

Page 28



 
 

17

Core Strategies 
 
Core strategies set out the long term vision, objectives and key policies for 
development in Worcestershire. In the north, Wyre Forest district already has in 
place an adopted core strategy while Bromsgrove and Redditch will issue draft core 
strategies for consultation early in January 2011. The three south Worcestershire 
districts are in the process of completing a joint core strategy. 

Of particular importance to the Housing Strategy and the LIP will be the policies set 
out by core strategies on housing provision, approaches to affordable housing, 
regeneration priorities and commercial development. Priorities identified in the 
Housing Strategy and the LIP will need to be consistent with policies set out in the 
core strategies, and the location, scale and characteristics of housing developments 
will be driven in part by local authority planning policies on developer contributions, 
the preferred composition of affordable housing schemes and the allocation of land 
for housing.  

Local Area Action Plans (AAPs) and a number of Supplementary Planning Documents 
(SPDs) have also informed the preparation of the LIP. They are essential to 
understanding the mix of development that local authorities are seeking to deliver in 
specific localities.  The development of Tenure Strategies and the introduction of the 
new Affordable Rent Model will be an important factor when updating planning 
policy and supplementary planning documents and is a key action within this 
Housing Strategy. 

Capital & Asset Pathfinder 

Worcestershire is one of several pilot areas for the national Capital and Asset 
Pathfinder initiative. This initiative has been designed to enable partners to explore 
new ways of pooling budgets to secure efficiency savings, primarily through the 
better management of buildings and other assets. Partners have already undertaken 
a detailed asset mapping exercise, and the pathfinder may assist in identifying 
potential solutions to the use of publicly owned assets to support housing and 
regeneration schemes. 

Homelessness Strategy 

The Worcestershire Homelessness Strategy can be found on any of the district 
council websites and is due for renewal during 2011/12 and will have strong links to 
this Housing Strategy. 

The vision for the current Homelessness Strategy is “to ensure that everyone has 
access to a place they can call home, where they can close their door and feel safe.” 

The six key priorities are; 

Page 29



 
 

18

- To better understand the needs of key client groups for the delivery of 
appropriate housing services 

- To develop a countywide methodology and system for data collection for 
homelessness information 

- To share good practice and knowledge of the delivery of housing advice and 
homeless services 

- To develop joint working processes and strategic partnerships across the County 

- To empower customers to make a positive change to their lives 

- Support the development of appropriate types of accommodation for key client 
groups. 

Links with other Strategies 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 30



 
 

19

4. WHAT WE KNOW 

 

Worcestershire’s Key Characteristics 

Worcestershire is a large and diverse county noted in the UK for its historic built 
environment and an outstanding natural environment.  The key features of the 
county’s geography, economy and population have played a critical part in shaping 
its housing markets, and in turn they provide the context for the priorities partners 
have identified in both the Worcestershire Housing Strategy and LIP. 

Worcestershire Geography 

 

(Insert map of W’shire inside the circle and behind arrows as a watermark) 

The county provides a high quality environment to live in which has been an 
important factor in the trajectory of its housing markets during the past decade.  
The south is geographically self-contained and functions around the role of the city 

Significant tracts of 
sparsely populated 

rural landscape 

City of Worcester, 
larger towns, 
towns, smaller 

villages 

Population Density 
of 3.2 people per 

hectare 

 

7 Local Authority 
areas: 

 

 

Total Area of 

173,529 hectares 

 

Worcestershire  

Page 31



 
 

20

of Worcester.  The demand for housing is strong and sustained, driven in part by 
urban and rural settings which have proved to be a strong draw for house buyers, 
particularly  in older age groups.  Many areas of the three northern districts have 
seen a strong demand for housing resulting from in-migration from the Birmingham 
conurbation. 

All areas of the county continue to experience significant affordability issues and 
constrained development despite the recession and as a result of upward pressure 
on house prices and land values. 

Population 

The population of Worcestershire was estimated to stand at 556,000 in 2009.  The 
County has seen growth of just below 9 per cent in its population since 1991, above 
average for the West Midlands but on par with the national growth rate. 

The age structure of the county’s population and expectations about the way it 
might change are important drivers of the scale and nature of housing that the area 
will need to provide in the future.  Population estimates for 2009 clearly shows that 
the county is over-represented in older age groups (particularly 50-70 year age 
group) but under-represented in younger age groups.  This is a critical issue both for 
Worcestershire’s future workforce and the pressure it places on services (increased 
demand for health care, smaller tax base), and it needs to be addressed in the 
approach to meeting housing need, the investment in housing and creating 
sustainable communities. 

Worcestershire’s Housing Market 

In order to improve understanding of the South Housing Market Area a full Strategic 
Housing Market Assessment was commissioned by the Partnership in 2006 and 
annual updates have been undertaken since this date.  The most current update can 
be found at: 

 http://www.worcestershire.gov.uk/cms/community-and-living/research-and-
intelligence/housing-and-economy/housing/shma.aspx 

A further full Strategic Housing Market Assessment is being carried out currently for 
2010/11. The methodology used will provide data to support our understanding of 
the new Affordable Rent Model and how this can be used effectively to meet housing 
need.   

In a large county covering an area of 1,471 sq km, Worcestershire’s housing markets 
are characterised by a northern area which has a strong relationship with 
Birmingham, Solihull and the Black Country and by a more economically self-
contained area in the south in which the growth and strong economic performance 
of Worcester City has been a key factor in determining the size and value of local 
housing markets. 

Page 32



 
 

21

The draft Local Economic Assessment for Worcestershire (2010-11) identifies eight 
housing markets in the county highlighted in the map below. 

 

Worcestershire’s housing markets have been through a sustained period of buoyant 
demand during the 2000s. Between August 2001 and July 2010, average prices in 
the county rose from £100,000 to £167,000, peaking at £190,000 in December 
2007. Detached house prices almost doubled between August 2001 and December 
2007. Over a decade which saw unprecedented rates of growth in house prices, the 
six Worcestershire districts contributed to the southern housing market area (HMA) 
of the West Midlands experiencing the highest price inflation of any of the region’s 
HMAs. 

However, the housing sector in Worcestershire has been particularly hard hit by the 
recession. Sales have fallen dramatically from their peak in 2006, while the 
completion of new homes also fell sharply after 2007 as house builders bore the 

Page 33



 
 

22

brunt of the credit crunch. In a county in which lower quartile affordability ratios are 
significantly higher than both the national and West Midlands averages, the 
recession has further exacerbated the impact of affordability problems on 
Worcestershire’s economy.  

Despite the recession, one of the main effects of the recent period of strong demand 
is that Worcestershire now has some of the highest value housing markets in the 
West Midlands. Local housing markets within parts of south Worcestershire have 
some of the highest cost housing in the West Midlands, with prices having risen 
particularly sharply during the mid 2000s. For example, Malvern Hills has seen 
substantial price increases allied to higher than average increases in average 
household income in recent years. This reflects a combination of the area’s AONB 
status, a reputation for its high quality of life and high levels of well paid knowledge 
workers with the location of QinetiQ in the district. 

In common with much of the UK, price inflation has resulted in significant 
affordability problems in Worcestershire, and this has become an important issue for 
the county’s economy. Data for 2009 shows a county wide lower quartile 
affordability ratio of 7.3, well above the regional (5.8) and England (6.3) averages. 
The affordability issue is most pronounced in those areas which have seen strong 
rates of in-migration in recent years (eg. Wychavon and Malvern Hills) in the south 
of the county, but even in lower cost local housing markets (eg. Redditch), the lower 
quartile income-price ratio still stands at 6.4, ie above average. This issue reflects 
the characteristics of local housing markets in an area which is seen as a desirable 
place to live with good standards of living, good quality services and easy access to 
large employment centres in both the Midlands (Birmingham) and, increasingly, the 
south east. 

 
Affordability problems are especially acute in the starter homes market. For South 
Worcestershire, housing market data point to a mismatch between incomes and 
house prices which is especially acute in the family starter homes market (2 
bedroom). At the same time, Worcester, Droitwich and Evesham have been 
identified as having the biggest current and projected shortages of affordable 
housing. Redditch and Wyre Forest have the biggest stock of more affordable 
property with 24.2% and 25.7% of properties sold in 2008/09 for under £120,000 
compared to just 5% in Pershore. 

A key outcome of high housing costs has been difficulties for particular population 
groups in securing a foothold on the housing ladder and their ability to climb the 
ladder. Evidence generated for the strategic housing needs assessment for South 
Worcestershire underlines particular problems faced by young families seeking to 
purchase a first house or rent a property, and those with expanding/growing 
families. For those who cannot afford to buy property, the challenge is exacerbated 
by a supply shortage of property for rental in the £500-600 per month category. For 

Page 34



 
 

23

Worcestershire’s economic development, this is an issue both for the growth and 
prosperity of its town and for the sustainability of rural communities, where 
prospects of living and working in the same location are severely restricted by a lack 
of affordable property and limited employment opportunities. 

 
High levels of demand for housing in some areas of Worcestershire have been 
fuelled by its position as an attractive location for commuters. Data for earnings in 
Bromsgrove show that resident average earnings are £8,000 higher than workplace 
earnings, underlining the extent to which the area has attracted well paid 
commuters who are working in Birmingham and the surrounding area. However, the 
pattern is not replicated across the County. While parts of Wyre Forest have seen 
increases in out-commuting, this has not been matched by strong demand for new 
homes in the district, and house builders have shown comparatively limited interest 
in the area. 

The high level of in-migration to Worcestershire has presented a complex challenge 
for south Worcestershire’s housing markets, where evidence suggests that in-
migration by buyers with the financial means to purchase family homes is crowding 
out potential local buyers on lower incomes. Travel to work data produced by the 
West Midlands Regional Observatory (March 2010) show that in managerial and 
professional occupations, Worcestershire has a very strong relationship with 
Birmingham. Mobility within local housing markets is further restricted by a tendency 
(identified in the Strategic Housing Needs Assessment) for older people to retain 
family housing because of a shortage of stock and development aimed at ageing 
residents. 

Local housing market areas faced with high demand have been constrained in their 
ability to develop new housing, although the pattern has not been a consistent one 
across the county. For example, Worcester’s geographic expansion has been 
bounded by controls on new development on the edge of the town. Clearly, market 
forces have also played a critical role in supply side issues, with a preference for 
higher value developments and apartment schemes inevitably overriding pressure 
for more affordable supply in lower value locations. 

Despite these constraints, the county has a good recent record of delivering new 
homes, reflecting the commercially attractive environment it continues to offer 
private sector developers and Registered Providers. During the 2000s, the county 
achieved a house building rate of 1,900 units a year on average. However, the 
recession has resulted in a marked fall in new completions, and the county fell well 
short of the Local Area Agreement target for completions in 2008-09. While there 
are some signs of recovery in the market, it has been slow to emerge and continued 
economic uncertainty makes it a difficult climate in which to bring forward new 
housing schemes. 

Page 35



 
 

24

Following the decision to revoke the Regional Spatial Strategy for the West Midlands, 
housing targets will be set by the core strategies currently being produced by each 
of the county’s district authorities. However, maintaining the level of new build 
required to meet demand is a key challenge for partners. The level of additional 
affordable homes required for Worcestershire is 2,277 needed each year to keep 
pace with demand. This strategy also points the need for sustained investment in 
new housing stock to meet demand from older people, including extra care and 
specialist care provision. Projected increases in the number of people over the age of 
65 also require a remodelling of the existing stock to offer more aspirational homes 
for purchase and rent. 

Stock Condition  

While the condition of homes in the social rented sector is good with most meeting 
the Decent Homes standard at the deadline of 2010, this is not the case with 
privately owned homes. Nearly 40 per cent of these fail to meet the standard and a 
substantial number are a risk to the health and safety of those who live there. 
Heating and insulation is a problem, with more than 20,000 households in fuel 
poverty. 

In most of the districts there are few private landlords and a relatively low supply of 
privately let flats and smaller sized dwellings.  Some increases in purchase by 
investors of properties to let are in evidence but the majority of these properties are 
offered at very high market rents that are not accessible by those in housing need. 
Houses in multiple occupation are disappearing in high cost areas as owners derive 
profit from conversion to apartments for sale.  

The City of Worcester has a greater supply of houses in multiple occupation than 
other districts but the poor condition of some is not conducive to making them 
attractive lets.  This lack of an active low cost private rented sector will be made 
worse with the expansion of University College Worcester from 7,000 to 13,000 
students. This expected increase in demand could limit access to rented 
accommodation to meet general needs. 

The level of empty homes in most districts is low and is projected to decrease 
offering limited opportunities for use as affordable housing.  Reductions in Council 
Tax discounts have been made by some authorities to try and stimulate the return of 
second homes to full time occupation but the impact is limited 

Decent Homes 

Approximately 39% of the homes within the County are deemed non-decent. The 
highest proportion of non decent homes are located in Malvern Hills, where 50% 
(13,453 properties) of the housing stock is deemed non-decent.  The highest 
number of non decent homes in any one district are found within Wychavon (16,710 
– 41%) where it has been assessed that in order to tackle non decency 

Page 36



 
 

25

approximately £139,698,693 is required.  The lowest levels of non decency found 
within the county can be found within Redditch, with 30% of the stock being 
deemed non decent.  The average cost of bringing a non decent property back into 
decency across Worcestershire is £8,360 per dwelling.  Therefore the total 
investment required across the whole county is £635,294,639 

Housing Health & Safety Rating System 

Nationally the major cause of failure under Decent Homes has been as a result of 
inadequate thermal comfort, however there has been a significant shift to failures 
under the Housing Health & Safety Rating System increasing from 18% in 2001 to 
24% in 2008.  Within the Worcestershire County there are an above average 
number of properties failing HHSRS (28%) with Malvern Hills having the greatest 
proportion (38%) of the homes in the County failing under HHSRS and Redditch to 
the north of the County with the lowest proportion 19%. 

The average cost of repairs for owner occupied properties with a category 1 hazard 
in Worcestershire is £8,811. 

Thermal comfort 

The national Decent Homes rate of failure on thermal comfort is 17%.  The 
Worcestershire average is 20% (38,571) of dwellings failing the Decent Homes 
Standard as a result of inadequate thermal comfort. The district with the highest 
failure rate is Wyre Forest with at 24% which results in approximately £59,314,230 
of investment needing to be spent to remove this risk and Redditch having the 
lowest proportion of homes that fail under thermal comfort at 16%.  The 
Worcestershire average cost of remedying an owner occupied property with an 
inadequate thermal envelope is approximately £7,017. 

Modernisation 

The recent BRE (Building Research Establishment) report for Worcestershire 
identifies that the cost of works are considerable when modernising properties 
throughout the county.  The Worcestershire average is 1.3% of dwellings failing 
Decent Homes Standard as a result of modernisation requirements.  The north part 
of Worcestershire is more in line with the national average of 1% with Bromsgrove 
recording 1% and Redditch 1% of dwellings failing under modernisation.  Worcester 
City (2%) and Malvern Hills (2%) are further above national average of stock not 
meeting modernisation requirements of the Decent Homes Standard.  The 
Worcestershire average cost of repairs necessary for owner occupiers to undertake 
in order to provide adequate modern facilities within a Worcestershire home is 
approximately £22,462 per property. 

 

Page 37



 
 

26

Disrepair 

The National average for properties failing Decent Homes Standard for reasons of 
Disrepair is 8%.  The Worcestershire average is 10% with Wyre Forest having the 
greatest proportion of housing (13%) that fails under the disrepair aspect of the 
Decent Homes Standard, amounting to approximately £79,841,448 of required 
investment to address the issue.  This is significantly above Redditch’s level (7%) 
which is below the national average of 8%.   In order to remove disrepair issues 
from properties within Worcestershire it has been deemed that it would cost 
approximately £17,762.28 per property. 

Vulnerable Households 

Nationally the average proportion of all properties that are occupied by vulnerable 
people who live in non decent homes is 8%.  Within Worcestershire this average 
proportion of all dwellings that are occupied by vulnerable people that live in non 
decent accommodation is 7% with Malvern Hills having the largest proportion of 
properties occupied by vulnerable people living in non decent homes being 9% and 
Bromsgrove being the lowest with 5 %.   

There are 33,379 number of households that are classified as vulnerable or on a low 
income.  Of these vulnerable households an estimated 13,768 are classified as living 
in non-decent homes which represents 41% of vulnerable household.  Conversely 
this means that 59% of vulnerable households are living within decent 
accommodation.  

Fuel Poverty  

Fuel poverty is defined as householders spending more than 10% of their income on 
heating and fuel provisions within their property. On average 14% of households in 
Worcestershire experience fuel poverty and the problem poses the greatest threat to 
households in Malvern with 17% of the population being in fuel poverty which is 5% 
higher than the national average (12%) and Wyre Forest at 8%.  

Worcestershire districts have an above average population of residents over the age 
of 65 and above 75. There is an identified need to support older people to maintain 
and to assist them to remain in their homes through the provision of Disabled 
Facilities Grant and other grants.  Strong, and in many cases significantly increasing, 
demand for Disabled Facilities Grants (DFG) is evident.  Given the ageing population 
within the area this demand will almost certainly continue.  

Countywide HIA 

Worcestershire districts have an above average population of residents over the age 
of 65 and above 75. There is an identified need to support older people to maintain 
and to assist them to remain in their homes through the provision of Disabled 

Page 38



 
 

27

Facilities Grant and other grants.  Strong, and in many cases significantly increasing, 
demand for Disabled Facilities Grants (DFG) is evident.  Given the ageing population 
within the area this demand will almost certainly continue.  

Each of the Council’s work on Disabled Facilities Grants across tenure and other 
housing assistance to the private sector is channelled through a Countywide Home 
Improvement Agency. The Worcestershire partner organisations identified significant 
benefits for local older and disabled residents from delivering services through a 
partnership arrangement that covers the county and works closely with social care 
and health professionals. 

A Worcestershire wide Care & Repair Agency was established during 2010 with a 
vision to deliver a range of options, including helping people to repair, improve, 
maintain or adapt their home.  The purpose of the service is to help people live 
independently, in the home of their choice, warm, safe and secure.  The range of 
services on offer include: 

• Information, advice and signposting 

• Disabled Facility grant and other housing grant work 

• Fitting aids and adaptations 

• Minor works and handyperson services 

• Falls and accident prevention 

• Hospital discharge support 

• Home energy, security and safety checks 

• Advocacy and support on housing options 

• Kickstart loans 

Kickstart 

A number of additional funding streams were accessed during the set-up of the 
service including Kickstart funding.  Unfortunately the government funding allocated 
to support the delivery of this service has been withdrawn. Kickstart was a regionally 
funded scheme that provides an additional or alternative form of assistance to help 
home owners improve and renovate their dwellings through subsidised equity 
release loan facilities. The funding for this scheme was held centrally by Birmingham 
City Council and administered by them on behalf of the partnership.  It was 
envisaged that based upon the projected available funding, the service would have 
been able to provide up to 30 Non Equity (such as unsecured loans) and 36 Equity 
Loans in Year 1 building up to 48 Equity Loans and 50 Non Equity loans by year over 
the three year programme. This will deliver approximately £380,000 of work up to 
the end of the financial year 2010/11. It will now be necessary to consider how 
private sector improvement can continue without the mix of equity and non-equity 
products for those people needing to undertake decent homes work to their 
property. 

Page 39



 
 

28

Due to constraints on capital budgets the local housing authorities are unable to 
satisfy demand for discretionary grants to improve private sector dwellings or even 
to meet requirements for mandatory DFG's.  The role of Home Improvement 
Agencies & the Kickstart products were essential to reducing the impact of the 
withdrawal/reduction of discretionary assistance.  An area of work to be investigated 
would be to identify sufficient core resources rather than relying on fee income and 
Supporting People funding. A possible avenue is to work with health authorities to 
contribute to HIA funding, as one of the key outcomes for HIAs is the reduction of 
hospital admissions and bed blocking.   

The new health landscape will have significant impacts for social housing.  The 
importance of decent, affordable housing in promoting better health outcomes is 
critical and housing providers, beyond their role as providers of directly 
commissioned services, should therefore be able to expect a place at the table under 
the new arrangements for promoting health and wellbeing.  The housing sector has 
long argued that investment in housing and housing related support offers real 
benefits for health.  The NHS reform should offer new opportunities for housing to 
become involved with other partners in local government and health in providing 
preventative and community health services as well as care and support services.  
Housing's expertise should not be forgotten and should be used more effectively or 
new relationships will need to be built to deliver across housing, health and social 
care. 

Older Persons Accommodation and Support Needs  

The six strategic housing authorities working with the Worcestershire County Council 
and Supporting People commissioned research into the housing and related support 
needs and aspirations of older people living within Worcestershire over the next 20 
years. The full report findings can be found at:  
 
http//www.worcestershire.gov.uk/cms/health-and-social-care/supporting-
people/strategic-reviews.aspx.   
 
Some of the key findings were;  
 
Older people are the housing services largest and most rapidly growing client group. 

In Worcestershire by 2031 there will be a 52% increase in those over 60 and a 
155% increase in those over 85. Rates of growth vary between Districts with higher 
growth in Wychavon and Malvern Hills. In absolute terms, Wychavon and Wyre 
Forest have the biggest population of older people. 

This research recognised that there was an above average provision of sheltered 
housing across the county but an under-provision of Extra Care units and that an 
additional 1938 units were required within the county, although needs and current 
supply within each district varied. 

Page 40



 
 

29

The research also recognised the current imbalance in supply between older people’s 
accommodation to rent (through Registered Social Landlords) and properties for 
sale, particularly opportunities for low cost home ownership (the need for an 
additional 4636 units). 

There were also issues raised around the quantity and quality of affordable sheltered 
housing and the need to reduce provision by 1171. However the supply of sheltered 
housing varied across the districts. There was also a requirement to provide more 
enhanced sheltered housing (1610 units).  

There is an identified requirement for housing for people with dementia of 838 units 
and the growing need from elderly people with learning difficulties.  

The research also identified a critical need for better signposting for older people to 
the range of housing options available from trusted sources and expanding the 
advice already available to include all services and funding opportunities available 
including equity release options.  

Also the need for both Home Improvement Agencies and floating support services 
was identified to assist the growing numbers of elderly home owners remain in their 
homes. This will include the need for support to be available to those individuals 
pursuing the choice and control agenda and requiring support to identify and access 
care packages. 

Levels of owner occupation amongst older people in Worcestershire are very high at 
over 80% in the 55-74 age range underlining the importance of planning for all 
tenures but also the possible role of equity schemes. 

There are 745 households over 50 on housing waiting lists with an accepted housing 
need, there are also a small but growing number of older people with learning 
disabilities to cater for. 

Nationally demand for specialist accommodation for people from Black and Minority 
Ethnic (BME) groups outstrips provision. With a predicted growth in the number of 
BME elders and changing cultural attitudes amongst younger BME family members, 
it is anticipated that demand will increase further over the next twenty years.  

Within Worcestershire the number of BME elders is relatively low at just 1.3% of the 
older population. However, it is important to note the higher proportion amongst the 
‘rising elderly’ group of people aged 55 to 64 is 1.5% compared with just 0.7% of 
those aged 85+. 

These findings identify substantial demographic changes taking place within the 
county. The information will be used as a sound basis for forward planning and 
thinking through the way all housing authorities and their partner Registered 
Provider’s should respond to the seismic, demographic shifts taking place.  The Older 
People’s Strategy and synergy with this strategy will be one of the mechanisms to 

Page 41



 
 

30

address how we are going to reshape the specialist housing and related support 
services to meet these needs. 
 

Gypsy & Traveller Accommodation & Support Needs 

The local authorities of the South Housing Market Area commissioned a Gypsy and 
Traveller Accommodation Assessment which was published in January 2008.  The 
assessment estimates unmet accommodation needs and identifies aspirations and 
perceptions in respect of alternative types of site. The study also considered the 
needs of Travelling Showpeople. 

The Government’s bi-annual caravan count in July 2007 shows that Worcestershire 
has a far higher number of Gypsies and Travellers than any other county within the 
region, with 445 caravans. Worcestershire’s number has increased by 26% in the 
last 2 years, which is well above average. There has been substantial reduction in 
the proportion of Gypsy and Traveller population which is travelling in pursuit of 
employment resulting in a more settled population.  

For Travelling Showpeople there has been less of a reduction in travelling for 
employment.  Sites are pre-arranged when they are away from their base, so 
unauthorised encampments do not occur. 

 

Pitch Requirments 
 

Table 3: Summary of Additional Site Requirement for 2008/13 

District Permanent 
Pitches 

Permanent 
Showpeople 
‘Yards’ 

Temporary 
Stopping Places 

Total  

Bromsgrove 0 0 0 0 

Malvern Hills 26 8 10 44 

Redditch 0 14 18 32 

Worcester  16 0 20 36 

Wychavon 40 0 20 60 

Wyre Forest 30 0 0 30 

Sub-Region  112 22 68 202 

includes 20 pitch private site for specific group 

The greatest amount of provision required is related to: 

Page 42



 
 

31

The present level of overcrowding on approved sites,  

The small number of permanent unauthorised encampments, and  

The growth requirement from a largely settled population.   

Apart from Bromsgrove and Redditch, the largely settled population contains a high 
proportion of families from which household growth can be expected. 

The study recommends that as almost one third of the provision required is related 
to the very transient groups of mainly Irish Travellers –it would be more appropriate 
to establish Temporary Stopping Places, with a minimum and unobtrusive level of 
facilities, that could be brought into use as and when required. Accommodation for 
Travelling Showpeople will normally be acquired and managed privately, so site 
identification in conjunction with the Showmen’s Guild will be a sufficient response. 
Sites for permanent pitches for Gypsy and Traveller families will need to be 
predominantly on sites that are acquired, managed and developed by local 
authorities or RSLs, and can receive 100% government funding.   

This strategy draws down from a wide range of sources of information that have led 
us to establish our mission, vision and goals and ultimately our action plan. A 
number of these have already been discussed in earlier sections of the document but 
sources also include: 

1. A wide range of specific studies carried out by the individual local authorities 
that have informed their housing and planning strategies. 

2. data from the partner agencies that help to inform the housing challenges 
e.g. National Health Service falls data and housing association stock condition 
information 

3. Wide ranging consultation with residents, representative groups and partners.  

Consultation during the development of this strategy was linked with that 
undertaken to develop the Supporting People Strategy, the Older Peoples Strategy, 
the Domestic Abuse Strategy and the Joint Commissioning Strategy where possible. 
This helped to reduce consultation fatigue, achieve better value for money and 
ensure that outcomes were effectively linked.  

In addition to looking inwardly at the issues facing Worcestershire we have sought 
to identify and use good practice from elsewhere through beacon council and good 
practice visits. 

Review of Rural Enabling Across Worcestershire 
 
A review of rural enabling activity was undertaken within Worcestershire during 2011 
with support from consultants, Rural Housing Solutions. This review was to evaluate 
performance within the county, identify barriers to affordable housing delivery, look 

Page 43



 
 

32

at best practice, review the governance, structure and funding arrangements with a 
view to improving joint working with partners and the speed of delivery. 
 
Four main challenges were identified as follows; 
 
1. Gaining and maintaining political and executive leadership 

Includes developing a Communications Strategy, an ambassadorial role by a 
senior councillor for each Local Authority area and to ensure rural enabling is 
a golden thread running through corporate plans and strategies. 
 

2. Providing a supportive strategic policy framework 
Includes exploring the use of Home Choice Plus choice based lettings scheme 
and other techniques to inform local housing needs data, undertaking specific 
rural analysis as part of the SHMA, developing more proactive planning 
policies and a more responsive approach to rural affordable housing involving 
local communities 
 

3. Securing capital and revenue funding 
Includes ensuring local funding and targets for rural enabling within the Local 
Investment Plan, introduction of tariffs to support rural community 
infrastructure, planning policies which respond to lack of funding by 
considering option of cross subsidy, longer term sustainable funding for the 
Rural Housing Enabler service which is value for money. 

 
4. Performance management and delivery of a rural programme 

Includes  the establishment of robust governance arrangements for rural 
enabling across a range of partners/funders, clear Terms of Reference and 
decision making, common Performance Management Framework, audit of 
enabling resources and agreed work plan, implementation of a delivery team 
approach and increased speed of delivery 

 
A sub-group of the Worcestershire Rural Housing Enabler Steering Group are using 
this work to develop a forward Action Plan for the county.  

Page 44



 
 

33

 

4. VISION, MISSION AND GOALS 

 

Our Vision is: 

“The right home, at the right time, in the right place” 

This means that we want every household in Worcestershire to be able to access 
housing that suits their needs and circumstances when they need it. It is implicit in 
the vision that we want all housing to reach an appropriate standard, currently the 
Decent Homes Standard, and that the right home means one that is affordable to 
the households budget.  However we do not mean that changing household 
circumstances should always result in the need to move home. Our vision embraces 
a much wider approach which always involves a housing options assessment to 
ensure household needs are met.  

Our Mission is: 

“We will work with individuals, communities and partners to deliver 
housing opportunities so that people have the right homes, at the right 
time and in the right place” 

In order to achieve our vision and provide focus for our mission we have identified 
four primary goals. These are underpinned by four goals that will ensure that our 
work in delivering the primary goals creates sustainable communities, provides value 
for money, enables equality of access to all and helps to combat climate change. 

Our Primary Goals are: 

(all goals are to be achieved between 2011 – 2016 unless otherwise specified) 

• Better use of existing homes - We will maximise the use of the existing 
housing stock by: 

- Bringing 700 empty properties back into use, 
- Adapting 2500 for disabled occupants through Disabled 
Facilities Grants & Registered Provider schemes, 

- Helping 400 households with a disable member to move 
to suitable alternative accommodation, 

- Helping 1200 households to move who have more than 
one bedroom surplus to their requirements, 

- Helping 3000 overcrowded households move to a more 
suitable home. 

Page 45



 
 

34

• Delivering new homes - We will enable 500 new affordable homes which 
meet local needs in terms of property type, size, tenure and affordability by 
31st March 2012. 

• Improving the condition of existing homes -We will improve the 
condition of 2500 private sector homes using direct action of the local 
authority by 2016 to improve peoples’ quality of life.  

• Providing housing related support - We will seek to maintain 42,000 
positive outcomes for vulnerable people 

 

Our Underpinning Goals are: 

• To ensure that our plans contribute to the development of sustainable 
communities and economic success for Worcestershire having regard to the 
themes and cross cutting themes of the Sustainable Community Strategy, 
both within new housing developments and our regeneration activity.  

• To adopt a strategic commissioning approach, including identification of 
needs; gap analysis; prioritisation; outcome based commissioning; monitoring 
and review, to ensure the right solutions are provided. 

• To embrace the diversity that exists within Worcestershire and ensure that we 
plan to meet the diverse needs of our communities. 

• To ensure that services are delivered efficiently balancing performance, 
customer satisfaction and cost  

 

The way in which we will deliver our goals is outlined in the following sections 
together with a detailed action plan for each goal. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 46



 
 

35

5. GOAL 1 MAKING THE BEST USE OF EXISTING HOMES 

What we know 

 

Achievements to Date 

• Empty Homes Strategies or policies are in place for each district.  

• 138 empty homes brought back into use during 2009 - 2010.  

• 2 authorities assisted 72 applicants to downsize through financial incentives 
during 2009 - 2010 

• 5 authorities assisted 158 applicants to downsize through allocations during 
2009/2010. 

• Access and use of their existing home was enabled for 1373 disabled people 
through provision of Disabled Facilities Grants (financially completed cases) 
during 2007-2010. 

Supporting Evidence of Future Challenges 

• Reliance on the Private Rented Sector is growing because of limitations in 
social housing supply, and because first time buyers cannot afford owner 
occupation until much later now. 

• The Private Rented Sector is increasingly important in preventing 
homelessness and widening choice through Choice Based Lettings. Deman for 
homelessness services is predicted to grow. 

• Many private landlords are inexperienced – an estimated three quarters of 
landlords are individuals or couples, the majority of whom don’t let properties 
as their main profession. 

• Reuse of empty homes is seen as a priority by local people – 97.2% of 
respondents to the Housing Strategy survey. 

• High levels of under-occupation in socially rented housing stock evidenced by 
surveys in Wychavon and Bromsgrove and this is likely to be replicated across 
the County.  

• Empty homes are a problem – although only 2.1% of the total housing stock 
there were 5,248 empty homes at the end of March 2010, of which 2,543 
were privately owned and vacant for more than 6 months. 

• Number of homeless preventions through rent deposit schemes is 491 during 
2007 - 2010.  

• Over supply of affordable sheltered housing (1,171 units in excess of 
projected need). 

• 1696 households on the Home Choice register are living in overcrowded 
conditions.  

Page 47



 
 

36

• Demand for adaptations for disabled people is high – 665 customers were 
waiting for Disabled Facilities Grant approval at the end of October 2010.  

 

 

Page 48



 
 

37

Future actions to address the challenges 

Goal 1 – Better use of existing homes 

Links to other Strategies and Plans – W’shire Sustainable Communities Strategy, W’shire Local Investment Plan, W’shire 
Homelessness Strategy, Local Empty Property Action Plans, Local Private Sector Renewal Strategies, W’shire Community 
Safety Action Plan, W’shire Supporting People Strategy, Older People’s Strategy, Registered Providers Business Plan 

Ref Challenge Action Resources Lead Partner By When Link to 
Government 
Changes  

1. a. Develop a countywide toolkit for 
bringing empty homes back into 
use, including: improving informal 
advice and encouragement 
through practical measures such 
as flats above shops, working 
with RP’s to purchase or lease 
and to use enforcement powers 
but as a last resort 

Existing staff 
resources 

Worcester C C  April 2012 - Government priority 
- HCA priority 
- New Homes 

Bonus 

- Community 
Safety 

 

Increase the number of empty 
homes brought back into use – 
homes that stand empty are a 
wasted resource and have a 
detrimental effect on neighbour 
hoods 

 

b. Attract available Government 
funding to maximise the number 
of empty properties brought back 
into use - The Government is 
exploring a range of measures to 
bring empty homes into use 

National 
funding 

Local 
Investment Plan 

Existing staff 
resources 

All Local Authorities 
/ CHOG 

2011 - 2014 - Government priority 
- HCA priority 
- New Homes Bonus 

P
age 49



 
 

38

Goal 1 – Better use of existing homes 

Links to other Strategies and Plans – W’shire Sustainable Communities Strategy, W’shire Local Investment Plan, W’shire 
Homelessness Strategy, Local Empty Property Action Plans, Local Private Sector Renewal Strategies, W’shire Community 
Safety Action Plan, W’shire Supporting People Strategy, Older People’s Strategy, Registered Providers Business Plan 

Ref Challenge Action Resources Lead Partner By When Link to 
Government 
Changes  

2. Reduce the level of under 
occupation in affordable 
housing  

a. Develop a Countywide approach 
to identifying under-occupation –  

Existing staff 
resources 

CHOG March 2012 - Reduced funding to 
deliver new 
affordable housing 
means there is a 
need to better 
utilise existing stock 

- Link to 2 year 
minimum tenancy 
proposal by 
coalition 
government 

  b. Use the Allocation policy to 
facilitate moves from under 
occupied affordable homes to 
more suitable accommodation  

 

Existing staff 
resources 

HC+ Steering 
Group & Redditch 
BC 

2011 - 2016 - Reduced funding to 
deliver new 
affordable housing 
means there is a 
need to better 
utilise existing stock 

  c. Encourage under-occupiers to 
move to smaller accommodation 
through the development of a 
comprehensive package of 
incentives eg. Data research, 
financial incentives, advice, 
options interviews, support to 

Existing staff 
resources 

Wychavon D C  March 2012 - Reduced funding to 
deliver new 
affordable housing 
means there is a 
need to better 
utilise existing stock 

P
age 50



 
 

39

Goal 1 – Better use of existing homes 

Links to other Strategies and Plans – W’shire Sustainable Communities Strategy, W’shire Local Investment Plan, W’shire 
Homelessness Strategy, Local Empty Property Action Plans, Local Private Sector Renewal Strategies, W’shire Community 
Safety Action Plan, W’shire Supporting People Strategy, Older People’s Strategy, Registered Providers Business Plan 

Ref Challenge Action Resources Lead Partner By When Link to 
Government 
Changes  

move, creating a protocol with 
other partner agencies 

 
3. Increase the use of the private 

rented sector 
a. Use choice based lettings 

schemes to promote the choice of 
privately rented homes as an 
alternative housing option 

 

Existing staff 
resources 

All Local Authorities 2011- 2016 -     Local decisions – a 
fairer  
       future for social 
housing 
-     Reduced funding to 

deliver new 
affordable housing 
means there is a 
need to better 
utilise existing 
stock 
 

  b. Actively work with private 
landlords to promote a good joint 
understanding, foster good 
working practices and overcome 
obstacles to providing homes to 
people in need eg local authorities 
with voluntary accreditation 
schemes can help landlords to 
self-regulate – an extremely cost 

To be locally 
determined 

All Local Authorities March 2013 -     Local decisions – a 
fairer  

       future for social 
housing 

-     Reduced funding to 
deliver new 
affordable housing 
means there is a 
need to better utilise 

P
age 51



 
 

40

Goal 1 – Better use of existing homes 

Links to other Strategies and Plans – W’shire Sustainable Communities Strategy, W’shire Local Investment Plan, W’shire 
Homelessness Strategy, Local Empty Property Action Plans, Local Private Sector Renewal Strategies, W’shire Community 
Safety Action Plan, W’shire Supporting People Strategy, Older People’s Strategy, Registered Providers Business Plan 

Ref Challenge Action Resources Lead Partner By When Link to 
Government 
Changes  

effective way to improve 
standards in the sector in 
preference to more expensive 
enforcement action. 

existing stock 

4. Reduce the number of people 
living in overcrowded conditions 

a. Work with partners to develop a 
toolkit of measures for use across 
the county to tackle overcrowding 
e.g effective allocation policies, 
managing houses in multiple 
occupation (HMO’s) through 
licensing and registers 

 

Existing staff 
resources 

CHOG March 2013 - Further powers to 
be introduced by 
Government 

5. Enable people to make the right 
choice of home and where 
appropriate repair / adapt to 
meet the needs of the 
occupants 

 

a. Further develop the housing 
options approach in ensuring the 
right housing solution is found 
which considers household needs 
and also achieves best value for 
money in service provision 
-     homeless prevention 
-     adaptations 
-    support to move to the a more    

suitable property 
 

Existing staff 
resources 

All Local Authorities 
– Worcestershire 
Care & Repair 

2011-2016  -     Best use of 
additional 
resources provided 
by Government 
towards provision 
of DFGs and 
homelessness. 

 

P
age 52



 
 

41

Goal 1 – Better use of existing homes 

Links to other Strategies and Plans – W’shire Sustainable Communities Strategy, W’shire Local Investment Plan, W’shire 
Homelessness Strategy, Local Empty Property Action Plans, Local Private Sector Renewal Strategies, W’shire Community 
Safety Action Plan, W’shire Supporting People Strategy, Older People’s Strategy, Registered Providers Business Plan 

Ref Challenge Action Resources Lead Partner By When Link to 
Government 
Changes  

  b. Research means of ensuring more 
effective use of the resources 
available to repair homes by 
offering financial assistance not 
grants 

 

Availability of 
Kickstart 
funding and 
recyclable LA 
financial 
assistance 

All Local Authorities 2011-2013 -    Better use of existing 
resources 

  

  c. Improve housing opportunities for 
single people by developing a 
shared housing living model 
across all tenures 

Existing 
resources 

Bromsgrove DC March 2014 - Housing Benefit 
Reforms 

6. To create move on 
opportunities within supported 
housing and floating support 
services 

a. Work with partners to provide 
support to enable people to move 
on to full independence from 
supported housing and floating 
support 

 

Existing 
resources 

 

 

All Local  
Authorities / 
Worcestershire 
County Council / 
Primary Care Trust 
/ Probation 

2011 – 2016 

 

 

- Government Priority 

  b.  Free up supported accommodation 
by facilitating move on eg through 
choice based lettings schemes and 
implementation of the Move On 
Protocol Plan (MOPP) 

Existing 
resources 

HC+ Steering 
Group & Redditch 
BC 

2011 - 2013 - Better use of 
existing resources 

P
age 53



 
 

42

Goal 1 – Better use of existing homes 

Links to other Strategies and Plans – W’shire Sustainable Communities Strategy, W’shire Local Investment Plan, W’shire 
Homelessness Strategy, Local Empty Property Action Plans, Local Private Sector Renewal Strategies, W’shire Community 
Safety Action Plan, W’shire Supporting People Strategy, Older People’s Strategy, Registered Providers Business Plan 

Ref Challenge Action Resources Lead Partner By When Link to 
Government 
Changes  

7. To address the issue of 
over/under and inappropriate 
supply of sheltered and 
supported housing within the 
county 

a.  Undertake strategic service 
reviews of mental health, learning 
disability, physical disabilities, 
domestic abuse and chaotic 
lifestyles  

 

Existing 
resources 

Supporting People 2011 - 2016 - Government priority 
- Better use of 

existing resources 

  b.  Use existing research and evidence 
to determine whether the best use 
is being made of current 
supported / sheltered housing 
supply and where appropriate re-
model to alternative uses 

Existing 
resources 

CHOG 2011 - 2016 - Government priority 
- Better use of 

existing resources 

 

P
age 54



 
 

43

 

6. GOAL 2 DELIVERING NEW HOMES 

Achievements to date 

• In spite of the impact of the decline in the economy, 1386 new homes were 
delivered in 2008/09 against the Local Area Agreement target of 1830 (NI 
154). In the early years of the Local Area Agreement performance exceeded 
this target.  

• 501 new affordable homes were delivered in 2009/10 exceeding the Local 
Area Agreement target of 380 (NI 155) by 121. In total since 2005 2,184 
affordable homes have been developed.   

• Standard heads of terms for section 106 agreements (planning gain) agreed 
for use across the County. 

• As part of the Worcestershire Total Place project a review of property in the 
ownership of public bodies has been completed and a “property club” 
established to consider opportunities for better use of the estate, including 
potential for housing development. 

• A Rural Housing Enabler has been employed with joint funding (local authority 
and housing association) and a review of activity across Worcestershire has 
recently been completed providing recommendations for future improvement. 

• Social Housing Grant invested in Worcestershire has increased through 
lobbying during the 2008 – 11 period. 

• Joint bids have been made for a rural housing delivery programme   

• Joint work with Supporting People is ensuring co-ordinated development of 
supported housing schemes. 

• Joint working across Worcestershire by housing and planning officers has 
enabled the Strategic Housing Market Assessments and Gypsy and Traveller 
Accommodation Assessment. 

• 194 units of extra care housing have been commissioned jointly.  

 

 

 

 

Page 55



 
 

44

Supporting Evidence of Future Challenges 

• 2,277 additional affordable homes are needed annually.  
• 88.6% of residents surveyed during development of this strategy said 

affordable housing is a priority. 
• As well as the need for additional homes there is a mismatch between supply 

and the aspirational needs of some households, e.g. demand for a mix of 
property types and sizes to enable older people to downsize. 

• Property prices are high compared to national and regional averages, 
particularly in Bromsgrove, Malvern Hills and Wychavon. 

• There is a significant affordability gap for those with average or below 
average incomes – the house price to earnings ratio2  in 2009/10 was 7.27. 

• Affordability is a particular problem in rural areas – the recent review of rural 
housing activity has provided some new challenges including the need for 
robust housing needs information and greater support at parish level to 
promote delivery of new homes.  

• The affordability gap is leading to lower turnover in the social rented stock 
with consequent increases to waiting and transfer lists. 

• Inward migration continues to have a significant impact driving up land and 
property prices – in 2008/09 Worcestershire experienced net inward migration 
of 1,500 households from the rest of the West Midlands and 500 from abroad.  

• Most of the districts have a low supply of private rented accommodation.  
• The level of empty homes in most districts is low and is projected to decrease 

offering limited opportunities for use as affordable housing.   
• A significant loss of affordable housing through the Right to Buy has not been 

matched by new development.   
• Local authority and housing association land banks have been exhausted.  
• High flood risk affects potential development in some parts of the County. 
• The current economic climate has affected developer’s ability to deliver 

affordable housing, particularly on brownfield sites and in lower value areas 
like Kidderminster.     

• NIMBYism in high value rural areas, particularly from people moving into the 
area, making delivery of affordable housing extremely difficult. 

• Limited information exists about the need for housing by some groups, 
including key workers and migrant workers 

• 1938 units of extra care housing are needed by 2031. 
• 4636 units of sheltered housing for sale are needed. 
• 53 pitches have been delivered and a further 149 additional pitches are 

needed for Gypsies and Travellers by 2012.  

                                                           
2 Lower quartile house prices from the Land Registry compared to the workplace based annual income of full 
time employees. 

Page 56



 
 

45

Future actions to address the challenges 

Goal 2 – Delivering new homes 

Links to other Strategies and plans – W’shire Sustainable Communities Plan, Supporting People Strategy, W’shire Local 
Investment Plan, Mental Health Joint Commissioning Plan, Learning Disability Joint Commissioning Plan, Older People’s 
Strategy, Dementia Strategy, W’shire Homelessness Strategy 

Ref Challenge Action Resources Lead Partner By When Link to Government 
Proposals 

1. To implement the government directive 
to reduce tenancies for life 

a. To develop and implement 
a Tenure Strategy which 
will effectively manage the 
supply of affordable 
housing to meet housing 
need 

Existing staff 
resources 

All Local 
Authorities, RP’s, 
HCA 

2012 - Government priority 

- Local decisions – a fairer 
future for social housing 

- Localism Bill 

2. To attract external investment into the 
county to support maximum delivery to 
meet needs of the diverse communities 

b. Implement and continually 
review the Local 
Investment Plan which sets 
out partner investment over 
the period 2011 -14 

Skills, Land, 
Money as set 
out in the LIP 

All Local 
Authorities, RP’s, 
HCA 

2011 - 14 - Reduced funding for new 
affordable housing 

  c. Develop a Supported 
Housing Commissioning 
Plan for the County which 
co-ordinates capital and 
revenue investment 

Supporting 
People, HCA, 
RP’s, LA’s, 
Social Care, 
Health etc. 

CHOG and 
Supporting People 

2011 - 12 - Government Priority 

3. To embed `fit for purpose’ structural 
arrangements within the county to 

a. Keep under review the 
governance structure & 
groups for place shaping 

Existing staff 
resources 

Place Shaping 
Theme Group 

2011 - 12  

P
age 57



 
 

46

Goal 2 – Delivering new homes 

Links to other Strategies and plans – W’shire Sustainable Communities Plan, Supporting People Strategy, W’shire Local 
Investment Plan, Mental Health Joint Commissioning Plan, Learning Disability Joint Commissioning Plan, Older People’s 
Strategy, Dementia Strategy, W’shire Homelessness Strategy 

Ref Challenge Action Resources Lead Partner By When Link to Government 
Proposals 

enable the delivery of affordable 
housing 

across Worcestershire 
 

4. To develop provision to meet the 
diverse needs of our communities 

a. Fully utilise and review the 
housing needs evidence 
available to bring forward 
and identify the right 
numbers and mix of 
affordable housing (i.e. 
types, size and tenure) 

 

Existing staff 
resources 

Al Local Authorities 2011-2016 -     Government priority 
-      Local decisions – a 

fairer  
       future for social 

housing 
 

  b. Maximise the delivery of 
sustainable and affordable 
homes through ensuring 
clear planning policies are in 
place. 

Exisiting staff 
resources 

Al Local Authorities 2011-2016 -      Government priority 
-      Local decisions – a 

fairer  
       future for social 

housing 
 

  c. To deliver the supported 
housing needs identified 
within the Worcestershire 
Supported Housing 
Commissioning Plan 

 

Existing staff 
resources 

Al Local Authorities 2011-2016 -     Government priority 
-      Local decisions – a 

fairer  
       future for social 

housing 
 

P
age 58



 
 

47

Goal 2 – Delivering new homes 

Links to other Strategies and plans – W’shire Sustainable Communities Plan, Supporting People Strategy, W’shire Local 
Investment Plan, Mental Health Joint Commissioning Plan, Learning Disability Joint Commissioning Plan, Older People’s 
Strategy, Dementia Strategy, W’shire Homelessness Strategy 

Ref Challenge Action Resources Lead Partner By When Link to Government 
Proposals 

  d. Complete a new Gypsy & 
Traveller needs assessment 

Existing staff 
resources 

CHOG March 2012 -    Government priority 
-      Local decisions – a 

fairer  
       future for social 

housing 
4. To ensure the right commissioning 

partners are engaged and encouraged 
to invest resources in Worcestershire 

a. Review the existing RP 
commissioning partner 
arrangements to have 
regard to government 
changes and the views of 
the HCA and develop new 
partnership working 

 
 
 

 

Existing staff 
resources 

Al Local Authorities March 2012 - Government priority 
- Making best use of 

existing and new 
resources 

- ARM 
 

5. - To undertake further research 
to bridge gaps in the strategic 
housing evidence base 

 

a. Ensure that the strategic 
housing evidence base is 
kept up to date and that 
further detailed work is 
undertaken as required 
subject to available 
resource eg SHMA and 
updates 

LA funding – 
to be 
determined 
locally 

Al Local Authorities 2011-2016 - Government priority 
- Making best use of 

existing and new 
resources 

 

P
age 59



 
 

48

7 GOAL 3 IMPROVING THE CONDITION OF EXISTING HOMES 

Achievements to date 

• Bid to the Kickstart programme to draw down funding earmarked for 
Worcestershire to begin to offer loans and equity release to households to 
improve the condition of their property.  

• Success in tackling fuel poverty (NI 187) has been evidenced by a reduction 
in the proportion of homes with SAP ratings less than 35 to 8.82% (2009/10 
target 9.18%) and an increase in the proportion of homes with SAP ratings 
above 65 to 43.34% (2009/10 target 38.23%).  

• 1345 homes each year have been improved through use of Discretionary 
Housing Assistance during 2007/10  

• 1417 private rented homes inspected following complaints in 2007/10 reflects 
performance in 5 authority areas 

• 1443 homes improved through informal and enforcement action during 
2007/10 reflects county wide performance 

 
Supporting Evidence of Future Challenges 

• 88.7% of respondents to our Housing Strategy survey said improving housing 
conditions is a priority. 

• 89.1% said improving energy efficiency is a priority. 
• Most of the social rented stock in Worcestershire met the Decent Homes 

Standard at the end of March 2010.  
• Around 39% of homes are “non-decent” (75,992), and in Malvern Hills this 

rises to 50%. 
• The total investment required to address conditions is £635 million.  
• 18.1% of non-decent homes are occupied by vulnerable people. A staggering 

41% of all vulnerable households are classified as living in non decent homes. 
• The proportion of homes failing the Housing Health and Safety Rating System 

standard is higher than average at 28%.   
• 53,601 Category 1 hazards exist in homes across the county. 
• 20% (38,571) of dwellings fail the Decent Homes Standard as a result of 

inadequate thermal comfort compared to 17% nationally. The average cost of 
remedying this is just over £7,000. 

• There were 334 winter deaths during 2009/10 within Worcestershire. 
• 14% of households in Worcestershire experience fuel poverty (22,816) 

compared to the national average (12%).  
• The number of houses in multiple occupation is varied across the county, 

however evidence consistently shows these properties can exhibit some of the 
poorer standards.   

Page 60



 
 

49

• 3.4 billion is paid in housing benefit to neglectful landlords. Local Authorities 
can use their powers 

• It is more difficult for local housing authorities to improve property standards 
and meet the demands of an increasing need for adaptations due to 
budgetary constraints. 
 

 

 

 

Page 61



 
 

50

Future actions to address the challenges 

Goal 3 – Improving the Condition of Existing Homes 

Links with other Strategies and Plans – W’shire Sustainable Community Strategy, W’shire Local Investment Plan, W’shire 
Community Safety Action Plan, W’shire Homelessness Strategy, Local Private Sector Renewal Strategies,  Learning 
Disability Joint Commissioning Plan, Mental Health Joint Commissioning Plan 

Ref Challenge Action Resources Lead 
Partner 

By When Link to Government 
Proposals 

1. Improve the property standards 
(including energy efficiency) across 
tenures using all of the tools at our 
disposal 

a. Develop a consistent 
approach to working with 
private sector landlords, 
including a common 
accreditation scheme, 
through establishing a 
working group comprising 
the local authorities and 
landlord representatives  

 

Existing staff 
and partner 
resources 

Redditch B C  March 2012 - Government priority 
- Making best use of 

existing and new 
resources 

 

  b.  Use enforcement powers 
appropriately to enforce 
property standards across 
all tenures 

 

Existing staff 
resources 

All Local 
authorities 

2011-2016 - Government priority 
- Making best use of 

existing and new 
resources 

 

  c.   Move away from awarding 
capitalgrants to recycling 
housing assistance and 
equity release products 

Existing staff 
and  
Worcestershire 
Care & Repair 

All Local 
authorities 

2011-2016 - Government priority 
- Making best use of 

existing and new 
resources 

P
age 62



 
 

51

Goal 3 – Improving the Condition of Existing Homes 

Links with other Strategies and Plans – W’shire Sustainable Community Strategy, W’shire Local Investment Plan, W’shire 
Community Safety Action Plan, W’shire Homelessness Strategy, Local Private Sector Renewal Strategies,  Learning 
Disability Joint Commissioning Plan, Mental Health Joint Commissioning Plan 

Ref Challenge Action Resources Lead 
Partner 

By When Link to Government 
Proposals 

 resources  

  d.   Ensure that in developing a 
consistent approach through 
Worcestershire Care & 
Repair that there is efficient  
use of allocated financial 
resources e.g. improved 
procurement practices 

Existing staff 
and  
Worcestershire 
Care & Repair 
resources 

Worcestershire 
Care & Repair  

March 2012 

And then 
annual 
review 

 

 

- Government priority 
- Making best use of 

existing and new 
resources 

 

  e.  Review and re-tender the 
Home Improvement Agency 
services 

Existing staff & 
resources 

CHOG 

Supporting 
People 

2012/13 - Government priority 
- Making best use of 

existing and new 
resources 

 
2. To attract  investment to help improve 

property standards including energy 
efficiency 

a. Explore opportunities with 
private industry to provide 
greater levels of funding 
and ways to improve 
property standards 

Existing staff 
resources 

All Local 
authorities  

WCC 

2011-2016 - Making best use of 
existing and new 
resources 

- Service improvement 
- Green Deal 
 

P
age 63



 
 

52

Goal 3 – Improving the Condition of Existing Homes 

Links with other Strategies and Plans – W’shire Sustainable Community Strategy, W’shire Local Investment Plan, W’shire 
Community Safety Action Plan, W’shire Homelessness Strategy, Local Private Sector Renewal Strategies,  Learning 
Disability Joint Commissioning Plan, Mental Health Joint Commissioning Plan 

Ref Challenge Action Resources Lead 
Partner 

By When Link to Government 
Proposals 

  b.   Prepare for and maximise 
take up within the county of 
nationally funded schemes  

Existing staff  
and 
Worcestershire 
Care & Repair 
resources 

All Local 
authorities  

SLA with 
procured Agent 

2011-2016 - Making best use of 
existing and new 
resources 

- Green Deal 
 

3. Support households to take 
responsibility for improving their homes 
and reducing fuel poverty 
  

a.   Apply a consistent 
countywide approach to 
empowering people to 
improve their quality of life 
through developing a toolkit 
of information, skills and 
training, discounts, funding 
and loan products. 

Existing staff  
and partner 
resources 

CHOG 2011-2016 - Empowering local people 
- Making best use of 

existing resources 

P
age 64



 
 

53

 

8  GOAL 4 PROVIDING HOUSING RELATED SUPPORT 

Achievements to Date 

• The proportion of vulnerable people who are supported to maintain 
independent living (NI 142) is on track to reach the 2010/11 target of 98.02% 
(out-turn for 2009/10 was 98.01%). 

• Over 20,000 vulnerable people were being supported in 2009/2010 realising 
42,000 positive outcomes for those people. 

• An assessment of the value of Supporting People provision has shown a 
saving of £50m each year in other budgets (e.g. health and social care) 

• The Comprehensive Area Assessment found that more older people are being 
helped to live at home, adults with learning disabilities are being given more 
choice about how to live independently and more people with physical and 
mental disabilities are living at home with care and support.  

• A countywide Choice Based Lettings scheme was introduced in September 
2008 with common allocation and banding arrangements (in all districts 
except Redditch BC which may join the scheme in 2011). This has contributed 
to a reduction in the time taken to re-let vacant housing association 
properties and greater transparency about the process and satisfaction for 
customers.  

• Levels of statutory homelessness and numbers of people in temporary 
accommodation have declined due to homelessness prevention activity which 
helped 3058 households during 2007/10.  

• New housing support and other services have been commissioned following 
research for the Countywide Homeless Strategy and Supporting People 
strategic reviews. These include the development of a joint 16/17 yr old 
young persons protocol across the county, a young peoples support service 
provided by St Basils in the north of the county, the opening of a Foyer in 
Bromsgrove and the development of The Bubble a new gateway service to 
help young people access accommodation and support in the south.  

• Research commissioned into the housing and related support needs and 
aspirations of older people living within Worcestershire over the next 20 
years. 

• Development of a new Worcestershire Supporting People Strategy and 
progress towards a new Worcestershire Older People’s Strategy.  

• A countywide Home Improvement Agency service was jointly commissioned in 
2010 and the new service is being provided by Festival Housing Group.   

 
 

Page 65



 
 

54

• The implementation of a Countywide Gateway software system from 
November 2010 for identification of available support and bed spaces for 
people with chaotic lifestyles 

 
• Successful application to Department of Health of pump prime funding to help 

develop a core and cluster scheme to provide supported accommodation for 
people with substance misuse/alcohol issues and creation of seven 
accommodation units specifically for substance misuse/alcohol customers in 
the County by Stonham Home Group. 

 
• Work with partners to help offenders back into community including following 

the Regional Offender Protocol, utilising the new Countywide Integrated 
Offender Management Scheme.  

 
Supporting Evidence of Future Challenges 

• The ageing population is generating a need for advice about housing options; 
support and adaptations help older people maintain independence. 

• Projected increase in population of older people by 2031 – 52% over 60; 
155% over 85. 

• 87.8% of people surveyed said support for older people to make housing 
choices is important. 

• 7,000 people have dementia and this is expected to increase to 21,000 in 
next 20 years. There is an identified requirement for housing for people with 
dementia of 838.  

• Growing number of older people with learning disabilities rising to 6,000 over 
next 20 years. 

• High levels of falls by older people. 
• 35% of older people responding to a survey said they needed practical 

support– gardening, shopping, cooking etc. 
• Life expectancy in deprived areas is low.  
• Slow ‘move-on’ from supported housing schemes for clients experiencing 

domestic violence or suffering with mental health difficulties is reducing their 
effectiveness.  

• Schemes to provide new supported housing are hampered by lack of certainty 
about future revenue funding.   

• A survey of clients of the Drug, Alcohol Action Teams in 2006 showed that 
23% had a clear housing need. 

• A review of single homeless people receiving support demonstrated a need 
for finance related support and support in accessing healthcare, training and 
education.  

• Better understanding required about the support needs of Gypsies and 
Travellers through a planned strategic review within Supporting People. 

Page 66



 
 

55

Future actions to address the challenges 

Goal 4 – Providing housing related support 

Links with other Strategies & Plans – W’shire Sustainable Community Strategy, W’shire Local Investment Plan, W’shire 
Homelessness Strategy, Older Person’s Strategy, Dementia Strategy, W’shire Domestic Abuse Strategy, W’shire Telecare 
Strategy, Supporting People Strategy, Mental Health Joint Commissioning Investment Plan, Learning Disability Joint 
Commissioning Strategy 

Ref Challenge Action Resources Lead Partner By When Link to Government 
Proposals 

1. Manage financial reductions to 
the Supporting People 
programme whilst continuing to 
meet housing related support 
needs in a more targeted way 

a. Manage the budget reductions by 
prioritising service provision, 
benchmarking value for money. 
undertaking targeted strategic 
reviews, measuring social 
outcomes being achieved. 

Existing staff  
resources 

All Local 
authorities / 
Worcestershire 
County Council / 
Primary Care 
Trust / Probation 

2011-2016 - Making best use of 
existing and new 
resources 

 

  b. Support and implement the 
Supporting People Strategy. This 
will include; needs research, 
strategic reviews, re-commissioning 
of services, addressing identified 
problems and the commissioning of 
new services 

 

Existing staff  
resources 

SPCB 2011-2016 - Making best use of 
existing and new 
resources 

 

  c. To work with the Joint 
Commissioning Unit to develop  
financially sustainable models for 
Extra Care provision and 
implementation. 

Existing staff  
resources 

CHOG March 2012 - Making best use of 
existing and new 
resources 

 

P
age 67



 
 

56

Goal 4 – Providing housing related support 

Links with other Strategies & Plans – W’shire Sustainable Community Strategy, W’shire Local Investment Plan, W’shire 
Homelessness Strategy, Older Person’s Strategy, Dementia Strategy, W’shire Domestic Abuse Strategy, W’shire Telecare 
Strategy, Supporting People Strategy, Mental Health Joint Commissioning Investment Plan, Learning Disability Joint 
Commissioning Strategy 

Ref Challenge Action Resources Lead Partner By When Link to Government 
Proposals 

2. To mitigate risks of increasing 
levels of homelessness and to 
address the needs of those who 
become homeless 

a. Review and renew the 
Worcestershire Homelessness 
Strategy and action plan.  

Existing staff  
resources 

County Homeless 
Implementation 
Group (CHIG) 

March 2012 - Making best use of 
existing and new 
resources 

 

  b.  Focus on increasing homeless 
preventions through a toolkit of 
measures available across the 
county 

Existing staff  
resources 

County Homeless 
Implementation 
Group (CHIG) 

March 2013 - Making best use of 
existing and new 
resources 

 

  c. Monitor the impact of benefit 
reforms on the levels of 
homelessness and worklessness, 
responding to any areas of concern 

Existing staff  
resources 

County 
Homelessness 
Implementation 
Group 

2011 - 
ongoing 

- Making best use of 
existing and new 
resources 

 

  d. To review the joint working 
arrangements & funding for 
Countywide Posts 

Existing staff 
resources 

CHOG 2011 - Making best use of 
existing and new 
resources 

3. To provide equal access of 
opportunity to affordable 
housing and other housing 
options 

a. Use the information we know about 
need for supported housing and 
floating support to ensure that new 
provision is appropriate.  

Existing staff 
resource 

All Local 
authorities 

2011-2016 - Government priority  
- Making best use of 

existing and new 
resources 

P
age 68



 
 

57

Goal 4 – Providing housing related support 

Links with other Strategies & Plans – W’shire Sustainable Community Strategy, W’shire Local Investment Plan, W’shire 
Homelessness Strategy, Older Person’s Strategy, Dementia Strategy, W’shire Domestic Abuse Strategy, W’shire Telecare 
Strategy, Supporting People Strategy, Mental Health Joint Commissioning Investment Plan, Learning Disability Joint 
Commissioning Strategy 

Ref Challenge Action Resources Lead Partner By When Link to Government 
Proposals 

 

  b. Consider the needs of BME 
households, Gypsies & travellers 
and migrant workers to ensure an 
inclusive approach to 
accommodation and support 
provision 

 

Existing staff 
resource 

All Local 
authorities 

2011-2016 - Government priority  
- Making best use of 

existing and new 
resources 

 

  c. Keep the allocation policy in use 
within the county under review to 
ensure appropriate accessibility 
and consistency / fairness to all 
residents and to respond to 
proposed Government changes. 

Existing staff 
resource 

Home Choice Plus 
Steering Group   

2011-2016 - Government priority  
- Making best use of 

existing and new 
resources 

 

  d. To enhance the range and 
consistency of advice and 
information with various media 
outlets in a leaner way. 

Existing staff 
resource 

All Local 
authorities 

2011-2016 - Government priority  
- Making best use of 

existing and new 
resources 

 

  a. Consider impact of the Existing staff All Local 2011-2016 - Government priority  
- Making best use of 

P
age 69



 
 

58

Goal 4 – Providing housing related support 

Links with other Strategies & Plans – W’shire Sustainable Community Strategy, W’shire Local Investment Plan, W’shire 
Homelessness Strategy, Older Person’s Strategy, Dementia Strategy, W’shire Domestic Abuse Strategy, W’shire Telecare 
Strategy, Supporting People Strategy, Mental Health Joint Commissioning Investment Plan, Learning Disability Joint 
Commissioning Strategy 

Ref Challenge Action Resources Lead Partner By When Link to Government 
Proposals 

personalisation agenda when 
developing or reviewing strategic 
housing procedures, policies, 
service improvement plans and 
strategies. 

resource authorities existing and new 
resources 

 

 
 

 

 

P
age 70



 
 

59

 

9. UNDERPINNING GOALS 

i. To ensure that our plans contribute to the development of sustainable 
communities and economic success for Worcestershire including future 
proofing for climate change and having regard to the themes and cross 
cutting themes of the Sustainable Community Strategy, both within new 
housing developments and our regeneration activity.  

ii. To adopt a strategic commissioning approach, including identification of 
needs; gap analysis; prioritisation; outcome based commissioning; 
monitoring and review, to ensure the right solutions are provided. 

iii. To embrace the diversity that exists within Worcestershire and ensure that 
we plan to meet the diverse needs of our communities. 

iv. To ensure that services are delivered efficiently balancing performance, 
customer satisfaction and cost  

 

Achievements to date 

• Development of the Social Outcome Framework for Supporting People 
services 

• Joint partner commissioning of the new Worcestershire Care & Repair Agency 

• Implementation of sub-regional choice based lettings scheme called `Home 
Choice Plus’ across five Worcestershire Local Authorities and Stratford on 
Avon D C  

• The joint funding of a Worcestershire Rural Housing Enabler, County 
Homelessness Strategy Co-ordinator and Housing Substance Misuse 
Development Officer posts. 

• The development of the “Areas of Highest Need” projects within the six Local 
authorities to tackle deprived communities with LAA funding and further work 
being undertaken through Total Place pilot. 

• Development of the Re-Wyre regeneration initiative in Wyre Forest to tackle 
areas of market failure.  

• Redditch B C successful gained government funding under the Enhanced 
Housing Options programme 

• Development of a Climate Change Adaptation Plan with input from across the 
County 

Page 71



 
 

60

• Undertaken customer satisfaction surveys relating to homelessness and 
choice based lettings 

• Joint procurement of various research / projects to meet countywide strategic 
housing objectives,  

Supporting Evidence of Future Challenges 

• Worcester City, Wyre Forest and Redditch have been identified as a 
significant area of deprivation within the top 10% nationally. The type of 
deprivation is within housing, access to services especially within rural areas 
and education. It should be noted that the general affluence of the area hides 
some big differences in some areas. 

• Health and economic inequalities identified in Redditch e.g. people die earlier, 
more babies have a poor start in life and grow up in families on low incomes, 
young people attain lower educational results and go on to have fewer job 
opportunities when they leave school.  

• Economic decline – increased benefit claims and worklessness.  
• Infrastructure is required to deliver sustainable growth particularly within 

Worcester City as the designated area of significant growth. 
• 93.6% of respondents to survey said local services to sustain rural villages is 

important. 
• Planning and delivering services equitably.  
• Ensuring effective and structured links between housing and wider objectives 

e.g. education and health. 
 

.

Page 72



 
 

61

Future actions to address the challenges 

Underpinning Goals – Providing housing related support 

Ref Challenge Action Resources Lead Partner By When Link to 
Government 
Proposals 

1. To ensure that our plans 
contribute to the development 
of sustainable communities and 
economic success for 
Worcestershire having regard to 
the themes and cross cutting 
themes of the Sustainable 
Community Strategy, both 
within new housing 
developments and our 
regeneration activity & NHS 
reforms. 

a. To imbed new structural 
arrangements within the county to 
bring together housing, planning, 
regeneration, economic 
development, health and social 
care partners with the objective of 
adding community benefit through 
the place shaping role  

Existing staff  
resources 

All Local 
authorities 

2011-2014 - Making best use of 
existing and new 
resources 

 

  b. To establish strong links with the 
new Local Enterprise Partnership 
once established 

 

Existing staff  
resources 

All Local 
authorities 

2011-2014 - Government priority 
- Making best use of 

exisiting and new 
resources 

2. To adopt a strategic 
commissioning approach, 
including identification of needs; 
gap analysis; prioritisation; 
outcome based commissioning; 
monitoring and review, to 
ensure the right solutions are 

a. To formally imbed this strategic 
commissioning approach within key 
strategic housing partnerships to 
ensure effective and efficient work 
processes particularly around 
procurement. 

Existing staff  
resources 

CHOG 2011-2016 - Making best use of 
existing and new 
resources 

 

P
age 73



 
 

62

Underpinning Goals – Providing housing related support 

Ref Challenge Action Resources Lead Partner By When Link to 
Government 
Proposals 

provided. 
  b. To develop an outcomes 

framework to evidence the value of 
housing activity both for the local 
authorities and other key statutory 
partners 

 

Existing staff  
resources 

Worcester City  March 2013 - Government priority 
-     Making best use of 
existing   
      and new resources 

3. To embrace the diversity that 
exists within Worcestershire and 
ensure that we plan to meet the 
diverse needs of our 
communities. 
 

a. To ensure equalities standards are 
met within all housing procedures, 
policies, plans and strategies.  

Existing staff  
resources 

All Local 
authorities 

2011-2016 -      Government priority 

  b. Where appropriate to undertake 
Equalities Impact Assessments and 
produce plans for improvement 
where necessary 

 

Existing staff  
resources 

All Local 
authorities 

2011-2016 -      Government priority 

4. To ensure that services are 
delivered efficiently balancing 
performance, customer 
satisfaction and cost  
 

a. To work together across the six 
strategic housing authorities to 
identify areas for improved joint 
working and potential efficiencies 

Existing staff  
resources 

All Local 
authorities 

2011 - 2016 -      Government priority 
-     Making best use of 
existing   
      and new resources 

  b. To work together across the six 
strategic housing authorities to test 
customer satisfaction in areas of 
work such as Housing advice, 

Local Authority 
funding – to 
be determined 

All Local 
authorities 

2011-2016  

P
age 74



 
 

63

Underpinning Goals – Providing housing related support 

Ref Challenge Action Resources Lead Partner By When Link to 
Government 
Proposals 

homelessness, housing 
development and delivery of private 
sector grants 

locally 

P
age 75



 
 

64

 

10. RESOURCING OUR STRATEGY 
 

We have started to assess the resources we expect to be available to all partners in 
order to deliver our strategy over the next 5 years. These include: 

• Capital expenditure by the local authorities for improving housing standards 
and subsidising the delivery of new affordable homes. 

• Funding available to enable people to move to more appropriate 
accommodation making best use of existing homes.  

• Homes and Communities Agency and housing association subsidy for delivery 
of new affordable homes. 

• Revenue funding from local authority and key partner agency budgets, 
Government grants and incentives and Supporting People funding. 

• Staffing capacity dedicated to strategic housing employed within local 
authorities, contracted agencies e.g. home improvement and housing advice 
agencies and partners e.g. housing associations.  

Most of the resources described above are shown in appendix 2 to this strategy and 
details of the resources available within each local authority area are available on 
request. We will continue to develop the resource information base across the 
county during the life of this Strategy. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 76



 
 

65

11. MONITORING AND FUTURE DEVELOPMENT OF THE 
STRATEGY 

We need to monitor progress against our goals to ensure that our action plan 
continues to be relevant. We have therefore established clear definitions for the 
goals that will enable us to measure progress in a consistent way 

We are mindful of the need to ensure that our information is kept up to date and we 
will do this through a mixture of annual updates and full newly commissioned 
research as outlined below: 

• Housing market assessment annual update (2010/11) 
• New Strategic Housing Market Assessment  (2011/12) 
• New Gypsy & Traveller Needs Assessment (2011/12) 

  
In order to ensure that we are clear about the progress we are making and any 
remedial actions required we have adopted the following monitoring arrangements: 
 

• Progress monitored by the Local Authority Chief Housing Officers Group on a 
quarterly basis and then regularly reported to the Strategic Place Shaping 
Theme Group. Annual review of action plan and midterm review of full 
Housing Strategy in consultation with partners and customers to include new 
actions where required. 

• Annual updates to County action plan and annual review of overall 
achievement to include local action plans. 

• Key statistics to be monitored and updated annually. 
• Mid-term review event with stakeholders and customers. 
• District Action Plans to be updated quarterly and reported back through 

appropriate local monitoring mechanisms. 
 

In drawing up the strategy at this time we are aware that the new coalition 
government has announced a range of potential changes that will affect this 
strategy. In particular there are proposals to radically revise the planning/housing 
framework. In addition the forthcoming comprehensive spending review may impose 
constraints on the resources available to us. The strategy will be updated in the light 
of these changes and the responses of the councils to those changes.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 77



 
 

66

12. KEY CONTACTS IN EACH OF THE LOCAL AUTHORITES 

 

If you would like any further advice on any of the information contained in this 
document then please contact either of the following officers:   

Andy Coel 
Strategic Housing Manager 
Planning & Environment Services 
Bromsgrove District Council 
The Council House 
Burcot Lane 
Bromsgrove 
Worcestershire 
B60 1AA 
Tel: (01527) 881270 
Email: a.coel@bromsgrove.gov.uk 

Nina Warrington 
Strategic Housing Services Manager 
Worcester City Council  
Orchard House Complex,  
Farrier St,  
Worcester,  
WR1 3BB 
Tel: (01905) 722 494  
Email:nina.warrington@worcester.gov.uk  
 

Peter Newman 
Housing Outcomes Manager 
Malvern Hills District Council 
Tel: (01684) 862187 

Email: 
Peter.Newman@malvernhills.gov.uk  

 
 

Elaine Salter 
Strategic Housing Services Manager 
Wychavon District Council  
Civic Centre,  
Queen Elizabeth Drive, Pershore,  
Worcs. WR10 1PT 
Tel: (01386) 565241 
E-mail: elaine.salter@wychavon.gov.uk 
 

Matthew Bough 
Housing Policy Manager. 
Leisure, Environment & Community 
Services Directorate 
Redditch Borough Council 
Town Hall 
Walter Stranz Square 
Redditch 
B98 8AH 
Tel: (01527) 64252 ext 3120  
Email: 
matthew.bough@redditchbc.gov.uk  
 

Kate Bailey 
Strategic Housing Services Manager 
Wyre Forest District Council  
Duke House 
Kidderminster 
Tel: (01562) 732560 
Email: Kate.Bailey@WyreForestdc.gov.uk  
 

 

 

 

 

Page 78



 
 

67

APPENDICES 

 

APPENDIX 1 SUMMARY OF THE EVIDENCE BASE 
Worcestershire - Information & Policy Base 

Strategic Documents: 

South Housing 
Market 
Assessment 

South Housing Market 
Area 

SHMA April 2007 and updates for 07/08, 08/09 and shortly for 09/10 

http://www.worcestershire.gov.uk/cms/community-and-living/research-and-
intelligence/housing-and-economy/housing/shma.aspx 

Strategic Housing 
Land Availability 
Assessment 

South Worcestershire 

Wyre Forest DC 

http://www.swjcs.org/html/shlaa_2edition.html 

Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment Report - December 2009 

LDF -  Core 
Strategy 

South Worcestershire  

Wyre Forest DC 

http://www.swjcs.org/  

Local Development Framework - Core Strategy - Prefered options paper - January 2009 

 

Affordable Housing 
SPD 

Malvern Hills DC 

 

Worcester CC 

Wychavon DC 

Wyre Forest DC 

 

http://www.malvernhills.gov.uk/cms/planning/supplementary-guidance/affordable-
housing.aspx 

http://www.worcester.gov.uk/index.php?id=1127  

 

http://www.wychavon.gov.uk/cms/pdf/wdc-planning-spg-affordable-housing.pdf 

Wyre Forest District Local Framework - Supplementary planning document planning 

P
age 79



 
 

68

obligations - February 2007 

Design SPD South Worcestershire http://www.worcester.gov.uk/index.php?id=1748 

   

Housing Needs 
Survey 

South Worcestershire http://worcestershire.whub.org.uk/cms/community-and-living/research-and-
intelligence/housing-and-economy/housing/south-worcs-housing-needs.aspx 

Homelessness 
research 

Worcestershire http://www.worcestershire.gov.uk/cms/pdf/County%20Homelessness%20Strategy.pdf 

Older peoples 
needs assessment 

Worcestershire Research into the Housing and Support Needs of Older People within Worcestershire. 

http//www.worcestershire.gov.uk/cms/health-and-social-care/supporting-people/strategic-
reviews.aspx    
 

Disabled peoples 
needs assessment 

Worcestershire Countywide Disabled Peoples Needs Assessment being progressed (Supporting 
People/Physical Disability Team) 

Young peoples 
needs assessment 

Worcestershire http://www.worcestershire.gov.uk/cms/health-and-social-care/supporting-people/strategic-
reviews.aspx 

BME needs 
assessment 

Worcestershire http://www.worcestershire.gov.uk/cms/community-and-living/research-and-
intelligence/population/ethnicity-projections.aspx 

Gypsy and 
Traveller needs 
assessment 

Worcestershire http://www.worcestershire.gov.uk/cms/pdf/GTAA_FinalReport.pdf 

Migrant workers Wychavon DC http://www.wychavon.gov.uk/cms/business/market-towns/rural-economy.aspx    

P
age 80



 
 

69

needs assessment http://www.wychavon.gov.uk/cms/community-and-living/equality-and-diversity/migrant-
workers.aspx 

Existing housing condition/suitability: 

Private sector 
housing condition 
survey 

Malvern Hills DC  

Worcester CC 

 

Wychavon DC 

Wyre Forest D C 

BRE survey - details to follow 

http://www.worcester.gov.uk/fileadmin/assets/pdf/Housing/private_sector/FINAL_STOCK_CO
NDITION_SURVEY_AUGUST_2004.pdf 

http://www.wychavon.gov.uk/cms/pdf/wdc-housing-ps-stock-condition-survey.pdf  
http://www.wychavon.gov.uk/cms/pdf/wdc-housing-ps-hmo-report-2005.pdf 

Private Sector House Condition Survey 2007 - Final Report - November 2007 Need  

Link 

P
age 81



 
 

70

APPENDIX 2 RESOURCES AVAILABLE 
     

 2009/10 out-turn 2010/11 planned 2011/12 proposed 2012/13 proposed 
Capital Expenditure         
Capital expenditure on housing within the HRA (H1a) 9596000 7773000 6500000 6020000 
Capital support for RPs (H2) 360000 1092000 126000 100000 
Capital expenditure on other housing (H3) 4017000 4369000 3671000 3345000 
Above funded from:          
Borrowing (H4a1) 0 0 0 0 
Capital grants (H4a2) 2573000 2438000 2242000 1895000 
Useable capital receipts (H4a3) 1515000 2474000 1105000 1085000 
Contributions from revenue (H4a4) 3892000 3800000 3800000 3800000 
Other (H4a5) 0 170000 55000 40000 
          
          
PSR assistance:         
Expenditure on grants (K2) 893000 1080000 887000 0 
Expenditure on loans (K4) 276000 388000 435000 0 
 Mandatory DFG allocations      185500   
          
Provision of affordable housing:         
Total LA expenditure (N11) 875000       
Estimated value of developer contribution through AH units 2493618       
Estimated value of developer contribution through commuted sums 731222       
HCA subsidy 12726581  9515645  2853408  4651137 
          
          
Revenue Funding         
Homelessness Grant 377100  377100  674530  674530 
Housing planning and delivery grant 804612       
Regional Housing Body funding 1042000       
SP funding 14,653,000       
          
          

 

P
age 82



 
 

71

APPENDIX 3 – KEY MESSAGES FROM CONSULTEES 

There is a reassuring level of consensus about the key issues from respondents to the on-line survey and agencies and individuals 
engaged through the initial stakeholder event and focus groups. The main divergence exists around the need for housing in rural 
areas against protection of green space although, to a lesser extent, support for housing for vulnerable people is offset by a view 
that people should be more self-sufficient in meeting and managing their housing needs. 

Housing Strategy Survey 

The on-line survey demonstrated significant support for additional affordable housing being a priority for the new strategy 
(69.6% said this was very important and a further 19% said it was fairly important). Other issues rated as very/fairly important 
were energy efficiency (89.1%), improvement in housing conditions (88.7%) and supporting older people to make housing 
choices (87.8%). Regeneration of town centres was seen as least important although still quite a high proportion said it was very 
or fairly important (79.7%). 

Respondents identified a need for all types of housing. The most popular was family housing across all tenures but support was 
also evident for rented accommodation for vulnerable people, older people and young people. 

Asked about priorities for urban regeneration respondents saw reuse of empty homes as the main priority (97.2% thinking this 
was very or fairly important). The most important factor in regenerating rural villages was seen as work with partners to provide 
local services to help people remain in rural communities (93.6%). 

Respondents thought that raising awareness about grants and loans was the most important factor in improving affordable 
warmth with 88.2% selecting this option. Bringing empty homes back into use was also seen as important in improving housing 
conditions generally with 92.3% or respondents selecting this. 

The survey asked people what help they would require if threatened with homelessness and 80.8% felt that advice to remain in 
their own home was important. Respondents were generally supportive of a range of options for helping older people plan for 
their future housing needs and young people and vulnerable people meet their housing needs.  

 

Research into the Needs of Older People  

The results of the survey of older people carried out as part of the research project can be summarised as follows: 

 
• Nearly 1 in 5 already lived in a property that had been adapted 

P
age 83



 
 

72

• 15% said that home was unsuitable; the main reasons were because of poor health, it was too large or because they had 
problems with mobility 

• The vast majority (81%) wish to stay in their present homes in later years; two thirds expect to receive some support to 
enable them to stay put; 40% would like some adaptations 

• About a third of owners expressed a positive interest in retirement housing for sale or extra care; slightly more tenants are 
interested in sheltered housing to rent 

• People predominantly want help with things like the garden, shopping and cooking 
• There is a strong allegiance to the locality with two thirds hoping to stay in Worcestershire as they grow older; there is a 

significant gap in peoples knowledge of both housing and care options available 
• Expectations are rising about space with more people looking for a minimum of two bedrooms. There is a significant 

demand for showers and managing stairs is a common barrier to continuing to live at home, as is inadequate heating 
• There is a definite interest in extra care housing 
 

The key themes emerging from the focus groups with older people were: 

 

• People want to have better information from a trusted source about the full range of housing options and considerations for 
them; this includes advice on support possibilities, money and grants for adaptations 

• Resistance to equity release schemes as currently available 
• Extra care models of housing are viewed positively for rent and to buy 
• Some reluctance to plan for the future in terms of the types of housing and carer support that people may need 
• Difficulty for many owner occupiers in getting practical jobs done and knowing where to get help from 
• Strong sense of local identity, even within districts – most people want to stay living near to their existing social and 

community networks 
• Telecare, aids, adaptations – seen as potentially helpful; a frequent message was that telecare should not be at “expense” 

of personal support from people/paid carers 
• Residential care is not popular but most people are not really aware of the full implications for them personally and their 

finances 

P
age 84



 
 

73

 

The comments included in responses to these surveys are logged in the “You Said, We Did” document supporting this strategy 
along with the issues raised through stakeholder events and focus groups. The main issues raised are summarised below: 

New homes 

• General support for more housing for all groups 

• Other options needed for older people wishing to move eg shared ownership and extra care 

• Older people aspiring to larger homes (2-bed plus) 

• More supported housing needed for young people and people with mental health issues 

• Flexible tenancy arrangements needed for people with learning difficulties to enable sharing 

• Lifetime homes should be provided as standard 

• More plots needed for Gypsies and Travellers, preferably close to family  

• Research on Gypsy and Traveller site design to ensure plots are big enough for privacy and deter overcrowding 

Better use of existing homes 

• Under-occupation is an issue – incentives and support to move are seen as solutions 

• Many older people feel their current accommodation is unsuitable 

• Hard to let sheltered accommodation is a waste 

• Better use could be made of adapted homes, perhaps by holding a database 

• Better use could be made of the private rented sector 

• Reuse of empty homes is a priority 

• Lodging schemes could be introduced 

Existing housing standards 

• Better links with landlords are needed 

• Incentives could be used to improve private rented housing 

• Targeted enforcement could work 

P
age 85



 
 

74

• Space and noise insulation should be addressed as well as minimum standards 

• Existing schemes for young people are poor standard 

Affordable warmth 

• Better standards should be aimed for – SAP 65 by 2020 and CSH level 4. 

• Better information should be available – up to date and more accessible 

• Fuel choice in rural areas should be assisted 

• Advice should be available through GP surgeries 

• Discounts from local companies should be arranged for energy conservation materials 

• Grants should be available for external insulation 

• Difficulty in keeping caravans warm in winter – need for affordable solutions 

Urban renaissance 

• Funding is of key importance 

• Infrastructure needs to be available before or alongside housing 

• Community ownership/buy-in is important – need to engage at early stage 

• Sustainability needs to be embedded – supply of materials, minimised car use etc 

• Need to ensure people maintain gardens 

• Adapt vacant business space for housing 

Rural renaissance 

• A positive policy stance (rather than exceptions) should be adopted 

• Parish plans should be established 

• An infrastructure levy should be introduced 

• Work to overcome obstacles to development should be resourced 

• Action to retain focal points eg schools, post offices 

• Work with Parish Councils to reduce nimbyism 

P
age 86



 
 

75

• Links with infrastructure are important – employment etc 

• Brownfield development should take priority over greenbelt 

Housing options  

• Better information about housing and related services to enable choice 

• Ensure everyone can access information eg rough sleepers 

• Low level support for older people who wish to stay put  

• Support to move on for older people  

• Help to access private rented accommodation 

• Single access point with a joined up approach for young people and older people 

• Early intervention eg through schools 

• Flexible support services for people with chaotic lifestyles 

• Support to introduce to new home for people with learning difficulties 

• Temporary accommodation to be suitable and affordable 

• Customer care improvement needed 

• Deposit guarantee scheme needed for couples and families 

Housing support and adaptations 

• More flexible support 

• Investment in support and adaptations to save on hospital admissions etc 

• Use of assistive technology is helpful but not at expense of personal care/support 

• Early intervention at transition stage 

• Pre-tenancy and life-skills training  

• Better joined up working across agencies 

• Support in using CBL service 

• Information and support for carers 

P
age 87



 
 

76

• Adaptations are important for people with sensory impairments to remain in their own homes  

• Help needed to enable older Gypsies and Travellers to remain in own homes, perhaps by providing living rooms in utility 
blocks 

• Support to enable ex-rough sleepers to develop social networks 

Other  

• CBL service issues  

• Community facilities – better access and more for young people 

• Employment and benefit issues 

 

APPENDIX 4: LIST OF CONSULTEES 

 
Organisation 
Worcester City Council 
Wyre Forest District Council 
Wychavon District Council 
Redditch Borough Council 
Sanctuary Housing 
West Mercia Housing 
Batchley Support Group  
YMCA Worcester 
YMCA Redditch 
Worcestershire County Council  
CAB Redditch 
St Paul's Hostel 
Fosseway Housing Association 
Bromford Housing 
Rooftop Housing Association 
Help The Aged 
Bromsgrove District Housing Trust 
Deaf Direct 

P
age 88



 
 

77

Festival Housing Group 
Home and Community Agency 
Herefordshire County Council 
Herefordshire & Worcestershire Fire 
Riverside Housing Association 
Worcester Relate 
Worcester Community Housing 
John Martins Charity 
English Church Housing Group 
St Basils 
Nightstop 
Acton Energy 
Bubble 
Redcross 
Redditch Friends 
Servite Houses 
Malvern Hills District Council 
Worcestershire SAAFA 
Age Concern Redditch 
WHBAC 
Herefordshire & Worcestershire Connexions 
Wychavon CAB 
Wyre Forest CAB 
Waterloo Housing 
Community Housing Group 
West Mercia Police 
Jephson Housing 

 

P
age 89



Page 90



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

COUNCIL  6th June 2011  

 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\6\3\AI00006366\WLIPdecision0.doc 

WORCESTERSHIRE LOCAL INVESTMENT PLAN AND AFFORDABLE 
HOMES PROGRAMME FRAMEWORK 
 
RECOMMENDED that 
 
1) the Worcestershire Local Investment Plan be endorsed; and 
 
RESOLVED that 
 
2) the range of proposed reforms to the delivery of affordable housing 

and the summary of the key elements of the Homes and 
Communities Agency’s new Affordable Housing Delivery Framework 
be noted. 

 

Page 91



Page 92



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

EXECUTIVE 
COMMITTEE  12th April 2011 
 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\6\3\AI00006366\WorcestershireLIPAffordableHomesFrameworkreport0.doc/16.03
.11/LW/12.4.11SW 

WORCESTERSHIRE LOCAL INVESTMENT PLAN AND AFFORDABLE 
HOMES PROGRAMME FRAMEWORK 
 
Relevant Portfolio Holder Cllr Brandon Clayton, Housing, Local 

Environment & Health 
Relevant Head of Service Angie Heighway, Head of Community 

Services 
Key Decision  

 
1. SUMMARY OF PROPOSALS 
 
1.1 The first part of this report brings forward for Member approval a Local 

Investment Plan (LIP) for Worcestershire that has been developed 
between Worcestershire local authorities, Registered Providers of 
affordable housing (previously known as RSLs) and the Homes and 
Communities Agency (HCA) setting out the shared priorities for housing, 
regeneration, economic development and supporting infrastructure. 

 
1.2 The second part of the report summarises a range of proposed 

government reforms to the way that social housing is delivered.  It sets out 
the importance of the Local Investment Plan in assisting Registered 
Providers of affordable housing to achieve a strategic fit when addressing 
the priorities for new supply identified by local authorities and when 
bidding for grant funding under the HCA’s new ‘Affordable Housing 
programme Framework’ 

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS  

 
The Committee is asked to RECOMMEND that 
 
1) subject to the Committee’s comments, the Worcestershire 

Local Investment Plan be endorsed;  
 
and to RESOLVE that 
 
2) Members note the range of proposed reforms to the delivery of 

affordable housing and the summary of the key elements of 
the Homes and Communities Agency’s new Affordable 
Housing Delivery Framework. 

 
 
 
 

Page 93



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

EXECUTIVE 
COMMITTEE  12th April 2011 
 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\6\3\AI00006366\WorcestershireLIPAffordableHomesFrameworkreport0.doc/16.03
.11/LW/12.4.11SW 

3. BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 The Homes and Communities Agency (HCA) is the national housing and 

regeneration delivery agency for England.  The HCA has aimed to connect 
local ambition with national targets by engaging local authorities in a 
‘Single Conversation’ on all aspects of housing and regeneration. 

 
3.2 The HCA’s ‘Single Conversation’ process was launched in early 2010 to 

streamline their engagement and negotiation with local partners to 
generate investment plans and agreements to secure the delivery of 
affordable housing at local level in support of national objectives. 

 
3.3 The term ‘Single’ Conversation refers to its comprehensive coverage 

including the full range of housing, infrastructure, regeneration and 
community activities identifying the priorities set out in key local plans and 
is an ongoing, evolving and dynamic process. 

 
3.4 To deliver the agreed vision for the area, the process is supported by a 

Local Investment Plan (LIP) (Appendix 1) which identifies the needs to be 
addressed (based on evidence from local strategies, including the 
Sustainable Communities Strategy, Local Development Framework and 
the Local Economic Assessment) and broad consultation that has helped 
to identify the objectives, outputs and outcomes that are expected from 
each partners’ interventions and to assist the HCA, the LIP covers key 
areas for potential investment. 

 
3.5 With the change of Government during 2010, the concept of a Single 

Conversation was dropped and the requirement to develop a Local 
Investment Plan became voluntary although it is the document the HCA 
will use to determine housing investment within an area. 

 
3.6 Dialogue with the HCA indicated that it was desirable to continue to 

develop a Local Investment Plan that could be used to inform and support 
the forthcoming housing bidding round with the HCA (2011 – 15) under 
the new Affordable Homes Programme Framework. 

 
3.7 The Worcestershire authorities jointly commissioned consultants, 

Regeneris Consulting and BBP Regeneration who had previous 
experience of developing LIPs to consult with key stakeholders and draw 
up the LIP.  The development of the LIP was overseen by specific task 
and finish groups set up in the North and South, overseen by the 
Worcestershire Partnership Place Shaping Theme Group.   

 

Page 94



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

EXECUTIVE 
COMMITTEE  12th April 2011 
 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\6\3\AI00006366\WorcestershireLIPAffordableHomesFrameworkreport0.doc/16.03
.11/LW/12.4.11SW 

 Throughout the process Registered Providers (formally known as RSLs), 
with an interest in developing in the area, were consulted. 

 
4. KEY ISSUES 
 
4.1 The Local Investment Plan has identified three key strategic priorities: 
 

a) Creating the conditions to sustain and generate employment; 
b) Providing the right housing for all communities; 
c) Developing Worcestershire’s infrastructure. 

 
4.2 Within these three strategic priorities there are a number of elements and 

these are listed below; 
 

a) Priority 1:  Developing high growth employment sites; 
b) Priority 2:  Creating and sustaining employment in 

Worcestershire’s main centres; 
c) Priority 3:  Supporting the economic sustainability of 

Worcestershire’s towns; 
d) Priority 4:  Developing housing to support high growth employment 

sites and main employment centres; 
e) Priority 5:  Supporting housing markets in Worcestershire’s towns; 
f) Priority 6:  Delivering sustainable rural housing; 
g) Priority 7:  Meeting special needs; 
h) Priority 8:  Improving the existing housing stock; 
i) Priority 9:  Strengthening the highways infrastructure; 
j) Priority 10: Improving public transport; 
k) Priority 11: Developing social, community and green infrastructure; 
l) Priority 12: Managing Worcestershire’s resources. 

 
4.3 For Redditch, the proposals for housing and economic development and 

regeneration, identified through the draft Local Development Framework 
Core Strategy are picked up in priorities two and four.  Meeting special 
needs, including housing for older people is addressed by priority seven.  
Priority eight highlights the needs for ongoing improvements to the 
existing stock, especially around HMO’s and thermal comfort although 
recognition is given to the scale of disrepair in the private sector and the 
limited resources now available to support improvements.  Priorities 9 – 12 
cover various transport and infrastructure schemes under proposal 
throughout the county. 

 
 
 

Page 95



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

EXECUTIVE 
COMMITTEE  12th April 2011 
 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\6\3\AI00006366\WorcestershireLIPAffordableHomesFrameworkreport0.doc/16.03
.11/LW/12.4.11SW 

4.4 The LIP is an evolving document and it is recognised that in the short term 
it is a document that will inform the HCA bidding round. However, in the 
longer term it is the starting point for further prioritisation of 
Worcestershire’s key employment and housing growth ambitions that 
require significant supporting infrastructure.   The development of a 
Worcestershire LIP has been supported by all of the Worcestershire 
Councils and other key delivery partners.  Its implementation will continue 
to be overseen by the Worcestershire Partnership’s Place Shaping Group 
as the next steps towards scheme prioritisation are addressed.  However, 
in the meantime the LIP will serve as a document to support RP bids to 
the HCA. 

 
Affordable Homes Programme – Framework 

 
4.5 The Localism Bill and the Government’s consultation paper ‘Local 

Decisions: A Fairer Future for Social Housing’ proposed far reaching 
changes to the nature and length of tenancies offered by social landlords 
and, in the case of Registered Providers (RPs), to the rents charged to a 
proportion of their new tenants when properties become available for  
re-letting. 

 
4.6 It is proposed that local housing authorities will be under a statutory duty 

to formulate and publish a ‘Tenancy Strategy’ as a framework for the 
application of the new flexibilities to tenancy terms and the proposed 
introduction by RPs of new ‘affordable rents’.  Individual social landlords 
will also be expected to publish policies on their specific application of 
tenancy and rent reform. 

 
4.7 In February 2011, the DCLG and Homes and Communities Agency (HCA) 

published an Affordable Homes Programme Framework setting out a new 
approach to the way that social housing is to be delivered from April 2011. 

 
4.8 The Affordable Homes Programme Framework requires offers from RP’s 

(formerly known as RSLs, e.g. Redditch Coop Homes, Festival, etc.) to 
work with the Homes and Communities Agency (HCA) to deliver a new 
supply of affordable housing over the next four years - 2011 to 2015. 

 
4.9 Whilst offering greater flexibility to RP’s wishing to develop, the basis of 

this new delivery model will be to ensure providers use the potential to 
increase the rental stream from some of their existing stock (only when 
units become void for re-letting) to help reduce the amount of public 
funding (HCA Grant) that will be needed to deliver the supply of affordable 
housing. 

Page 96



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

EXECUTIVE 
COMMITTEE  12th April 2011 
 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\6\3\AI00006366\WorcestershireLIPAffordableHomesFrameworkreport0.doc/16.03
.11/LW/12.4.11SW 

4.10 Key to this new structure is the introduction of a new ‘Affordable Rent’ 
product which will form the principal element of the new supply offer.   
The new flexibilities will allow RP’s to convert a proportion of their existing 
‘Social Rent’ dwellings (currently let at around 55% - 60% of open market 
rent) to the new ‘Affordable Rent’ which can be let at up to 80% of open 
market rent.  Existing tenants will not be affected as conversion to the new 
Affordable Rent product will only be an option available to a RP when 
stock becomes void and is re-let to a new tenant. 

 
4.11 Alongside this flexibility for RPs to capitalise upon an increased rental 

stream, the new delivery model will seek a competitive bid from RPs who 
use the new flexibilities on the use of existing assets to generate 
additional financial capacity to support new supply.  There are therefore 
four broad funding streams: 

 
a) Additional borrowing capacity by conversion of Social Rent units to 

Affordable Rent; 
b) Cross subsidy through surpluses, outright sale, shared ownership 

sales, recycled grant and stock disposals; 
c) Free or discounted land; 
d) HCA Grant funding (but only where required to make a 

development viable). 
 
The assumption is that the most competitive bids made by RPs will 
effectively combine these funding streams. 

 
4.12 The new delivery model will mean that the HCA’s former ‘scheme by 

scheme’ appraisal process will end and providers will be expected to set 
out their proposals for a four year programme covering how they will 
manage their existing assets and capacity, and in particular how they will 
use the flexibility to convert some of their current stock to ‘Affordable 
Rent’, alongside HCA funding, to generate significant volumes of new 
supply. 

 
4.13 When considering proposals, the HCA will consider the strategic fit and 

overall value for money.  RPs will be encouraged to work closely with local 
authorities throughout the 2011 -15 development programme period to 
deliver against local needs and priorities.  The HCA’s local development 
teams will play a key role in brokering and enabling relationships between 
providers and local authorities to ensure that local priorities are delivered. 
Members will therefore recognise that the Local Investment Plan (LIP) is a 
key tool in enabling this to happen. 

 

Page 97



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

EXECUTIVE 
COMMITTEE  12th April 2011 
 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\6\3\AI00006366\WorcestershireLIPAffordableHomesFrameworkreport0.doc/16.03
.11/LW/12.4.11SW 

5. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 The Local Investment Plan is a mechanism for drawing in financial 

resources and focusing resources on schemes of strategic importance. 
 
5.2 The Registered Provider bids to the HCA will be expected to include 

commitment of any resources the RP’s and any other public or private 
bodies can make e.g. free or discounted land, local authority grant or the 
use of S106 contributions. 

 
6. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

The Housing elements of the LIP will form the basis of the packages that 
Registered Providers put together to the HCA to deliver housing over the 
next four years.  These packages will be subject to legal agreement 
between the RP’s and HCA but Local Authorities are expected to 
participate in consultation around these. 

 
7. POLICY IMPLICATIONS 
 
 None identified. 
 
8. COUNCIL OBJECTIVES 
 

Enterprising Communities – The LIP priorities are related to housing, 
economic and infrastructure priorities. 

 
9. RISK MANAGEMENT INCLUDING HEALTH & SAFETY 

CONSIDERATIONS 
 
 The LIP is a Worcestershire wide document, there are no risks associated 

with endorsing it.  However, failure to endorse it could place the Council at 
a disadvantage going forward in terms of securing internal investment 
opportunities and investment from the HCA for affordable housing. 

 
10. CUSTOMER IMPLICATIONS 
 
 The actions set out within the document are designed to enhance the 

Council’s response to the identified housing needs of the community and 
to assist Registered Providers and the HCA to invest in affordable housing 
that accords with the needs and priorities identified. 

Page 98



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

EXECUTIVE 
COMMITTEE  12th April 2011 
 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\6\3\AI00006366\WorcestershireLIPAffordableHomesFrameworkreport0.doc/16.03
.11/LW/12.4.11SW 

11. EQUALITIES AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS 
 

It has not been considered necessary to carry out an impact assessment 
on the LIP. 

 
12. VALUE FOR MONEY IMPLICATIONS, PROCUREMENT AND ASSET 

MANAGEMENT 
 

The LIP will assist and encourage RP’s to make best use of existing 
resources and guide their proposed investment and that of the HCA to 
most accurately reflect the needs and priorities of the County. 

 
13. CLIMATE CHANGE, CARBON IMPLICATIONS AND BIODIVERSITY 
 
 Addressed within LIP Priorities 8 and 11. 
 
14. HUMAN RESOURCES IMPLICATIONS 
 
 None identified. 
 
15. GOVERNANCE/PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS 
 
 The LIP will assist in driving NI 155 Delivery of Affordable Housing. 
 
16. COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS INCLUDING SECTION 17 OF 

CRIME AND DISORDER ACT 1998 
 
 None identified. 
 
17. HEALTH INEQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 
 Specifically addressed by LIP priorities 7, 8 and 11. 
 
18. LESSONS LEARNT 
 

Early engagement and agreement of priorities with RPs and with the HCA 
through the development of the LIP is clearly viewed as a positive support 
to the investment process. 

 
19. COMMUNITY AND STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT 
 
 Registered providers, County Council and District Council Officers from 

housing, regeneration, planning, economic development teams. 

Page 99



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

EXECUTIVE 
COMMITTEE  12th April 2011 
 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\6\3\AI00006366\WorcestershireLIPAffordableHomesFrameworkreport0.doc/16.03
.11/LW/12.4.11SW 

20. OTHERS CONSULTED ON THE REPORT 
 

Portfolio Holder 
 

 

Chief Executive 
 

 

Executive Director (S151 Officer) 
 

 

Deputy Chief Executive/Executive Director – 
Leisure, Environment and Community Services 
 

 

Executive Director – Planning & Regeneration, 
Regulatory and Housing Services  
 

 

Director of Policy, Performance and 
Partnerships 

 

Head of Service 
 

 

Head of Resources  
 

 

Head of Legal, Equalities & Democratic 
Services 
 

 

Corporate Procurement Team 
 

 

 
21. WARDS AFFECTED 
 

All Wards. 
 
22. APPENDICES 
 
 Appendix 1 - Worcestershire Local Investment Plan (LIP). 
 
23. BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

DCLG / HCA - Affordable Homes Programme - Framework. 
 
AUTHOR OF REPORT 
 
Name:  Matthew Bough  
E Mail: matthew.bough@redditchbc.gov.uk 
Tel: (01527) 64252 ext: 3120 

Page 100



cc 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

Worcestershire Local 
Investment Plan  

Prepared by Regeneris 
Consulting and BBP 

Regeneration 

Page 101



Worcestershire Place Shaping 
Group  

Worcestershire Local 
Investment Plan  

March 2011  
Regeneris Consulting Ltd 

One Ashley Road 
Altrincham, Cheshire 

WA14 2DT 
Tel: 0161 926 9214 

www.regeneris.co.uk 

 

BBP Regeneration  
3rd Floor Corinthian House 
279 Tottenham Court Road 

London 
W1T 7RJ 

Tel: 0207 307 7000 
www.bbpregeneration.co.uk 

  

  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

Page 102



● Worcestershire Local Investment Plan  ● 

  

 
Contents 

 
1. Introduction 1 

2. Purpose and Role of the Worcestershire LIP 2 

3. Policy Context for the LIP 5 

4. Worcestershire’s Story 17 

5. Strategic Priorities for Worcestershire 28 

6. Funding Delivery 58 

7. Working with the HCA 66 

8. Consultation and Engagement 74 

 

 

Page 103



● Worcestershire Local Investment Plan ● 

Page 1 
 

1. Introduction 
1.1 This is the first Local Investment Plan (LIP) for Worcestershire.  It is a partnership document 

prepared through dialogue between Worcestershire’s local authorities, Registered Providers 
(RPs) and the Homes and Communities Agency (HCA) to identify shared priorities for 
housing, regeneration, economic development and supporting infrastructure.     

1.2 The newly established Place Shaping group, a thematic sub-group of the Worcestershire 
Partnership, has taken responsibility for preparing the LIP and will guide subsequent 
iterations. The Place Shaping group brings together representatives of the six district local 
authorities, Worcestershire County Council, the HCA and Registered Providers.   

1.3 The document is structured in the following way.   

· Section 2 sets out the purpose and role of the LIP 

· Section 3 describes the rapidly changing policy context for investment in housing 
and regeneration, which will influence what partners are able to achieve in the 
coming years 

· Section 4 summarises Worcestershire’s story, highlighting key characteristics of the 
county which have shaped the content of the LIP 

· Section 5 outlines key strategic priorities for Worcestershire spanning economic 
development, regeneration, housing and infrastructure 

· Section 6 sets out what we see as some of the principal delivery challenges and how 
we are proposing to respond to them 

· Section 7 provides summary information about the local priority schemes, including 
those identified for potential investment by the HCA in the period 2011 to 2015.  
This is based on a separate and comprehensive list of schemes in each of the six 
constituent local authority districts in Worcestershire which partners will continue to 
refine over the coming weeks and months 

· Section 8 summarises the consultation and engagement that has informed the 
development of the Plan.   

The LIP is by necessity a living document. It has been developed during a period of 
considerable change in the housing, regeneration and economic development policy 
landscape both nationally and locally, the effects of which are still emerging.  In a climate of 
uncertainty, partners wish to retain the flexibility to adapt priorities in line with further 
developments in policy. Critically, in a public sector funding environment in which it is 
becoming more challenging to secure the necessary investment, partners must also ensure 
that they allow themselves the maximum possible flexibility to develop and implement 
creative solutions in support of their objectives.  This document has been produced with the 
support of Regeneris Consulting and BBP Regeneration.   

Page 104



● Worcestershire Local Investment Plan ● 

Page 2 
 

2. Purpose and Role of the Worcestershire LIP  
Background to Local Investment Plans 

2.1 The HCA’s Single Conversation process was launched in early 2010 to streamline 
engagement and negotiation about investment between the Agency and local partners. The 
Local Investment Plan (LIP) initiative was the most significant manifestation of the Single 
Conversation, devised to generate investment plans followed by Local Investment 
Agreements (LIAs) setting out how the HCA, local authorities and other partner 
organisations would contribute to the delivery of local, regional and national housing 
priorities.   

2.2 A first wave of LIPs was produced during 2010.  To different degrees, these documents 
provided statements of priorities to enable areas to do business with the HCA.  But they are 
also usefully serving a wider range of purposes, including support for funding bids from a 
range of sources and a means of encouraging stronger joint working across local authority 
boundaries at a time when funding pressures are already steering local government in this 
direction.     

2.3 Since the 2010 election there have been significant changes in the policy context for 
housing, economic development and regeneration in the UK.   While the nature and extent 
of these changes is still becoming clear, the HCA has signalled a commitment to continue to 
work with LIPs in its business planning process.  It is clear that the HCA will find it more 
difficult to invest in an area that does not have a LIP prepared. 

2.4 The formal guidance on the production of LIPs has been pared back and they are not now 
expected to be followed by more detailed LIAs.  In the future LIPs are now more of a 
voluntary tool for local authorities that find it a useful way to develop and deliver their local 
investment priorities.  Their key function will be to align investment, land assets and other 
funding streams.    

2.5 Along with changes in the policy landscape, the production of LIPs is also being heavily 
influenced by significant reductions to the HCA’s budget and the refocusing of its investment 
priorities onto a narrower range of objectives.  These narrower objectives focus around 
affordable housing with a clear focus on the HCA’s new affordable rent product, the 
provision of decent homes and some continued work on wider place making activities.   The 
LIPs will now be as much about how best to creatively engage with the broader resources 
offered by the HCA – its expertise, influence and land holdings – as it will be about the more 
limited pot of grant funding it will provide in future years. 

2.6 The HCA is also going through a process of restructuring which has implications for the 
operational area in which Worcestershire is located.  The county is included in the new, 
larger Midlands area.  This means that priorities for Worcestershire will be considered 
amongst those of a broader range of areas than previously in the HCA’s business planning 
process.    

 

Page 105



● Worcestershire Local Investment Plan ● 

Page 3 
 

The Role of the Worcestershire Local Investment Plan  

2.7 Partners in Worcestershire have decided to push forward with a LIP.  There is real value in 
using this process to help develop priorities for place shaping, feed into the planning of 
future infrastructure investment for the county and secure support from the HCA, and 
importantly other public sector bodies, to deliver these priorities.   

Figure 2-1: Main Purposes of the Local Investment Plan 

Broad Statement of 
Strategic Place 

Shaping Priorities

Why?

• Assist in joining up 
jobs & housing growth 
• Input to local & 

county wide 
infrastructure planning
• Framework against 
which funders (inc. 

HCA) assess bids  

Outline New 
Delivery Challenges 

and How We Are 
Responding

Why?

• Radically changed 
funding landscape
• Ensure we are 

responding 
appropriately
• ...and using all 
available tools

Long List of 
Priorities for HCA 

Support

Why?

• HCA regional business 
plan being formulated
• Affordable Rent 

package bids in 
preparation

• Opportunity to 
ensure Worcestershire 
benefits in full (from 

HCAs funding, assets & 
expertise)

1 2 3

 

2.8 As shown above, this initial LIP for Worcestershire is positioned as a document that will:   

· First, provide a broad statement of place shaping priorities to inform the work of 
Worcestershire LSP’s Place Shaping Group.  It will serve to connect together 
established priorities for housing and employment growth in the county, and will be 
an important input into county wide infrastructure planning.  The LIP will also serve 
as a framework against which external funders will assess the strategic fit of any 
funding bids which are submitted to them.   

· Second, set out the new delivery challenges that are now emerging in a rapidly 
changing policy and funding landscape for housing, economic development and 
regeneration.  The LIP will start to identify potential solutions and behaviours to 
ensure we respond to new funding mechanisms, secure the better use of publicly 
owned assets and explore new ways to leverage investment from the private sector.     

· Third, provide those assembling bids for HCA’s new affordable rent investment 
programme and related funding opportunities with a statement of specific priorities 
to be considered for support. This will enable the county to feature prominently in 
the regional business plan for the Midlands and access a fair share of resources.   

2.9 On this final objective, a strong relationship between local authorities, Registered Providers 
and the HCA will be critical in making best use of new funding opportunities. The focus of 
the LIP in this respect is on what Worcestershire partners can seek to achieve over the next 
four years (2011-15), in line with the next cycle of HCA’s expenditure planning.    

Page 106



● Worcestershire Local Investment Plan ● 

Page 4 
 

Constraints and Risks  

2.10 In deciding to proceed with the LIP at this juncture, Worcestershire’s local authorities have 
clearly recognised a number of constraining forces and risks in developing a document of 
this nature: 

· National policy uncertainty – Key national policies on housing, regeneration, 
economic development and planning are still evolving.  This means continued 
uncertainty about how priorities for Worcestershire will fit with national policy 
drivers, and how the government will target national funding resources in the future 
in the context of public sector austerity.   

· Differences in local planning cycles – Across Worcestershire, local authorities are at 
different stages in their progress towards core strategies and other local 
development framework documents.  In most localities, core strategies and 
important development plan documents (around site allocations, Section 106 
policies) are not yet in place. Only Wyre Forest’s has so far been adopted.  There are 
also critical elements of planning taking place at county level (Local Transport Plan 3, 
Strategic Infrastructure Delivery Plan) and which will have a key role to play in 
identifying investment priorities.  The LTP 3 draft has now been published, while a 
first draft of the Infrastructure Delivery Plan is scheduled for Autumn 2011.    

· A fragile market – Despite signs of recovery in the housing and commercial property 
sectors, uncertainty about public policy and funding is likely to feed uncertainty in 
the market place.  This will affect land values, the commercial viability of 
developments and the availability of Registered Provider and private sector 
investment.  In turn, this will affect the deliverability of LIP priorities, and the 
document needs to be flexible enough to accommodate the need for change.   

· Information deficits – Many potential housing and regeneration schemes across 
Worcestershire are at an early stage of their development and lack viability 
statements, detailed masterplans and planning permissions.  In addition, changes to 
the funding landscape mean that many projects previously deemed deliverable 
require further analysis, reconfiguration and new approaches.  While this 
information deficit alone should not be grounds to decide not to pursue a priority, it 
further adds to the challenge of making a robust case for investment.   

2.11 These challenges and risks for the LIP all underline the need for a document which is 
continually evolving.  Priorities are not set in stone at this initial stage, and there must be 
scope both to add to the list and to modify or even set aside priorities over the next few 
years as partners further develop their investment plans and new opportunities and 
challenges emerge. 

 

Page 107



● Worcestershire Local Investment Plan ● 

Page 5 
 

3. Policy Context for the LIP 
Key Points 

· New emphasis on neighbourhood and community involvement in planning set out in the 2010 
Decentralisation and Localism Bill expected to influence the type, location and scale of housing, 
economic development and regeneration schemes in Worcestershire.  

· Significant reforms to social housing policy including the abolition of lifetime tenancies and new 
powers for local authorities to determine who should qualify for social housing 

· New affordable rent option to be introduced for Registered Providers.  Set at a higher level than 
social rent, up to 80% of local market rent.   

· Reorganisation of the HCA’s operational areas, with a much larger Midlands region extending 
from north Lincolnshire to the borders of Buckinghamshire in the south.  

· Majority of future HCA resources to be allocated to new affordable rent housing, with more 
limited funding to improve stock and invest in regeneration.   

· Closure of RDAs represents a significant change in the way economic development and 
regeneration will be organised and funded.  New local enterprise partnerships (LEPs) are 
expected to take on some of responsibilities of RDAs for economic growth and enterprise 
development.   

· Proposals for new financial mechanisms (Tax Increment Finance, New Homes Bonus) for 
localities have potential to be source of funding to support capital investment in housing, 
economic development and regeneration.   

· Regional Growth Fund of £1.4 billion (2011-14) available for investment to create private sector 
employment in areas most vulnerable to public sector funding cuts. Potential to provide sources 
of funding for investment in housing, economic development and regeneration schemes in 
Worcestershire.   

· Strategic priorities identified in LIP are driven by Worcestershire Economic Strategy, LEP 
proposals, Worcestershire Housing Strategy and its Sustainable Community Strategy.  District 
level economic development, regeneration, community and housing strategies are also 
important contributors to LIP priorities.  The Housing Strategy will set a number of quantitative 
targets for housing development for the period through to 2016.   

· Strategic Infrastructure Delivery Plan currently being developed in Worcestershire.  This will play 
a critical part in enabling future housing development and wider regeneration to take place, and 
LIP priorities need to feed into this process.     

3.1 The context for the LIP is set by a range of national and local policy drivers.  This context is 
still taking shape during a period of significant change in housing, economic development, 
regeneration and planning policy, extending from the way that local planning decisions will 
be made to the type of housing that will in future be eligible for national funding.   

National Policy  

Localism and the Big Society  

3.2 The development and implementation of Worcestershire’s LIP is taking place in a rapidly 
changing policy and funding landscape for local government.  Publication of the 
Decentralisation and Decentralisation and Localism Bill in December 2010 has signalled the 
Government’s aspiration to shift more responsibility for decision making to localities and 
neighbourhoods, in the context of a particularly tough financial settlement for local 
authorities.  Several aspects of the localism agenda have important implications for the 
Worcestershire Local Investment Plan including:  

Page 108



● Worcestershire Local Investment Plan ● 

Page 6 
 

· Revocation of Regional Spatial Strategies (RSS) – Until now, the RSS determined the 
level of new homes and the broad provision of employment sites needed in an area.  
The Government’s decision to revoke them puts new onus on Worcestershire’s local 
authorities and their partners to determine the quantity, type and location of houses 
and jobs required in their areas.  This is particularly important in the context of the 
emerging core strategies for Worcestershire, since they will be expected to set new 
targets for housing, employment land and other key elements of spatial planning in 
a locality.  Over time, these decisions will need to be reflected in the priorities set by 
the Worcestershire LIP.   

· Neighbourhood planning powers – The Decentralisation and Localism Bill introduces 
new rights for neighbourhoods to determine future development (eg. the suggestion 
of a community right to build where a majority is in favour), as well as the potential 
for parish and neighbourhood councils to development and submit plans for their 
areas.  As it evolves over time, this role for neighbourhoods and communities would 
be expected to have a bearing on the priorities set by the LIP.  Housing schemes, 
major regeneration schemes and other developments are set to be more strongly 
influenced by these new planning powers, both in terms of the development sought 
by an area and the constraints and restrictions that neighbourhoods and 
communities may seek.    

3.3 The Decentralisation and Localism Bill is a key pillar of the Government’s Big Society 
initiative, which comprises measures intended to give local communities a bigger role in the 
design, funding and delivery of local services.   To this end, the bill will introduce new powers 
for communities to take ownership of local assets, changes to the Community Infrastructure 
Levy to enable a larger proportion of receipts to be directed to neighbourhoods and the 
right for a range of organisations to bid to take over the running of services.   Although detail 
on the implementation of these changes is yet to emerge, they imply a more decisive input 
for neighbourhoods in planning and development decisions in their area.   In turn, this would 
be expected to feed through into the LIP.    

3.4 Worcestershire has a well established infrastructure of community and enterprise 
partnerships on which to build as the UK moves towards localism and big society principles.  
These extend from the district and county level local strategic partnerships through an 
extensive network of parish and town councils.  They also include public-private 
collaborative bodies such as the ReWyre Regeneration initiative, a form of engagement 
which is expected to become an increasingly important part of local governance.  

Role of the Homes and Communities Agency and Social Housing 
Reforms  

3.5 Following the Comprehensive Spending Review it has been confirmed that the HCA will be 
retained as a smaller ‘enabling and investment’ agency. HCA has outlined that investment 
will be focused in 3 broad areas: 

· Affordable housing (£4.5 billion over the period between 2011 and 2015) 

· Improving existing housing stock  

· Land and regeneration – completing existing long term commitments, realising 
benefits from RDA land assets, working in partnership with other public agencies to 

Page 109



● Worcestershire Local Investment Plan ● 

Page 7 
 

deliver. 

3.6 The HCA will from now on work across five operating areas (excluding London).  The new 
single Midlands region is a much larger entity than its predecessor West and East Midlands 
regions. The implication for Worcestershire is that funding for the Midlands region will be 
distributed amongst a much broader array of organisations than under the previous 
organisational structure.    

3.7 The HCA has indicated that its future investment will primarily be focused on: affordable 
rent housing, mortgage rescue package, Gypsies and Travellers, the Places of Change 
programme and empty homes.  A substantial majority of future funding is expected to be 
allocated to the new affordable rent programme.   

3.8 Whilst details are still emerging on the enabling role the HCA may be able to play, this is 
likely to include some or all of the following: 

· Support and technical advice 

· Project management of large scale planning applications 

· Economic appraisal tools and procurement panels 

· New models of public, private and third sector investment 

· Maximising the use of public land through the emerging Local Land Initiative (LLI).   

3.9 As part of its broader package of housing policy changes, the government has embarked on 
a programme of social housing reforms. Its stated aims in reforming the social housing 
system are to: 

· Make the system fairer, striking a balance between the needs of new and existing 
tenants 

· Ensure that social housing support is better focused on those who need it most 

· Give local authorities and Registered Providers new powers so that they can make 
the best use of their housing stock. 

3.10 The reforms set out a new approach to affordable housing which aims to allow greater 
flexibility and make public investment go further.  From 2011, Registered Providers will have 
an additional Affordable Rent option to offer households. Affordable Rent will be set at a 
higher level than social rent, up to a maximum of 80% of gross local market rents. It will give 
registered providers the flexibility to increase the revenue that is available to them through 
rents – which can then generate additional capacity and fund the delivery of new affordable 
homes. The government has stated that grant funding (including funding through the HCA) 
from now on will primarily target this new affordable rent product.  

3.11 The HCA published its framework for the Affordable Homes Programme in February 2011.  
The framework sets out how new affordable housing development will be funded over the 
next 4 years and the delivery mechanisms for the new Affordable Rent product.  At the 
centre of the framework is a requirement for Registered Providers to submit packages of 

Page 110



● Worcestershire Local Investment Plan ● 

Page 8 
 

proposals for which grant funding to support development is needed.  Proposals are 
expected to set out the volume, location and type of stock to be developed, how existing 
stock might be converted to Affordable Rent stock or other tenure types, and how 
developments will deliver local priorities including those identified by Local Investment 
Plans.  There is also emphasis on the creative use of assets including public land holdings and 
funding mechanisms (eg. Registered Providers’ borrowing, New Homes Bonus) to support 
development.  The deadline for the submission of package proposals is 3rd May 2011, and 
partners across Worcestershire are now working together to assemble bids.   

3.12 Changes to social housing will also include measures to create a new local authority tenancy 
with a minimum fixed term of 2 years.  This is expected to operate alongside secure and 
introductory tenancies.  Both local authorities and Registered Providers will be able to let 
social housing on fixed term tenancies, rather than the current lifetime tenancy model. Local 
authorities will also be given new freedom to determine who should qualify for social 
housing waiting lists.  Priorities for social housing in the LIP will need to reflect these 
changes.  

3.13 A key element of the changes is the requirement for local authorities to develop tenancy 
strategies which set the objectives that Registered Providers will in turn be expected to 
reflect in their individual tenancy management policies.  These strategies need to be 
completed 12 months after the relevant sections of the Localism Bill enter into force.  
However, partners in Worcestershire have recognised the need to give Registered Providers 
an early steer on local tenancy strategies in view of the May deadline for the submission of 
package proposals to the HCA.  

3.14 Alongside funding for the Affordable Rent product, the HCA has made indicative allocations 
to four other elements of the programme:  Mortgage Rescue Scheme, Homelessness Change 
Programme, Traveller Pitch Funding and Empty Homes.  Registered Providers have the 
opportunity to demonstrate how they might provide this wider range of products as part of 
their package proposals.   

3.15 Partners in Worcestershire are already compiling data on potential demand for mortgage 
rescue in the County which will inform how lead provides and local authorities manage 
allocations over the next 3 years.  The level of funding available for Mortgage Rescue is likely 
to support fewer completions than has been the case in Worcestershire over the past 2-3 
years.  This puts greater onus on the development of a strategy to prioritise households, and 
work on this is now underway.   

3.16 Partners are also considering their approach to the availability of Empty Homes funding, 
with the HCA having indicated that £100 million is earmarked to address this problem from 
April 2012.  Further information on this scheme is expected shortly, but Registered Providers 
have already been asked to signal their interest in bringing empty homes back into use in 
preparing package proposals.   

Economic Development and Regeneration Policies  

3.17 The second half of 2010 has been marked by a series of significant changes to the 
government’s approach to economic development and regeneration.  Responsibility for 
economic development and regeneration is now shifting from regional organisations to local 

Page 111



● Worcestershire Local Investment Plan ● 

Page 9 
 

partnerships, with a bigger role sought for the private sector in new governance 
arrangements.  This is changing the context for the delivery of the LIP, particularly the 
mechanisms through which partners will set objectives and secure funding to deliver them.  

3.18 For the LIP, the key changes are:   

· Local Growth White Paper.  October 2010 saw the publication of Local Growth: 
Realising Every Place’s Potential which provided further clarity about many of the 
government’s proposals for economic development and regeneration.  Along with 
detail on the LEPs and the closure of the RDAs, the White Paper set out how the 
government proposes to provide localities with new financial incentives to promote 
growth.  These may have a significant part to play in the way that local authorities 
and their partners are able to fund housing and regeneration schemes in future.  Of 
particular importance are:  

Ø Tax Increment Finance. The White Paper outlined new powers for local 
authorities to borrow against future additional income generated from local 
business rates. This funding could be used to support key infrastructure and 
other capital investments, and may prove in time to be a source of funding 
for LIP priorities.   

Ø New Homes Bonus.  From April 2011, local planning authorities will receive 
payments based on the annual net increase in dwellings in the area, with the 
level of payments related to Council Tax bands.  This has the potential to 
contribute to the pooling of resources across several local authority areas.    

· Regional Growth Fund (RGF).  The White Paper also set out proposals for the £1.4 
billion Regional Growth Fund which will operate between 2011 and 2014.  This fund 
has been designed to support the creation of private sector employment in those 
areas of the country likely to face the most substantial fall in public sector 
employment.  The emphasis is on the direct involvement of the private sector in 
formulating bids to the RGF, and LEPs are expected to be among the organisations 
developing proposals.  The RGF has the potential to support a wide range of 
priorities identified in the LIP.   

· Abolition of Regional Development Agencies – The imminent closure of Advantage 
West Midlands and the other Regional Development Agencies is intended to further 
shift the focus of sub-national economic development and regeneration policy 
towards localities.  Advantage West Midlands has been a key source of funding for 
economic development and regeneration in the county.    

· New Local Enterprise Partnerships.  In September 2010, local authorities and 
business leaders were asked to submit their proposals for new Local Enterprise 
Partnerships that better represent functional economic areas, and there are 
expectations that LEPs will take a policy lead on economic development and 
regeneration issues.  The expectation is that LEPs will take on some of the 
responsibilities previously exercised by the Regional Development Agencies, 
although the position in relation to funding and assets is not yet clear.    

Page 112



● Worcestershire Local Investment Plan ● 

Page 10 
 

Worcestershire Policy and Strategy   

3.19 This initial LIP is complementary to a web of policies and strategies that are in place across 
Worcestershire.    

County Housing Strategy  

3.20 The LIP is identified as a supporting mechanism to enable delivery of the emerging 
Worcestershire Housing Strategy, which is expected to be completed in early 2011.   The 
vision in the draft Housing Strategy is a simple and persuasive one:  The Right Home, At The 
Right Time, In The Right Place.  This is largely consistent with the key messages in the 
individual district housing strategies which have been developed over the past decade, but 
promotes a cross authority/joint approach to service delivery and highlights the importance 
of striking a balance between sub-regional needs and opportunities and those of local 
communities. 

3.21 Partners have identified four primary goals in the draft strategy to which LIP priorities will be 
expected to make a key contribution:    

· Better use of existing homes - To maximise the use of the existing housing stock by 
ensuring that a high percentage of homes are suitably occupied by 2016 

· Delivering new homes - Enable 1,830 new market and 450 affordable homes which 
meet local needs in terms of property type, size, tenure and affordability by 2011 

· Improving the condition of existing homes - Increase the number of existing homes 
across all tenures meeting the Decent Homes Standard by a target percentage by 
2016 to improve peoples’ quality of life 

· Providing housing related support -Increase the social benefit from housing related 
support by a target percentage by 2016 to meet the changing and growing needs of 
vulnerable people. 

Sustainable Community Strategy 

3.22 Worcestershire’s Sustainable Community Strategy (SCS) Partnership Towards Excellence sets 
the overarching strategic vision for Worcestershire and identifies the activity that partners 
will need to carry out to achieve it between 2008 and 2013.  The SCS plays a key part in 
setting the framework for the LIP, since its key purpose is to improve the quality of life for all 
Worcestershire’s communities and to make the county a great place to live, work and visit.   

3.23 The SCS vision is of a county with safe, cohesive, healthy and inclusive communities, a strong 
and diverse economy and a valued and cherished environment.   

3.24 The Local Strategic Partnership, which has overall responsibility for the strategy, has set out 
six themes which will guide the actions of partners and the outcomes they are seeking to 
achieve.   While the LIP contributes to all 6 themes, it has particularly significant 
contributions to make to achieving outcomes for the health, economic success and strong 
communities themes.   

Page 113



● Worcestershire Local Investment Plan ● 

Page 11 
 

Table 3-1: Worcestershire Sustainable Community Strategy Themes and Priority Outcomes 

Theme Priority Outcomes (most relevant to LIP highlighted)  
Communities that are safe 
and feel safe 

· To continue to improve community safety and build confidence in 
communities 

· To reduce the harm caused by illegal drugs and alcohol 
A better environment for 
today and tomorrow 

· To protect and improve Worcestershire’s natural and historic 
environment  

· To promote the re-use, recycling and recovery of waste  
· To address issues of water quality, supply, and  consumption and 

land drainage in Worcestershire 
· To increase energy efficiency and increase the proportion of 

energy generated from renewable sources 
Economic success that is 
shared by all 

· To promote technology-led growth benefiting all sectors and 
parts of the county 

· To support the sustainable development of the county through 
infrastructure development (in particular transport infrastructure) 
and establish Worcester as a growth point  

· To remove barriers to employment and improve skills 
· To ensure that Worcestershire’s economic interests are 

effectively represented at all levels 
Improve health and well 
being 

· To support adults to lead healthier lifestyles 
· To reduce health inequalities  
· To improve the quality of life and independence of older people 

and those with a long-term illness 
· To improve mental health and wellbeing 

Meeting the needs of 
children and young people 

· To support children, young people and families to lead healthy 
lifestyles 

· To identify and deal effectively with bullying and support all 
children, young people and families who have been affected by it 

· To raise the educational achievement of all children and young 
people 

· To ensure children, young people and their families have access 
to positive things to do and enjoy in their communities 

Stronger communities  · To provide decent, appropriate and affordable housing that 
meets the diverse needs of Worcestershire 

· To improve quality of life in Worcestershire by providing vibrant 
cultural and sporting opportunities for all 

· To support effective volunteering that is accessible to all  
· To reduce income deprivation including child and pensioner 

poverty 
· To deliver an accessible, affordable, safe, convenient, sustainable 

and integrated passenger transport network 

3.25 The Worcestershire Partnership has agreed to move to a single Sustainable Community 
Strategy for the County that will run from 2011.  Revision of the strategy is currently taking 
place and future updates of the LIP will need to reflect the themes and priorities agreed by 
the Partnership.   

Worcestershire Economic Strategy  

3.26 The LIP has an important supporting contribution to make to the delivery of the refreshed 
Worcestershire Economic Strategy (2010-20).  The strategy sets out a long term vision and 

Page 114



● Worcestershire Local Investment Plan ● 

Page 12 
 

focus for economic development and regeneration within the county: 

In ten years time, technology-led growth will have contributed to the sustainable 
development of Worcestershire and strengthened its role as an economic driver for the 
region – acting as a catalyst for all sectors of the economy and areas of the County to benefit 
and providing well paid and highly skilled jobs and high quality of life for residents 

3.27 The strategy sets out three strategic objectives: 

· Business: to support the development of a dynamic and diverse business base 
through engagement with existing businesses and encouraging growth of new 
businesses 

· Place:  Supporting the sustainable development of the county through infrastructure 
development especially transport, and continue supporting Worcester as an 
accessible West Midlands Growth Point 

· People: To enhance employability levels removing barriers to employment and 
improving skills. 

3.28 There are a number of important spatial dimensions to the strategy, highlighting: 

· Areas of market failure and disadvantage – Rural Regeneration Zone 

· Concentrations of knowledge assets – Central Technology Belt 

· Strategic Growth Point– Worcester City, which is identified as a key economic 
development priority 

· Towns undergoing economic restructuring – Kidderminster, Redditch 

· Larger towns providing a focus for economic activity – Bromsgrove, Droitwich, 
Malvern 

· Market towns as a focus for rural regeneration – Pershore, Evesham, Bewdley, 
Stourport, Tenbury Wells, Upton-on-Severn.  

3.29 While the strategy recognises that Worcestershire’s economic strength lies in its diversity,   
it recognises that the recession has had a deep impact on the county’s economy, and that 
recovery has been slow and modest.   Cuts in public funding following CSR 2010 are 
expected to prolong the effects of recession, given the role of the public sector as a major 
employer and buyer of goods and services in Worcestershire.   

3.30 The strategy recognises that the recession has an impact on housing and regeneration in 
Worcestershire. The number of new housing starts has fallen significantly and it is noted that 
a failure to meet future housing need/demand, including affordable housing will have an 
impact on the county’s economy.  

3.31 Priorities identified in the LIP have a potentially important part to play in ensuring that the 
county attracts and retains the skilled workforce it needs to sustain its business base.  In 
broader terms, the LIP directly responds to the opportunities and needs identified in the 

Page 115



● Worcestershire Local Investment Plan ● 

Page 13 
 

spatial dimension of the economic strategy.     

Local Enterprise Partnership 

3.32 Worcestershire partners have successfully navigated the first stage in creating a new LEP for 
the county, having had its Worcestershire Works bid approved in December 2010.  The bid 
set out the following priorities for the partnership: 

· Deliver the strategic employment sites and related infrastructure (services, highways 
access, utilities etc) needed to secure sustainable economic growth and a low 
carbon economy. It has a strong focus on high technology and knowledge based 
industries eg. the early delivery of the Worcester Technology Park, Worcester Bosch 
facility and building on existing companies such as QinetiQ in Malvern.   

· Ensure there is the right support for business start up, business growth, business 
retention and inward investment. 

· Deliver the right infrastructure for businesses including broadband, improving access 
from the M5 to the Malvern Hills Science Park and QinetiQ, improvements to east 
west links and the A449.   

· Invest in skills, ensuring that provision is responsive to business needs, and relevant 
to future growth and business opportunities.   

3.33 While the precise role and function of LEPs is still emerging, the Worcestershire Works bid 
document sets out a number of commitments on housing and regeneration reflected in the 
LIP: 

· Ensure an approach to strategic planning that is responsive to the aspirations of 
Worcestershire’s communities and that helps to create a thriving environment for 
jobs and enterprise.     

· Continue a proactive joint approach to housing, particularly on innovative 
approaches to affordable housing, with locally initiated schemes to meet local 
needs.  

3.34 As the LEP develops its agenda, the delivery of LIP priorities should in turn have a significant 
role in enabling partners to create the conditions for the private sector to flourish in 
Worcestershire.   In addition to Worcestershire Works, North Worcestershire has also 
become part of the Birmingham and Solihull Local Enterprise Partnership, reflecting the 
strong economic ties across the boundaries of the component local authority areas.  With 
major sites including Longbridge straddling the border of the two LEP areas, developments 
in Worcestershire and on the Birmingham/Solihull side of the boundary are treated as 
common investment priorities.   

Local Transport Plan 3 

3.35 The efficiency and effectiveness of Worcestershire’s existing transport infrastructure and 
priorities for future investment in transport are critical to the county’s aspirations for 
housing and regeneration.   Following a period of consultation, Worcestershire’s LTP3 was 

Page 116



● Worcestershire Local Investment Plan ● 

Page 14 
 

published in February 2011.  It sets policies that will have a key part to play in the location, 
scale and type of development that takes place over the period from 2011 to 2026.    

3.36 The LTP3 will be followed by a sequence of 5 year delivery plans.  The County Council and its 
partners are clear that constraints on public funding for transport means tough choices 
about future investments, and the LTP3 points to the maintaining of existing transport 
infrastructure and services being the immediate priority for Worcestershire.  The plan 
identifies five major schemes and packages that are being considered for inclusion which 
would absorb the full allocation of LTP funding and require additional investment to be 
realised.  These cover measures to tackle current problems on the infrastructure network as 
well as measures to support future growth.  They include:   

· Evesham Abbey Bridge & Viaduct Replacement 

· Worcester Transport Strategy - Phase 1 

· Worcester Parkway Interchange 

· Kidderminster Town Package  

· Redditch Town Centre Package.  

3.37 LTP3 policies will influence the location, type and scale of future housing developments in 
Worcestershire, as well as wider economic development and regeneration schemes.   At the 
same time, many potential LIP investments will help to support the delivery of LTP3 
objectives, whether through contributions secured through developments (eg. Section 106 
agreements) or simply by encouraging living/working patterns that meet one or more of 
LTP3’s objectives.  The creation of the £560 million Local Sustainable Transport Fund, which 
will operate over a 4 year period to 2015, also has the potential to be an important source of 
investment for this type of initiative in Worcestershire.   

Worcestershire Infrastructure Delivery Plan  

3.38 Worcestershire County Council is currently leading the preparation of a County wide 
infrastructure delivery plan, scheduled for completion in spring 2011.  The delivery plan 
builds on work to comprehensively identify the county’s infrastructure requirements, and 
will provide the framework for the prioritising and then the delivery of the full spectrum of 
infrastructure investment (energy, water, telecoms, waste, access, transport, social and 
community).   

3.39 The LIP will feed into the final stages of preparing the county infrastructure delivery plan.  As 
far as possible, partners must seek to ensure that the infrastructure needs of key priorities 
for housing and regeneration are captured in the plan.  At the same time, reduced funding 
for investment infrastructure will in turn affect the deliverability of housing and 
regeneration schemes, and this will need to be reflected in the way that LIP priorities are 
taken forward.      

Capital and Asset Pathfinder  

3.40 Worcestershire is one of several pilot areas for the national Capital and Asset Pathfinder 

Page 117



● Worcestershire Local Investment Plan ● 

Page 15 
 

initiative.  This initiative has been designed to enable partners to explore new ways of 
pooling budgets to secure efficiency savings, primarily through the better management of 
buildings and other assets.  Partners have already undertaken a detailed asset mapping 
exercise, and the pathfinder may assist in identifying potential solutions to the use of 
publicly owned assets to support housing and regeneration schemes.   

3.41 The Pathfinder is required by the Department for Communities and Local Government to 
complete a long term strategy to establish a coordinated approach to service delivery and 
asset management by public sector partners on an area wide basis over a 10 year period.  
The strategy will identify reductions in the portfolio of estate properties, environmental 
sustainability objectives, reductions in revenue costs and the potential to draw on capital 
receipts.    

Key District Policies and Strategies  

3.42 The preparation of the LIP has been informed by an extensive range of district level policies 
and strategies agreed by partners in Bromsgrove, Malvern, Redditch, Wyre Forest, 
Worcester, and Wychavon.  These provide the detail about specific local priorities for 
housing, regeneration and economic development, but also local planning policies relating 
to the scale, type and location of affordable, social rented and special needs  

Core Strategies 

3.43 Core strategies set out the long term vision, objectives and key policies for development in 
Worcestershire.  In the north, Wyre Forest district already has in place an adopted core 
strategy while Bromsgrove and Redditch will issue draft core strategies for consultation early 
in January 2011.  The three south Worcestershire districts are in the process of completing 
the South Worcestershire Development Plan with preferred options scheduled to be issued 
in September 2011.   

3.44 Of particular importance to the LIP will be the policies set out by core strategies on housing 
provision, approaches to affordable housing, regeneration priorities and commercial 
development.  Priorities identified in the LIP will need to be consistent with policies set out 
in the core strategies, and the location, scale and characteristics of housing developments 
will be driven in part by local authority planning policies on developer contributions, the 
preferred composition of affordable housing schemes and the allocation of land for housing.    

3.45 Local Area Action Plans (AAPs) and a number of Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs) 
have also informed the preparation of the LIP. They are essential to understanding the mix 
of development that local authorities are seeking to deliver in specific localities.    

Local Housing Strategies  

3.46 In addition to the draft Worcestershire Housing Strategy, some local authorities have had in 
place district housing strategies which have informed both potential priorities for the LIP and 
their broader objectives for housing provision in their localities.   

3.47 Much of the work of planning authorities on housing is underpinned by a substantial 
evidence base on the dynamics of local housing markets, housing needs and the availability 

Page 118



● Worcestershire Local Investment Plan ● 

Page 16 
 

of land for future housing development.  This has informed the preparation of the LIP and 
includes the Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessments (SHLAAs), Housing Market 
Assessments (HMAs) and accessibility studies, together with a wider range of studies on 
employment land, retail provision etc.    

Economic Development and Regeneration Strategies  

3.48 A key criterion in identifying priorities in the LIP has been their connection to key local 
economic development and regeneration priorities in each of the 6 Worcestershire districts.  
In some cases (eg. Bromsgrove Economic Development Strategy, Redditch Economic 
Development Strategy) these set objectives covering the entire district.  In many  other cases 
(eg. Kidderminster Regeneration Prospectus, Worcester Library and History Centre project), 
these take the form of plans for specific places or sites in which housing and/or employment 
have a central part to play.  Alongside priorities for short term investment, the LIP also 
captures long term investment priorities that partners have identified for particular 
localities.   

3.49 For some of these schemes, initial investments in housing, with or without funding from the 
HCA, will help to unlock future development or ensure that a component of affordable 
housing is provided.  However, at this stage, several of the largest schemes are still at an 
early masterplanning stage and the role of the LIP is to help ensure that they are highlighted 
as priorities in advance of the submission of more detailed plans, the assembly of land and 
steps to secure funding packages. 

  

Page 119



● Worcestershire Local Investment Plan ● 

Page 17 
 

4. Worcestershire’s Story 
Key Points  

· A large and diverse county with a complex urban and rural settlement pattern including 
Worcester city, larger strategic centres (Redditch, Kidderminster), towns, rural villages and 
hamlets.   

· High quality living environments with historic built environment and an outstanding natural 
environment, including Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONBs). 

· Population of 556,500 after growth of 9% between 1991 and 2009, with higher than average 
proportion of population in the 50-70 age group, and lower than average proportion of young 
people.  

· Projected population growth of 12% to 2026, and a 50% increase in number of people over the 
age of 65 during the same period.  

· Significantly self-contained, with 75% of population living and working in Worcestershire 
although some areas (eg. Bromsgrove, Wyre Forest, Redditch) have substantial numbers of 
people out-commuting to other parts of West Midlands. 

· Worcestershire’s housing markets saw sustained, strong demand during the 2000s leading to 
problems of affordability across the county.    

· The recession had significant impact on housing markets, with falling sales and falling completion 
rates further exacerbating the shortage of affordable homes to buy and rent.   

· The draft Worcestershire Housing Strategy points to a need for more than 2,200 new affordable 
housing units a year to meet demand.   

· Population projections suggest a need for substantial new and remodelled provision for older 
people, including extra care and specialist care schemes.    

· Strong economic performance during 2000s with higher than average rates of entrepreneurship 
and lower than average levels of unemployment.   

· Higher than average proportion of resident population qualified to NVQ Levels 3 and 4.    
· Mixed economy with manufacturing the largest sector (16% of employment) and health, retail, 

education and other public sector also significant employers.  
· Strong innovation base including QinetiQ and Bosch, with strengths in defence, aerospace, 

security and related information technology.   
· Potential to expand high tech manufacturing through further development of business parks and 

investment in environmental technologies sector.   
· Recession has had adverse impact on business birth and survival rates, and seen increases in 

unemployment with more deprived areas of county most affected.   
· Areas of Kidderminster, Redditch, Stourport, Great Malvern and Worcester rank amongst most 

deprived 20% in the country, with nine areas in the top 10% most income deprived in England.   
· Good quality road infrastructure with motorway network providing efficient access to wider UK 

network but rail under used and requiring further investment in facilities and capacity.  Some key 
pinch points on road infrastructure require substantial investment.   

· Need for further investment to extend coverage of broadband to rural towns and other 
settlements, particularly as superfast broadband starts to be rolled out.   
 

Worcestershire’s Key Characteristics  

4.1 Worcestershire is a large and diverse county, noted in the UK for its historic built 
environment and an outstanding natural environment.  The key features of the county’s 
geography, economy and population have played a critical part in shaping its housing 
markets, and in turn they provide the context for the priorities partners have identified in 
the Local Investment Plan.   

 

Page 120



● Worcestershire Local Investment Plan ● 

Page 18 
 

Worcestershire’s Geography 

4.2 Worcestershire covers a total area of 173,529 hectares extending across seven local 
authority areas comprising Bromsgrove, Malvern Hills Redditch, Worcester City, Wychavon 
and Wyre Forest, together with the County Council area as a whole.   A population density of 
3.2 people per hectare reflects an area in which the city of Worcester, larger towns 
(Redditch and Kidderminster1), towns (Bromsgrove, Droitwich, Evesham and Malvern, 
Pershore, Stourport, Upton, Tenbury, Bewdley) and smaller village/hamlet settlements are 
interspersed with significant tracts of sparsely populated rural landscape.    

Figure 4-1: Worcestershire’s Settlement Pattern 

 
Source: Worcestershire Local Economic Assessment 2010-11 

4.3 The county’s high quality living environments have been an important factor in the 
trajectory of its housing markets during the past decade.  Many areas of the three northern 
districts have seen strong demand for housing resulting from in migration from the 
Birmingham conurbation.  While the south is more geographically self-contained, centring 
on the role of the city of Worcester, southern districts have seen strong, sustained levels of 
demand for housing, driven in part by urban and rural settings which have proved to be a 
strong draw for house buyers, particularly in older age groups.     

4.4 Worcestershire’s geography is an important driver of both future opportunity and need in 
housing and the wider economic development and regeneration of the area.  Despite the 

                                                
1 Worcester, Redditch and Kidderminster were designated as Worcestershire’s Strategic Centres in the West Midlands 

Regional Spatial Strategy.   

Page 121



● Worcestershire Local Investment Plan ● 

Page 19 
 

recession, upward pressure on house prices and land values has contributed to significant 
affordability problems and constrained development (housing and employment land).  
Substantial green belt allocations together with tight restraints on rural development have 
created challenging conditions for the growth of settlements and the construction of new 
housing stock.   Ensuring access to housing in this complex environment of market and 
planning constraints will remain a long term priority for the county.   

Population  

4.5 The population of Worcestershire was estimated to stand at 556,000 in 2009.  The County 
has seen growth of just under 9 per cent in its population since 1991, above average for the 
West Midlands but on par with the national growth rate.  Growth rates fell between 2001 
and 2009, although there were significant differences amongst the districts over this period 
with Bromsgrove in particular having seen continued strong growth rates from in-migration.  
Rurality is especially pronounced in the south; more than 40% of residents of both 
Wychavon and Malvern Hills districts live in rural villages and hamlets.    

Table 4-1: Key Population Data for Worcestershire  

 Population (2009 
mid year 
estimate) 

% of 
Worcestershire 
total 

Change 2001-
09  

% out 
commuting 
(2001 
census) 

Projected 
Growth (2006-
26 

Bromsgrove 93,400 17% 6.2% 58% 16.3% 
Malvern Hills 75,000 13% 3.8% 42% 11.8% 
Redditch 78,700 14% -0.1% 39% 9.8% 
Worcester City 94,700 17% 1.4% 32% 7.3% 
Wychavon 116,700 21% 3.2% 43% 14.6% 
Wyre Forest 98,100 18% 1.3% 36% 9.0% 
Worcestershire 556,500 100% 2.6% 42% 11.8% 
Source: Worcestershire Local Economic Assessment 2010-11 
Data sources include 2001 Census, ONS mid-year estimates 

4.6 While 75 per cent of residents live and work in Worcestershire, commuting is a key feature 
for living-working patterns in many parts of the county and the economic connections it has 
with other areas.  As an attractive location for commuters, the three northern districts in 
particular have seen significant increases in travel to work into the Birmingham conurbation 
over the past decade.  Only 42 per cent of Bromsgrove’s residents work in the district, 
whereas 68% of Worcester’s population also work in and around the city.  The city forms 
(with Malvern) one of two specific travel to work areas within the County, the other being 
Kidderminster.   

4.7 The age structure of the county’s population and expectations about the way it might 
change are important drivers of the scale and nature of housing that the area will need to 
provide in future.   Population estimates for 2009 clearly show that the county is over-
represented in older age groups (particularly 50-70 year age group) but underrepresented in 
younger age groups.   This is a critical issue both for Worcestershire’s future workforce and 
the pressure it places on services (increased demand for health care, smaller tax base), and 
it needs to be addressed in the approach to investment in housing.   

Page 122



● Worcestershire Local Investment Plan ● 

Page 20 
 

 Figure 4-2: Worcestershire’s Population Profile 

 
Source:Draft Local Economic Assessment, 2010-11.  ONS mid year population estimates, 2009 

4.8 In common with many areas of the UK, Worcestershire can expect to see significant further 
growth in the number of older residents in the county over the next decade.  Population 
projections data suggest overall population growth of 9 per cent to 2031, but an increase in 
the number of people over the age of 65 which exceeds 70%. Over the same period, the 
county’s working age population is projected to fall slightly. These trends have significant 
implications for the size of the County’s future workforce and for the provision of public 
services in the area.    

Page 123



● Worcestershire Local Investment Plan ● 

Page 21 
 

Figure 4-3: Population Projections for Worcestershire, 2008-31 

 
Source:  Annual Population projections (2008 based). ONS Nomis (www.nomisweb.co.uk) © Crown 
Copyright material is reproduced with the permission of the controller of HMSO 

4.9 Offering the right housing in the right places will have an important part to play in attracting 
more working age people to live and work in the county in the long term.     

Worcestershire’s Economy  

4.10 Worcestershire’s economy thrived throughout much of the 2000s.  Many parts of the county 
have comparatively high rates of entrepreneurship and business formation, a healthy mix of 
service and manufacturing industries and lower than average unemployment and economic 
inactivity.  The median gross annual earnings of residents in 2009 stood at £25,500, slightly 
below the England average but higher than that of the West Midlands.   

4.11 Higher than average skill levels amongst its resident population are also a feature of many 
parts of the county, with significant proportions of young people entering further and higher 
education and a generally well qualified resident population.   Ensuring that the county’s 
economy continues to shift from lower to higher value business activity remains a priority 
for partners.   

4.12 Manufacturing remains the largest employer of people who work in Worcestershire. Around 
16% of the workforce is employed in the sector, with health, retail, education and other 
public sector employment accounting for a significant majority of all employment.  The 
county has a strong innovation base: QinetiQ at Malvern is a globally recognised player in 
the development of innovative technologies, while the Malvern Hills Science Park, and 
emerging developments at Bromsgrove Technology Park and Longbridge are expected to 
provide a substantial infrastructure for high tech business to grow along a corridor which 
broadly follows the A38.   Emerging markets for environmental technologies are seen as a 
key area for development by partners, while defence, aerospace, security and related 
information technology are identified as key industries in the LEP proposal.   

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

0-14 15-29 30-49 50-64 65-84 85+ 

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge
 o

f T
ot

al
 P

op
ul

at
io

n 

Age Group

2008 2021 2031

Page 124



● Worcestershire Local Investment Plan ● 

Page 22 
 

4.13 The rural economy remains an important part of the way that parts of Worcestershire earn 
their living.  The agricultural sector, including food and drink production, is a significant 
source of employment for rural towns and villages, and the sector has been identified as a 
priority in the LEP proposal.  In Malvern Hills and Wychavon districts, agricultural businesses 
comprise 14% and 10% of the business base respectively.  Ensuring that affordable housing 
problems are addressed in rural areas, and addressing low rates of public transport use are 
identified as key challenges for rural Worcestershire.  

4.14 The visitor economy is also an important contributor to Worcestershire’s prosperity.  Around 
19,000 people are employed in the visitor economy across the County, representing 8% of 
the total workforce. Alongside well known destinations including the West Midlands Safari 
Park, Severn Valley Railway, the Malvern Hills (Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty) and the 
historic city of Worcester, much of the County offers a mix of attractions to visitors including 
its countryside, canal network, market towns and rural villages.    

4.15 The county also has a broadly strong skills base, reflected in a resident population which has 
a higher than average proportion of residents with more advanced NVQ Level 3 and 4 
qualifications.  Ensuring that more of these people choose to remain and work in the county 
is a key issue for partners.  However, there are areas of the County where skills attainment 
level and the take up of training are particularly low, and partners must continue to support 
a range of measures to secure improvement in these locations.   

4.16 The recession has clearly bitten into Worcestershire’s economy, although the county has 
generally fared better than other parts of the UK.  Over the period since 2008, business birth 
rates have fallen and business failure rates have risen, with knock on effects in the form of 
rising unemployment.  With around 26% of Worcestershire’s workforce employed in the 
public sector, cuts in public spending are likely to trigger further and substantial 
redundancies over the next few years.  The recession has led to an increase in the 
proportion of young people (18-24) who are unemployed, with Worcestershire now having a 
higher than average number of people in this category following the deep recession.   

4.17 The recession’s effects have been most pronounced in those areas of the county which 
already faced higher than average levels of deprivation, unemployment and disadvantage, 
and this pattern is set to continue as public sector unemployment rises.  Areas of Redditch, 
Worcester and Wyre Forest rank amongst the most deprived 10% nationally in the 2007 
Index of Multiple Deprivation.  Although deprivation tends to be concentrated in urban 
areas, a small number of rural areas of Wyre Forest are also ranked amongst the most 
deprived 20% in the country.  Around 6% (36,000 people) of Worcestershire’s population 
live in households with a median income less than 60% of the England average, a key 
indicator of poverty.     

4.18 The LIP has an important enabling role to play in securing sustainable economic growth in 
Worcestershire.  The priorities partners have identified will help in the process of targeting 
resources towards economic opportunities for the county and in tackling key problems that 
will hinder economic progress, notably the need to provide the right mix of housing and 
employment to meet the needs of businesses and residents.      

 

Page 125



● Worcestershire Local Investment Plan ● 

Page 23 
 

Table 4-2: Key Economic Data for Worcestershire  

 Largest employment 
sector (% of 
workforce, 2008) 

Business 
births per 
10,000 of 
population 
over 16 
(2008) 

Economic 
activity rate 
(April 2009-
March 
2010) 

Claimant 
Count 
Unemployme
nt Rate 
(September 
2010) 

% of 
population 
with NVQ 
Level 4 + 
(2009) 

Bromsgrove Education (13%) 63 86% 3% 30% 
Malvern Hills Manufacturing (15%) 61 82% 2.2% 33% 
Redditch Manufacturing (25%) 51 76% 4.2% 19% 
Worcester City Health (16%) 45 80% 3.6% 30% 
Wychavon Manufacturing (19%) 56 82% 2.4% 33% 
Wyre Forest Manufacturing (18%) 47 81% 3.6% 22% 
Worcestershire Manufacturing (16%) 54 81% 3.2% 28% 
Source: Worcestershire Local Economic Assessment 2010-11 
Data sources:  Annual Business Inquiry 2008, Office for National Statistics 
Claimant Count Rate, Office for National Statistics, 2010 

Worcestershire’s Infrastructure  

4.19 The performance of Worcestershire’s economy and the quality of life of its residents is 
strongly influenced by its infrastructure.  Transport provision, land and property, ICT 
infrastructure, social and community infrastructure and green space all contribute 
significantly to the way that Worcestershire functions.  Future investment in housing, 
economic development and regeneration needs to be underpinned by the right level of 
investment to improve and maintain a strong infrastructure in the county  

4.20 Generally, Worcestershire has an extensive and effective highways infrastructure.  The three 
motorways that run through Worcestershire (M5, M42, M50) provide good north-south and 
east-west connections, while major urban areas tend to be well served by an effective 
principal road network.  However, further investment to tackle pinch points on the road 
network (eg. Worcester southern link) and make critical improvements (eg. Abbey Bridge, 
Evesham) will be essential to maintaining the standard of the network and increasing its 
capacity where further growth occurs.   

4.21 Use of the county’s rail network has not reached the level sought by partners.  This is partly 
attributed to the quality of services and facilities on the network, with links to Birmingham, 
Gloucester, Bristol and South Wales seen as requiring improvement, including the 
development of the Worcester Parkway.  The capacity of the network around Birmingham to 
absorb increased rail traffic remains a key constraint on the growth in the number of 
services into other parts of the West Midlands.   

4.22 North Worcestershire has a good supply of employment land to meet demand in the long 
term.  Employment land reviews for Bromsgrove, Redditch and Wyre Forest have indicated 
that each district has a range of allocated employment sites to accommodate growth in 
demand for office and warehousing uses, and a supply to meet replacement requirements 
for the manufacturing sector.  There are a number of sites (eg. 24Ha former British Sugar 
site, Kidderminster) earmarked for regeneration.   

 

Page 126



● Worcestershire Local Investment Plan ● 

Page 24 
 

4.23 South Worcestershire’s draft joint core strategy identifies a shortfall of around 61 Ha of 
employment land for the period between 2006 and 2026.  The allocation of additional land is 
required in each of the 3 districts, with Worcester city requiring the most substantial 
increase in supply.  Further development of the Bosch operation in Worcester and the future 
expansion of QinetiQ are among the factors expected to generate strong demand for 
employment land.   

4.24 The quality and coverage of the county’s broadband infrastructure will be an increasingly 
important issue in the growth of its economy.  While provision in urban areas is generally 
good, partners have given priority to improving broadband infrastructure in rural towns and 
settlements.  With the roll out of superfast broadband expected to commence in 2011, 
partners are gearing up to ensure that maximum access to the network is achieved in all 
parts of the county.   

4.25 Worcestershire’s green infrastructure is both an increasingly important source of 
employment (environmental economy) and a key factor in the characteristics that have 
given much of the county a good reputation for the quality of life it offers.  An estimated 
91,000 people work in the environmental economy in sectors ranging from environmental 
technologies to tourism.   These industries are seen as a vital part of the future economy of 
Worcestershire, and partners are seeking to invest in ways which will support their growth.  
At the same time, striking a balance between pressure to develop in attractive edge of 
town/rural areas with the need to protect the natural environment and areas of outstanding 
natural beauty is a key challenge for planners in the county, and one which is reflected in the 
LIP.   

Worcestershire’s Housing Markets  

4.26 In a large county covering an area of 1,471 sq km, Worcestershire’s housing markets are 
characterised by a northern area which has a strong relationship with Birmingham, Solihull 
and the Black Country and by a more economically self-contained area in the south in which 
the growth and strong economic performance of Worcester City has been a key factor in 
determining the size and value of local housing markets.   

4.27 The draft Local Economic Assessment for Worcestershire (2010-11) identifies eight  housing 
markets in the county highlighted in the map below.     

  

Page 127



● Worcestershire Local Investment Plan ● 

Page 25 
 

 

Figure 4-4: Worcestershire’s Housing Market Areas  

 
Source: Worcestershire Local Economic Assessment, 2010-11 

4.28 Worcestershire’s housing markets have been through a sustained period of buoyant demand 
during the 2000s.   Between August 2001 and July 2010, average prices in the county rose 
from £100,000 to £167,000, peaking at £190,000 in December 2007.  Detached house prices 
almost doubled between August 2001 and December 2007.  Over a decade which saw 
unprecedented rates of growth in house prices, the six Worcestershire districts contributed 
to the southern housing market area (HMA) of the West Midlands experiencing the highest 
price inflation of any of the region’s HMAs.   

4.29 However, the housing sector in Worcestershire has been particularly hard hit by the 
recession.  Sales have fallen dramatically from their peak in 2006, while the completion of 
new homes also fell sharply after 2007 as house builders bore the brunt of the credit crunch.  
In a county in which lower quartile affordability ratios are significantly higher than both the 
national and West Midlands averages, the recession has further exacerbated the impact of 
affordability problems on Worcestershire’s economy.    

 

Page 128



● Worcestershire Local Investment Plan ● 

Page 26 
 

4.30 Despite the recession, one of the main effects of the recent period of strong demand is that 
Worcestershire now has some of the highest value housing markets in the West Midlands.  
Local housing markets within parts of south Worcestershire have some of the highest cost 
housing in the West Midlands, with prices having risen particularly sharply during the mid 
2000s. For example, Malvern Hills has seen substantial price increases allied to higher than 
average increases in average household income in recent years.  This reflects a combination 
of the area’s AONB status, a reputation for its high quality of life and high levels of well paid 
knowledge workers with the location of QinetiQ in the district. 

4.31 In common with much of the UK, price inflation has resulted in significant affordability 
problems in Worcestershire, and this has become an important issue for the county’s 
economy.  Data for 2009 shows a county wide lower quartile affordability ratio of 7.3, well 
above the regional (5.8) and England (6.3) averages.  The affordability issue is most 
pronounced in those areas which have seen strong rates of in-migration in recent years (eg. 
Wychavon and Malvern Hills) in the south of the county, but even in lower cost local housing 
markets (eg. Redditch), the lower quartile income-price ratio still stands at 6.4, ie above 
average.   This issue reflects the characteristics of local housing markets in an area which is 
seen as a desirable place to live with good standards of living, good quality services and easy 
access to large employment centres in both the Midlands (Birmingham) and, increasingly, 
the south east.   

4.32 Affordability problems are especially acute in the starter homes market.  For South 
Worcestershire, housing market data point to a mismatch between incomes and house 
prices which is especially acute in the family starter homes market (2 bedroom).   At the 
same time, Worcester, Droitwich and Evesham have been identified as having the biggest 
current and projected shortages of affordable housing.  Redditch and Wyre Forest have the 
biggest stock of more affordable property with 24.2% and 25.7% of properties sold in 
2008/09 for under £120,000 compared to just 5% in Pershore.    

4.33 A key outcome of high housing costs has been difficulties for particular population groups in 
securing a foothold on the housing ladder and their ability to climb the ladder.  Evidence 
generated for the strategic housing needs assessment for South Worcestershire underlines 
particular problems faced by young families seeking to purchase a first house or rent a 
property, and those with expanding/growing families.  For those who cannot afford to buy 
property, the challenge is exacerbated by a supply shortage of property for rental in the 
£500-600 per month category.  For Worcestershire’s economic development, this is an issue 
both for the growth and prosperity of its town and for the sustainability of rural 
communities, where prospects of living and working in the same location are severely 
restricted by a lack of affordable property and limited employment opportunities.    

4.34 High levels of demand for housing in some areas of Worcestershire have been fuelled by its 
position as an attractive location for commuters.  Data for earnings in Bromsgrove show that 
resident average earnings are £8,000 higher than workplace earnings, underlining the extent 
to which the area has attracted well paid commuters who are working in Birmingham and 
the surrounding area.   However, the pattern is not replicated across the County.  While 
parts of Wyre Forest have seen increases in out-commuting, this has not been matched by 
strong demand for new homes in the district, and house builders have shown comparatively 
limited interest in the area.  

Page 129



● Worcestershire Local Investment Plan ● 

Page 27 
 

4.35 The high level of in-migration to Worcestershire has presented a complex challenge for 
south Worcestershire’s housing markets, where evidence suggests that in-migration by 
buyers with the financial means to purchase family homes is crowding out potential local 
buyers on lower incomes. Travel to work data produced by the West Midlands Regional 
Observatory (March 2010) show that in managerial and professional occupations, 
Worcestershire has a very strong relationship with Birmingham. Mobility within local 
housing markets is further restricted by a tendency (identified in the Strategic Housing 
Needs Assessment) for older people to retain family housing because of a shortage of stock 
and development aimed at ageing residents.   

4.36 Local housing market areas faced with high demand have been constrained in their ability to 
develop new housing, although the pattern has not been a consistent one across the county.  
For example, Worcester’s geographic expansion has been bounded by controls on new 
development on the edge of the town.  Clearly, market forces have also played a critical role 
in supply side issues, with a preference for higher value developments and apartment 
schemes inevitably overriding pressure for more affordable supply in lower value locations.   

4.37 Despite these constraints, the county has a good recent record of delivering new homes, 
reflecting the commercially attractive environment it continues to offer private sector 
developers and Registered Providers.  During the 2000s, the county achieved a house 
building rate of 1,900 units a year on average.   However, the recession has resulted in a 
marked fall in new completions, and the county fell well short of the Local Area Agreement 
target for completions in 2008-09.   While there are some signs of recovery in the market, it 
has been slow to emerge and continued economic uncertainty makes it a difficult climate in 
which to bring forward new housing schemes.    

4.38 Following the decision to revoke the Regional Spatial Strategy for the West Midlands, 
housing targets will be set by the core strategies currently being produced by each of the 
county’s district authorities.   However, maintaining the level of new build required to meet 
demand is a key challenge for partners.  The draft housing strategy for Worcestershire 
indicates that 2,277 additional affordable homes are needed each year to keep pace with 
demand.  The housing strategy also points to the need for sustained investment in new 
housing stock to meet demand from older people, including extra care and specialist care 
provision.  Projected increases in the number of people over the age of 65 also require a 
remodelling of the existing stock to offer more aspirational homes for purchase and rent. 

  

Page 130



● Worcestershire Local Investment Plan ● 

Page 28 
 

5. Strategic Priorities for Worcestershire 
5.1 This section of the LIP sets out a series of twelve strategic priorities for Worcestershire.  

These priorities have been identified as critical to shaping the long-term future of the 
county, spanning economic development and regeneration, housing and the principal 
infrastructure requirements to underpin the place shaping process.  They have been 
informed by the analysis in the preceding section and by the aspirations already identified 
across Worcestershire in strategies ranging from town centre regeneration plans to the 
newly formed Local Enterprise Partnership proposals.   

5.2 The priorities contribute to the delivery of three overarching objectives.  These are:  

· First, creating the environment for Worcestershire’s businesses to sustain and 
generate new employment.  During a period which has seen rising unemployment 
UK wide, there is a need for a period of sustained private sector job creation in 
Worcestershire to tackle the impact of recession and expected falls in public sector 
employment.   There is a particular need to continue generating more knowledge-
intensive, high value employment in the county, investing in the sites, premises and 
skills and supporting measures that enable partners to continue the transition from 
lower to higher value business activity.  A supply of the right sites and premises and 
the broader attractiveness of the area to business investors are critical.    

· Second, providing housing that meets the needs of all communities.  Worcestershire 
needs to provide a choice of housing that meets the needs of all its resident 
communities and its employers, wherever they are located.  The importance of 
developing more affordable housing options is widely recognised, with many areas 
facing particular shortages of 2-3 bedroom family homes. Partners have also 
signalled the priority they continue to attach to the provision of social rented 
housing, while the provision of new and improved special needs accommodation, 
including supported housing for vulnerable people, will continue to be a key issue 
for partners.  To create employment and generate wealth, Worcestershire needs to 
ensure that it attracts and retains a workforce with the right skills in the right 
locations, and housing has an important part to play in achieving this objective.   

· Third, developing Worcestershire’s infrastructure.  The drive to generate 
employment and secure the county’s future workforce has to be underpinned and 
enabled by high quality infrastructure.  There are already well established strategic 
infrastructure requirements across Worcestershire, while future development will 
require new investment to upgrade and add to infrastructure provision.   These  
range from investment in maintaining and developing the highways infrastructure to 
Worcestershire’s ability to provide the social and community infrastructure (eg. 
schools, community buildings) that is essential for well functioning communities.   
Partners are now in the process of determining their future requirements for 
infrastructure through the Worcestershire wide strategic infrastructure delivery 
planning process.    

5.3 Each of the twelve priorities are described in more detail in the remainder of this section.  
Identified within each priority are some of the individual schemes that partners believe are 
required to deliver change. These schemes are presented on an area by area basis at the 

Page 131



● Worcestershire Local Investment Plan ● 

Page 29 
 

conclusion of Section 5. 

5.4 As the LIP is updated over time, partners will clearly refine their lists of individual schemes to 
reflect the delivery of sites and schemes, new investment opportunities that emerge and the 
availability of public and private sector funding. 

Figure 5-1: Worcestershire LIP : Summary of Strategic Priorities  

 

• Priority 1 : Developing high growth employment sites 
• Priority 2 : Creating and sustaining employment in 

Worcestershire’s main centres 
• Priority 3 : Supporting the economic sustainability of 

Worcestershire’s towns 

Creating the Conditions 
to Sustain and Generate 

Employment 

• Priority 4 : Developing housing to support high growth 
employment sites and main employment centres

• Priority 5 : Supporting housing markets in 
Worcestershire’s towns 

• Priority 6 : Delivering sustainable rural housing
• Priority 7 : Meeting special needs 
• Priority 8 : Improving the existing housing stock

Providing the Right 
Housing for All 
Communities

• Priority 9 : Strengthening the highways infrastructure 
• Priority 10 : Improving public transport 
• Priority 11 : Developing social, community and green 

infrastructure
• Priority 12 : Managing Worcestershire’s resources 

Developing 
Worcestershire’s 

Infrastructure

 

Creating the conditions to sustain and generate employment  

Priority 1: Developing High Growth Employment Sites 

5.5 There are a number of key employment sites across the county which are critical to 
delivering a high volume of employment opportunities, particularly in higher skilled, 
knowledge intensive sectors of the economy.  Partners will continue to invest in these sites 
to secure their long term future, as well as bringing forward other sites through LDF 
processes.  Clearly, the release of some key sites may be determined by the availability of 
investment (including infrastructure investment), and partners will need to continue to be 
flexible in their approach to future supply.   

5.6 Key high growth employment sites for Worcestershire, on which planning consents have 
already been granted, include:  

· Enabling the development of Worcester Technology Park, including provision for the 
expansion of Worcester Bosch, is a key priority for the County.  Proposals to develop 

Page 132



● Worcestershire Local Investment Plan ● 

Page 30 
 

a 30 Ha site to the south east of J6 of the M5 in Wychavon district will provide a new 
headquarters and R&D location for Bosch Thermotechnology, and in turn anchor the 
business park as a nationally recognised hub for knowledge intensive business 
activity and low carbon technologies.  This development is a key scheme for 
Worcestershire’s Local Enterprise Partnership and is the subject of a bid to the 
Regional Growth Fund.   

· Continued investment in Malvern Hills Science Park following the completion of 
phase 3 of the development in 2009.  The site’s proximity to QinetiQ and the 
growing number of technology driven businesses operating on the site make it a 
primary location for higher value business activity in Worcestershire.  Supporting 
future business activity driven by QinetiQ is also central to partners’ aspirations for 
the economy.   

· Support for the future development of other locations on or around the A38 corridor 
for technology intensive business activity, including Bromsgrove Technology Park 
and potential development of the Longbridge Technology Park as part of the wider 
regeneration of the former Rover site at Longbridge.   The Longbridge development 
is key priority for the Birmingham and Solihull Local Enterprise Partnership, and a 
£22 million bid for Regional Growth Fund support has been submitted by St. 
Modwen, the developer.  The scheme has the potential to create up to 4,000 new 
jobs, many of which are likely to be taken up by residents of North Worcestershire.    

5.7 Together, these sites broadly follow the A38 corridor extending from the southern 
Birmingham conurbation through to Worcester and Malvern.  Over the past decade this has 
been identified as a key area for the growth of high technology industry in the West 
Midlands, and further investment in these sites is a priority for the County.   

Priority 2: Creating and Sustaining Employment in Worcestershire’s 
Main Centres 

5.8 The city of Worcester and the towns of Kidderminster and Redditch will continue to function 
as key centres for employment in the county.2  Partners are seeking to invest in each of 
these locations to generate new employment (new and improved sites and premises, 
improved environment for existing businesses), sustain existing employment and ensure 
they are linked to supporting investment in housing and infrastructure:   

· In Worcester, expansion of the University of Worcester and Worcester College of 
Technology have been earmarked as important catalysts for generating additional 
skilled employment in the city.  Growth of the city’s economy will be fuelled by both 
knowledge intensive industry and a service sector in which the visitor economy 
makes a particularly important contribution.  The exciting £60 million development 
of the Worcester Library and History Centre will be a further stimulus for 
regeneration and employment in the city.   

· For Kidderminster, there are opportunities for major new mixed use developments 

                                                
2  Worcester, Redditch and Kidderminster were defined as the County’s three strategic centres in the West Midlands 

Regional Spatial Strategy.   

Page 133



● Worcestershire Local Investment Plan ● 

Page 31 
 

in the town identified in the ReWyre prospectus for regeneration.   The town centre 
is the focus of a 30 year vision to restructure the economy and revitalise the area, 
with a strategy in place to significantly improve retail and leisure provision and 
develop new office space, allied to investment to improve the living environment.   
Bromsgrove Street and Worcester Street, together with the Weavers Wharf area, 
will be the focal point for redevelopment.  There are also major opportunities for 
employment development on the former British Sugar site and the wider South 
Kidderminster Business and Nature Park initiative, connecting the Severn Valley 
Railway and the surrounding countryside to an employment location that could 
create up to 2,000 new jobs on the strategically important Kidderminster-Stourport 
corridor.  Plans for the further development of two key tourism assets - West 
Midlands Safari and Leisure Park and the Severn Valley Railway – are also seen as 
opportunities to create new employment for the area.   

· The challenge for Redditch is one of economic restructuring, with investment in 
housing and regeneration needed to sustain and further develop the town’s position 
as an economic centre.   Large scale redevelopment of the town centre and its 
infrastructure is a key priority for the district and the subject of a number of 
Supplementary Planning Documents.   The strategy for the town centre includes new 
mixed use residential, retail, cultural and leisure development and significantly 
improved transport provision and public realm.  Proposals include major expansion 
of retail space to complement the Kingfisher Centre, the development of new office 
space and residential units in the Prospect Hill area and a remodelling of parts of the 
town centre (particularly Church Green) to improve the image of the area and 
encourage a more dynamic evening and night time economy.  There are also 
proposals to regenerate Redditch’s district centres, with Church Hill having been 
identified by the Council as a pioneer scheme to secure long term improvements in 
retail provision, residential and leisure uses in these areas of the town.    

Priority 3: Supporting the Economic Sustainability of 
Worcestershire’s Towns  

5.9 Ensuring the economic sustainability of each of the County’s towns has been identified as a 
key thematic priority by partners.  While the towns are marked by their diverse 
characteristics and needs, they are united by the important functions they perform as local 
service centres, their contribution to sustaining vibrant local communities and their 
economic roles as places for employment and tourism.    

· Alongside the presence of Longbridge and Bromsgrove Technology Park, investment 
in Bromsgrove town centre is a priority for the district to reinforce the key economic 
role the town plays in the area. Further improvements to retail provision in what is 
already an attractive town centre and the development of new, small office space to 
meet demand from small businesses will generate new employment.  Proposals for 
Bromsgrove town centre include a potentially innovative high density residential 
complex (Recreation Road site) of up to 100 units targeted at retired people with on 
site facilities such as shops, restaurants, services and communal facilities.    

· Alongside major locations for high value employment around the town, further 
investment to maintain and improve Malvern town centre is seen as a priority by 

Page 134



● Worcestershire Local Investment Plan ● 

Page 32 
 

partners.  This includes the quality of its retail provision, the availability of office 
space to meet demand in what has proved to be a popular location for SMEs and 
continued investment to maintain a high quality public realm, in turn strengthening 
the town’s role as a visitor destination.    

· There is a dual need in Droitwich Spa to secure new employment to enhance its role 
as a local commercial centre and to enable it to fulfil its wider market town role in 
rural regeneration.  Investment in new, small office accommodation will help to 
build on its platform of service sector employment.  Restoration of the canal 
network is a key regeneration priority for the town, contributing to its continued 
ability to attract visitors to the area.  This is expected to create new development 
opportunities for the town, and attract investment in local hotels and other visitor 
facilities.       

· Following floods in 2007/8, a priority for Evesham has been clearing and dredging 
the flood plain in the town.  Alongside this, regeneration of the riverside area 
includes developing the Evesham Water Sports Centre, and a range of path and 
walkway improvements.  Support to local businesses during the construction phase 
of the Abbey Bridge replacement is seen as a key priority for the local economy.   
The Market Town Partnership prioritises the promotion of Evesham and the wider 
Vale area to retain and attract inward investment. This focuses on presenting 
Evesham as a business and tourism destination.  New investment opportunities from 
the Vale business park, restoration of the Regal cinema and proposals for major new 
investment at Evesham Country Park have also been identified as local priorities.   

· Stourport’s close proximity to Kidderminster and the importance of the South 
Kidderminster Business and Nature Park initiative means that the northern side of 
the town will have a key role to play in providing employment.   For Pershore, Upton 
and Tenbury, continuing to invest in attractive town centre environments and 
provide a good supply of small office space are common priorities. In Pershore, 
there are opportunities to expand the Keytec 7 business park.    

Page 135



●
 W

or
ce

st
er

sh
ir

e 
Lo

ca
l I

nv
es

tm
en

t P
la

n 
●

 

Pa
ge

 3
3 

 

Fi
gu

re
 5

-2
: C

re
at

in
g 

th
e 

En
vi

ro
nm

en
t f

or
 W

or
ce

st
er

sh
ir

e’
s 

Bu
si

ne
ss

es
 to

 S
us

ta
in

 a
nd

 G
en

er
at

e 
N

ew
 E

m
pl

oy
m

en
t  

 
So

ur
ce

: D
ig

ita
l M

ap
pi

ng
 S

ol
ut

io
ns

 fr
om

 D
ot

te
d 

Ey
es

, ©
 C

ro
w

n 
Co

py
rig

ht
, A

ll 
ri

gh
ts

 re
se

rv
ed

. L
ic

en
ce

 n
um

be
r 1

00
01

99
18

 

 

Page 136



● Worcestershire Local Investment Plan ● 

Page 34 
 

Providing the Right Housing for All Communities  

Priority 4: Housing to Support High Growth Employment Sites and 
Main Employment Centres  

5.10 An overwhelming majority of the sites and schemes identified for housing across 
Worcestershire have the potential to contribute to the provision of homes that will support 
aspirations for employment growth in Worcester and the county’s major employment 
locations.  This is about offering the right housing product in the right place, at the right 
time.    

5.11 It is essential to provide a good, long term supply of housing located close to or within 
reasonable travelling distance of the main locations for employment growth, including 
Worcester city, Kidderminster, Redditch and the specific sites identified as the focal points 
for future employment generation in the county.  It is particularly important that, where 
there is potential to significantly increase employment over the next few years, this is not 
constrained by a lack of housing to accommodate an expanding workforce.  Wyre Forest’s 
adopted core strategy, the draft core strategies for other districts and the draft LTP3 all 
underline the importance of new employment development taking place in sustainable 
locations, where public transport and short journeys are the available best option for travel.   

5.12 Partners have identified a wide range of schemes which together would deliver significant 
and sustained increases in the supply of homes to underpin Worcestershire’s economic 
growth aspirations.  Among the key locations identified by the LIP are:   

· Growth in Worcester city’s housing stock, where there is strong demand for 
significant new development to take place over the next decade and beyond.   This 
growth in housing supply, including a substantial component of affordable property, 
is vital to support employment growth in the city and in surrounding settlements, 
including Malvern.  It will play an important role in underpinning future economic 
growth in Worcester, a key strategic priority for the County’s economy.  New 
housing development to accommodate growth in both Worcester and Greater 
Malvern is seen as particularly important to the planned expansion of Worcester 
Bosch, and both the local authorities and Registered Provides will have a key part to 
play in ensuring that the company has access to the workforce it needs.    

· Large scale proposed developments in Kidderminster, which are essential both in 
maintaining the town’s status as an important employment centre and in the 
regeneration of the town centre and surrounding area.  The adopted core strategy 
identifies a need for 4,000 net additional dwellings from 2006-2026, with 60% of this 
to be delivered in Kidderminster.  There are plans for major housing developments 
in the Churchfields regeneration area, which will deliver around 350 units, including 
a key affordable housing development of 97 units on Hurcott Road which help to 
unlock the wider development of the area.  There is potential to develop a further 
300 houses on the former British Sugar site, which is currently the subject of a 
masterplanning exercise.   

· There are large scale development opportunities of several key sites in Redditch, 

Page 137



● Worcestershire Local Investment Plan ● 

Page 35 
 

including the Brockhill East site (825 units), development at Brockhill West (167 
units), land to rear of Alexandra Hospital (145 units) and the Woodrow strategic 
sites (Dingleside Middle School & Playing Fields, Auxerre Avenue, 220 units).  These 
would deliver around 60% of the net additional dwellings requirement for the 
district identified in the draft core strategy. 

· Both the Longbridge development and the Bromsgrove Technology Park reinforce 
the position of Bromsgrove as an important residential location for both 
Worcestershire’s workforce and people commuting to other employment locations 
in the West Midlands. Priority housing locations include the Sustainable Urban 
Extension (Perryfields, Norton Farm, Whitford Road) which has the potential to 
deliver 1,850 housing units, the  Longbridge East site (524 units) and major 
development sites at Alvechurch, Frankley, Hagley, Barnt Green, Catshill, Wythall 
and Wagon Works (936 units).    

· With key employment sites located on the edge of the town, Malvern will continue 
to need new housing to meet the needs of the local economy, major employers and 
Worcester.  There are opportunities for larger scale development (250-300 units) to 
be accommodated on part of the QinetiQ site.     

Priority 5: Supporting the Vitality of Housing Markets in 
Worcestershire’s Towns  

5.13 It is essential that there is continued investment in Worcestershire’s towns because of the 
key role they play in sustaining communities, including the large rural areas which many 
serve.  The vitality of these towns is integral to Worcestershire’s Sustainable Communities 
Strategy, particularly to the priority of ensuring that economic success is shared by all.  They 
are also highlighted as a key spatial focus in the county’s economic strategy.   

· There are opportunities for significant new housing development in Stourport.  New 
housing provision in the town is important both to strengthen its role as a local 
employment centre and visitor destination, and to its strategic connection with 
Kidderminster (Kidderminster to Stourport employment corridor, South 
Kidderminster Business and Nature Park).  Bewdley also has a smaller but still 
important contribution to make to housing provision in Wyre Forest, with potential 
for residential development in the Load Street regeneration area.     

· There are significant housing development opportunities in Evesham, with a range 
of sites capable of delivering in excess of 1,500 homes and mixed uses. Large 
developments include those at Offenham Road and Pershore Road.   

· There are opportunities for significant new housing development in Droitwich Spa to 
support the key role the town plays as Wychavon’s largest settlement. New housing 
provision is key to meeting local housing needs, natural increases in the population 
and in supporting the economic development ambitions of the district and county. 

· There is potential for Pershore to accommodate significant new housing demand, 
through a number of Registered Provider owned and privately owned sites in the 
town.  The LIP has identified several small brownfield sites which have the potential 

Page 138



● Worcestershire Local Investment Plan ● 

Page 36 
 

to provide a mix of market and affordable housing in a town that has faced strong 
demand pressures.   

5.14 The needs of these towns are multi-faceted, but all are linked by a need to provide more 
affordable housing, to secure the regeneration of brownfield sites (housing, employment 
and other uses) and improve the quality of the environment they offer to residents and 
visitors.  Deliverability in these areas is an issue, with greenfield sites and development 
boundaries (eg. Pershore) strongly influencing the scale and type of housing that could be 
delivered.    

Priority 6: Delivering Sustainable Rural Housing  

5.15 With large rural areas, the provision of sustainable housing development in Worcestershire’s 
many villages and hamlets represents a thematic priority for the county in its own right.  
There are established rural regeneration programmes across the County, together with 
significant pressures for Worcestershire to sustain a thriving rural business base, including a 
significant agricultural sector.  In a period which has seen strong demand for rural housing 
from higher paid people commuting from villages and hamlets or setting up small 
businesses, affordability for lower paid residents has continued to be a problem.    Together 
with higher transport costs and limited public transport provision, these are key factors in 
rural deprivation and exclusion.     

5.16 While the required numbers of affordable homes to buy or rent are comparatively small and 
are dispersed over a wide area, their importance to the viability of communities in many of 
Worcestershire’s villages and hamlets cannot be underestimated.  This theme is common to 
all of Worcestershire’s constituent districts, and partners are already seeking to address 
needs through a range of mechanisms including the Rural Housing Enabler and closer 
working with existing rural communities to look at how barriers to development in sensitive 
areas might be lifted.  In compiling the LIP, partners have identified more than 60 individual 
sites which would contribute to sustainable rural housing.   These fall under the following 
broad categories of priority:  

· Affordable homes for purchase or rent, including shared ownership properties.  
Partners have identified many sites owned by either Registered Providers or a local 
authority with potential for development to take place between 2011 and 2015.   
There are additionally privately owned sites with planning consents in place or in 
progress which will also contribute.   With limited grant funding available to 
subsidise such development, the key here will be to assemble packages of sites with 
the potential to generate cross-subsidy.    

· A continued need to provide socially rented properties for residents of rural 
communities on lower incomes or who are economically inactive.    

· A limited volume of specialist housing, particularly for elderly residents of rural 
communities.    

5.17 Relatively small investments can have a significant impact in meeting highly localised rural 
housing needs and tackling the broader issues faced in rural economies.  However, partners 
recognise that in a changed funding environment, securing critical grant funding to enable 
the development of affordable rural housing will be particularly challenging given 

Page 139



● Worcestershire Local Investment Plan ● 

Page 37 
 

requirements to maximise returns on investment in affordable housing schemes.  They will 
seek to work with the HCA and other partners to explore how land assets, planning powers 
and funding resources can best be brought together to increase the supply of affordable 
rural housing.  For example, a number of local authority districts are reviewing their 
commissioning arrangements to ensure greater efficiencies in the development of 
affordable homes in rural areas. 

Page 140



●
 W

or
ce

st
er

sh
ir

e 
Lo

ca
l I

nv
es

tm
en

t P
la

n 
●

 

Pa
ge

 3
8 

 

Fi
gu

re
 5

-3
: P

ro
vi

di
ng

 th
e 

Ri
gh

t 
H

ou
si

ng
 fo

r 
A

ll 
Co

m
m

un
it

ie
s 

 

 
So

ur
ce

: D
ig

ita
l M

ap
pi

ng
 S

ol
ut

io
ns

 fr
om

 D
ot

te
d 

Ey
es

, ©
 C

ro
w

n 
Co

py
rig

ht
, A

ll 
ri

gh
ts

 re
se

rv
ed

. L
ic

en
ce

 n
um

be
r 1

00
01

99
18

 

Page 141



● Worcestershire Local Investment Plan ● 

Page 39 
 

Priority 7: Meeting Special Needs   

5.18 Partners across Worcestershire are clear that they will continue to seek to provide housing 
which meets the needs of an extensive range of particular needs.  This is about both 
upgrading existing stock and the supply of new stock in response to the changing needs of 
Worcestershire’s communities.   The key issues covered under this thematic priority include:      

· Housing for older people.  There is a need to improve and develop the range of 
housing products available for older residents in Worcestershire.  Existing extra care 
and sheltered housing schemes require re-investment, while there is evidence of 
rising unmet demand for extra care provision from an expanding population of older 
people.  There is also a growing need to ensure that older people are offered greater 
choice in the housing available to them, ranging from homes to buy to those which 
offer the most intensive forms of care.  County wide research is currently being 
prepared to assess the areas of most acute need for this type of housing, and a 
number of districts are developing proposals for extra care housing schemes in 
partnership with Registered Providers.   

· Supported housing for people with disabilities.  There is a continued need to 
provided supported accommodation for people with physical and learning 
disabilities.  Worcestershire’s growing population of older people means that 
demand for this type of accommodation is likely to increase significantly in the long 
term, both to enable people to live independently and to meet rising demand from 
conditions that are most common in elderly residents  (eg. people suffering from 
dementia).   

· Supported housing for young people.  There is an identified need for 
accommodation targeted at young people including support to tackle homelessness 
and to address the issues faced by the growing number of young people not in 
education, employment or training.  Key examples include the requirement for a 
new Foyer development in Kidderminster, additional accommodation in Worcester 
City and provision across the County for young people with chaotic lifestyles.   

· Supported housing for other vulnerable groups.  Partners have clearly identified 
needs for supported housing for vulnerable residents including homeless people, 
women experiencing domestic abuse, people with mental health problems, people 
with substance abuse problems and ex-offenders.  Partners have made good 
progress in reducing instances of homelessness amongst vulnerable groups, but 
want to build on successful schemes (eg. Stonham) and offer the mix of specialist 
accommodation that will continue to be required.   

· The provision of sites for gypsies and travellers, with requirements for the allocation 
of additional pitches identified in planning policies in several of Worcestershire’s 
local authority districts.  A modest volume of new provision is needed over the 
period to 2017, although it is anticipated that a substantial proportion of this could 
be accommodated on existing sites owned by Registered Providers or the local 
authorities.  

5.19 Achieving partners’ wide ranging objectives under this thematic priority is a challenging task.  

Page 142



● Worcestershire Local Investment Plan ● 

Page 40 
 

Nationally, the HCA is expected to have limited funding to invest in accommodation in this 
category, and there is also uncertainty about the future availability of the revenue funding 
which is essential to provision of this kind.  The onus will be on partners to find creative ways 
to assemble the land and capital investment to bring forward new schemes or invest in 
existing schemes.   It is also essential to ensure that there are strong links to the main 
County wide strategic plans.  In this respect, the Worcestershire Supporting People 
programme is particularly significant, since it strategically commissions and then provides 
substantial revenue funding for new and existing housing schemes and initiatives.    

Priority 8: Improving the Existing Housing Stock  

5.20 The overwhelming majority of social rented housing stock in Worcestershire is now classified 
as decent, the outcome of sustained investment over a long period.  However, partners have 
a continued and pressing need for investment to raise the standard of private rented stock 
across the county.   Homes in multiple occupancy represent a particular challenge for 
partners, with Worcester city and Redditch having a relatively high proportion of private 
rented accommodation in this category.    In developing indicative priorities for the LIP, 
partners have identified a number of cross-cutting priorities under this theme.   

· Improved thermal comfort standards, including grant schemes to enable home 
owners and tenants to fit insulation, and multi-agency work to tackle the risk of 
hypothermia in elderly people.  In a number of cases (eg. thermal insulation grant 
schemes), local authority funding is available.   

· Energy efficiency measures, including the retrofitting of cladding and condensers, or 
support for the installation of renewable energy technology in new build and 
existing homes.   

· General grants and loans for home repairs and improvements to private sector 
stock.  In some districts (eg. Redditch) there is a particular focus on improvements to 
homes in multiple occupancy.   

· Continued investment to bring empty homes into active use.   

5.21 This is a difficult issue for partners to tackle.  The county’s draft housing strategy estimates 
around £635 million of investment is required to achieve the Decent Homes standards to 
which partners are committed.  Local authorities have limited scope to provide capital 
investment for this segment of the market, since it requires direct financial assistance to be 
provided to owners for improvement.    Partners will need to look to the expertise and wider 
resources of the HCA in this area to assist in finding new and innovative mechanisms to deal 
with this issue.    

Developing Worcestershire’s Infrastructure  

5.22 Strong infrastructure is vital if Worcestershire is to achieve the aspirations it sets out in the 
LIP.   This means both improving and upgrading the existing infrastructure and securing 
investment in the development of new infrastructure.  Securing this investment is a 
particularly challenging task at a time when the supply of new public sector investment for 
infrastructure will be limited, and it underlines the importance of both prioritising and 
finding innovative ways to bring together public and private sector resources.    

Page 143



● Worcestershire Local Investment Plan ● 

Page 41 
 

5.23 At this juncture, the LIP presents only an initial list of infrastructure investment priorities.  
Partners are currently engaged in assessing or reassessing their requirements, and there are 
a number of processes underway which are not yet complete.  Worcestershire County 
Council is preparing a county wide delivery plan for infrastructure that will identify priorities 
for investment and provide a comprehensive picture of the range of infrastructure that is 
required over the next decade and a half.  A first draft is expected in Spring 2011.   Long 
term infrastructure requirements for Worcestershire to 2026 identified in the West 
Midlands Regional Spatial Strategy are now under review following the revocation of RSSs 
nationally.  These requirements were based on housing growth targets for each district that 
may be reformulated or rejected through continuing work on Local Development 
Frameworks.   

5.24 To reflect this continuing process of planning for infrastructure investment, the specific 
infrastructure requirements identified in this section are drawn from several sources:   

· Studies carried out by Baker Associates during 2008 and 2009 which informed the 
infrastructure assessment for the West Midlands Regional Spatial Strategy.     

· The revised draft LTP3, published by Worcestershire County Council in February 
2011.  This provides a comprehensive picture of infrastructure priorities.     

· District authority planning documents, including adopted core strategies, draft core 
strategies and associated infrastructure studies. 

· Initial assessments of infrastructure requirements associated with employment, 
housing and regeneration schemes identified by the LIP.  Where schemes are at an 
advanced stage in the planning process, there is a reasonable degree of certainty 
involved.  In other cases, infrastructure requirements are yet to be firmly 
established, and there will be additional uncertainty about funding mechanisms in 
some instances.    

Priority 9: Strengthening the Highways Infrastructure  

5.25 Maintaining and improving the road network is critical to Worcestershire’s capacity to 
accommodate further housing and employment growth.  A substantial list of schemes are in 
need of investment ranging from improvements to the motorway and major road 
infrastructure.  This is about replacing ageing infrastructure, dealing with significant 
congestion problems (eg. central Worcester, Kidderminster-Stourport corridor) and 
developing new infrastructure to facilitate growth.  Where possible, the LIP has sought to 
identify schemes that are critical to sustaining and creating employment, to large scale 
housing schemes and to the broader functioning of Worcestershire’s economy.   

5.26 The key source for investment priorities in the highways infrastructure is Worcestershire’s 
Local Transport Plan 3, which was published in February 2011.  Partners across the County 
seek investment in an extensive range of highways schemes and individual employment and 
housing sites will require new or improved highways infrastructure.  However, the LTP3 
presents the results of a comprehensive process of prioritising highways schemes based on 
criteria including deliverability/costs, economic and environmental impacts, benefits to 
quality of life, equality, public health and safety.  It identifies a number of major schemes 
which require investment over £5 million, essentially the strategic priorities for the County 

Page 144



● Worcestershire Local Investment Plan ● 

Page 42 
 

for the next 15 years at a time of uncertainty about the scale and type of funding available to 
support such schemes.  These are important to the delivery of LIP priorities and include:   

· Evesham Abbey Bridge and Viaduct Major Scheme - Key project for the County 
which is expected to be delivered by 2014-15 and which is essential to maintaining 
road access to Evesham.   

· Worcester Transport Strategy (Phase 1) Major Scheme – Includes highways 
improvements along with a package of measures to improve rail and other public 
transport infrastructure.  

· Kidderminster Transport Strategy Major Scheme – A major package of investments 
including improvements to the town’s central road network.  

· Redditch Transport Strategy Major Scheme – Investment package which includes 
improvements to the town’s ring road and other parts of the highways network.  

5.27 The LTP3 also identifies a series of packages for a number of areas of the County which 
include highways improvement schemes and will be funded through major scheme 
investment plus a variety of sources of public and private sector funding.  Where possible, 
the LIP has sought to highlight schemes which are particularly important in delivering 
housing growth and employment development priorities.  Examples include:   

· A range of improvements across Worcester and its surrounding area including M5 
improvements at Junction 6, junction improvements on the southern link road, 
improvements to the city’s arterial network and city centre loop, junction 
enhancements on the A4440 and B4550, the North West and Southern Link Road 
schemes, Park and Ride Sites (Crown East and Ketch), improvements in the Shrub 
Hill area.   

· Key schemes in Redditch including the Bordesley Bypass. 

· Schemes in Kidderminster as part of the Wyre Forest Transport Strategy including 
the Hoo Brook link road and ring road improvements.  Key schemes for Stourport 
include the A451/Minster Road junction improvement scheme and the Stourport 
relief road.  A package of rural road improvements is also earmarked in the LTP3 for 
Wyre Forest covering the A456 (Kidderminster to M5 Junctions 3 and 4), the A448 
and A449.   

· The Bromsgrove Eastern Bypass scheme. 

· A series of rural package schemes for the north of the County including 
improvements on the A38 (Wychbold-Bromsgrove-Crofton Hackett), A448 (Redditch 
to Bromsgrove), A441 (Redditch-Hopwood), A456  (Redditch-Maypole Roundabout).  

· Rural package measures for the south of the County including improvements to the 
A422, A449, A38 linking Tenbury Wells, Droitwich Spa, Alcester and Malvern with 
Worcester and improvements to the B road network.   

· Improvements to 2 link roads in Pershore (Racecourse Road to Station, Keytec). 

Page 145



● Worcestershire Local Investment Plan ● 

Page 43 
 

Priority 10: Improving public transport infrastructure and services 

5.28 Continuing to invest in improving the County’s public transport infrastructure and services is 
a priority for partners.  The list of schemes is extensive, ranging from large scale investment 
in railway stations to minor schemes to improve access to information and the safety of 
public transport networks. Key investments identified by LTP3 which are particularly 
important in the context of the LIP include:  

· Railway station redevelopment or enhancement schemes in Worcester (Shrub Hill 
and Foregate Street), Bromsgrove and Kidderminster.  There are also enhancement 
schemes identified for Droitwich, Pershore and other smaller stations in the County.  

· Rail line upgrades, including Barnt Green-Redditch, capacity improvements for 
Worcester, Worcester-Evesham dualling, Droitwich-Bromsgrove dualling, 
Stourbridge enhancement and Honeybourne-Stratford line reinstatement.   

· The Worcestershire Parkway scheme.    

· Consultations for the LIP have highlighted rail schemes including the improvement 
of services on the Cross City Rail Line (South), of particular significance to Redditch 
and Bromsgrove.  Potential to better connect the Severn Valley railway to the 
national network has been highlighted by Wyre Forest.    

· Both the LTP3 and submissions to the LIP have highlighted many requirements 
across Worcestershire for investment to improve bus stations and bus service 
provision.  Most are integrated into package scheme for urban and rural areas in 
LTP3, although partners have identified a need for specific routes to be introduced 
or improved to connect housing and employment sites to town centres and 
transport interchanges.   These are identified in the tables at the end of this section.  

· A similarly wide ranging set of requirements to improve walkways, cycleways and 
public realm in Worcester and each town across the County.   

5.29 The LIP reflects the key principles that underpin Worcestershire’s approach to public 
transport investment.  As far as possible, new housing and employment development in the 
County should take place on sites which are in or around urban centres, are served by the 
public transport network, cycling and walking routes and which contribute to more 
sustainable travel patterns.   

Priority 11: Developing Social, Community and Green Infrastructure  

5.30 It is essential to continue investing in maintaining a good quality social and community 
infrastructure, a wide ranging category that covers schools, hospitals, emergency services, 
leisure, culture and recreational facilities and green space.   New developments and a 
changing population will trigger a need for new social and community infrastructure, and 
this will be critical to securing the viability of developments.   

5.31 Much of Worcestershire’s future infrastructure requirement will be driven by the scale and 
location of employment and housing growth delivered in the County.  It is therefore difficult 
at this stage to be precise about some types of infrastructure investment that will be 

Page 146



● Worcestershire Local Investment Plan ● 

Page 44 
 

necessary in future, partly because full planning consents etc. are not yet in place, and partly 
because of uncertainty about future sources of investment.  Where possible, the LIP has 
sought to identify significant infrastructure needs associated with specific sites and schemes. 
However, it is important to highlight the range of County wide infrastructure requirements 
that partners regard as critical to facilitating development and growth.  They include:   

· Schools and other education facilities – New housing developments and population 
increases trigger requirements for new schools and other educational facilities.  A 
number of specific investment requirements responding to this need are identified 
in the tables below.  As new and revised housing growth targets are established 
across Worcestershire, there will be greater clarity about the volume and location of 
this provision.  However, there is a broader requirement for Worcestershire to 
ensure that educational facilities continue to be improved, whether through 
investment to maintain/upgrade existing facilities (eg. sites identified for Building 
Schools for the Future investment, Wyre Forest) or through the development of new 
facilities to accommodate growth.   

· Health care provision – There are similar trigger points for the development of new 
health care facilities to respond to housing/population growth, and the tables below 
identify a number of schemes identified by partners.  Beyond specific schemes and 
locations, the need to respond to an ageing population which is expected to place 
higher demand on health services, together  with the need to invest in maintaining 
or improving Worcestershire’s existing stock of healthcare facilities are priorities for 
partners.   

· Policing and fire service – Large scale housing developments put additional pressure 
on key emergency services and may trigger requirements for additional capital and 
revenue investment.  For example, development of the Brockhill East site in 
Redditch is assessed as requiring an additional police post to serve the area. 

· Development of parks and other types of green space.  Green infrastructure is now 
firmly embedded in planning policy in Worcestershire, a commitment reflect in core 
strategies (adopted and draft).  Clear standards are applied through local planning 
policy to the type and volume of parks, open spaces and other forms of green 
infrastructure secured through development, often through the use of obligations 
attached to planning consents.  Outside of developer contributions, partners will 
continue to look to invest in improving and maintaining green infrastructure, 
although it is clear that fewer resources will be available exclusively for this type of 
scheme.   Where possible, partners have identified in the LIP key green 
infrastructure requirements linked to major developments.   

Priority 12: Managing Worcestershire’s Resources  

5.32 Maintaining a well functioning utilities infrastructure (water management, electricity, 
telecommunications) will also require additional investment, with new housing 
developments and employment sites placing further pressure on the network.   The impact 
of climate change and extreme weather events is playing an increasingly important part in 
the type of investment Worcestershire needs, with flood management and drainage 
demanding a growing share of infrastructure investment.   

Page 147



● Worcestershire Local Investment Plan ● 

Page 45 
 

· Utilities – Specific requirements for investment in the utilities infrastructure will be 
determined by the scale, location and type of development that takes place.  A 
series of electricity, gas and water/sewage infrastructure requirements were 
identified in studies which supported the West Midlands RSS.  These were based on 
the RSS preferred option for growth, and the assessments are being revised as 
growth targets for development are reviewed.  However, partners have highlighted 
a number of requirements including:   

Ø Further development of the County’s broadband network, which will have a 
key part to play in the future of Worcestershire’s economy.  BT has begun 
the process of rolling out superfast broadband in a number of locations 
across Worcestershire and additional investment in the network planned in 
the short term.  For example, BT is scheduled to upgrade Worcester’s 
exchanges by 2011.  While high speed broadband availability is an asset for 
Worcestershire’s economy as a whole, broadband coverage in general is a 
particular problem in some of the County’s rural areas.  Improving coverage 
will have benefits both to rural communities and to businesses based in 
these areas.  Although some funding has been available to improve coverage 
in rural Worcestershire (eg. Rural Regeneration Zone funds), securing 
further investment is important.   

Ø Studies carried out by south Worcestershire partners to inform the joint 
core strategy identify a need to reinforce the electricity network (132kV and 
11kva) supply in a number of locations including Worcester, Malvern, 
Droitwich, Evesham and Pershore.   While no equivalent source of data is 
available for north Worcestershire, partners will need to assess whether 
large developments put excessive pressure on a Central Network which is 
ageing.   

Ø Gas supply network reinforcement in Worcester (West and South), Redditch 
(North, North West and North) and North West Bromsgrove. This is based 
on the assessment of need carried out for the West Midlands RSS, so 
assumes the RSS housing growth trajectory.    

Ø Substantial investment in water treatment infrastructure, with Severn Trent 
water having identified a number of plants for improvement and investment 
in new plants where developments are of a scale that requires it.   

· Measures to safeguard against flood risk and manage surface water.  This has 
become an increasingly important infrastructure issue for the County.  A number of 
areas are already at risk of flooding, with housing and other forms of development 
already present in those areas.  Planning policy across the County does not favour 
further development on floodplain areas, although several districts have indicated 
that future development may take place in areas known to be at higher risk of 
flooding (Flood Zone 3a).  A combination of Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems, 
related forms of water management plans and other mitigation measures (barriers) 
are now integrated into local planning policy in Worcestershire.  Future 
developments, including some of those identified by the LIP, will be expected to be 
accompanied by investment in measures of this type.   

Page 148



● Worcestershire Local Investment Plan ● 

Page 46 
 

5.33 It is important that this initial LIP plays a part in informing the planning of future 
infrastructure provision that will in turn be vital to the success of employment, housing and 
regeneration schemes.  Its contribution will be particularly crucial where schemes will 
deliver significant levels of growth in resident populations or employment.  However, it is 
also important to recognise that new housing developments will continue to be a significant 
source of funding for infrastructure through developer contributions (eg. new Community 
Infrastructure Levy mechanism), sources including private owner/operator investments and 
public funding such as LTP3. 

Page 149



●
 W

or
ce

st
er

sh
ir

e 
Lo

ca
l I

nv
es

tm
en

t P
la

n 
●

 

Pa
ge

 4
7 

 

 S
um

m
ar

y 
of

 S
tr

at
eg

ic
 P

ri
or

iti
es

, b
y 

A
re

a 

5.
34

 
Ea

ch
 o

f t
he

 tw
el

ve
 p

rio
rit

ie
s 

ha
ve

 b
ee

n 
de

sc
ri

be
d 

ab
ov

e,
 to

ge
th

er
 w

ith
 s

om
e 

of
 t

he
 k

ey
 in

di
vi

du
al

 in
ve

st
m

en
t 

sc
he

m
es

 th
at

 p
ar

tn
er

s 
be

lie
ve

 a
re

 
re

qu
ire

d 
to

 d
el

iv
er

 c
ha

ng
e.

 T
he

se
 s

ch
em

es
 a

re
 s

um
m

ar
is

ed
 b

el
ow

 o
n 

an
 a

re
a 

by
 a

re
a 

ba
si

s.
 C

le
ar

ly
 c

er
ta

in
 p

ri
or

ity
 t

he
m

es
 (

ru
ra

l h
ou

si
ng

 f
or

 
ex

am
pl

e)
 a

re
 m

or
e 

im
po

rt
an

t f
or

 s
om

e 
di

st
ric

ts
 th

an
 o

th
er

s.
   

  M
A

IN
 IN

V
ES

TM
EN

T 
SC

H
EM

ES
 F

O
R 

BR
O

M
SG

RO
V

E 
Cr

ea
ti

ng
 th

e 
co

nd
it

io
ns

 to
 S

us
ta

in
 a

nd
 G

en
er

at
e 

Em
pl

oy
m

en
t 

  
D

ev
el

op
in

g 
H

ig
h 

G
ro

w
th

 
Em

pl
oy

m
en

t S
ite

s 
  

· 
Br

om
sg

ro
ve

 T
ec

hn
ol

og
y 

Pa
rk

 
· 

Lo
ng

br
id

ge
 T

ec
hn

ol
og

y 
Pa

rk
 a

nd
 m

ix
ed

 u
se

 r
eg

en
er

at
io

n 
sc

he
m

e 
Su

pp
or

tin
g 

th
e 

Ec
on

om
ic

 
Su

st
ai

na
bi

lit
y 

of
 W

or
ce

st
er

sh
ir

e’
s 

To
w

ns
   

· 
Br

om
sg

ro
ve

 T
ow

n 
Ce

nt
re

 –
 D

ev
el

op
m

en
t o

f n
ew

 o
ff

ic
e 

an
d 

m
ix

ed
 u

se
 s

ch
em

es
: i

m
pr

ov
e 

re
ta

il 
pr

ov
is

io
n:

 R
ec

re
at

io
n 

Ro
ad

 r
et

ire
m

en
t l

iv
in

g 
co

m
pl

ex
 (E

xt
ra

 C
ar

e 
Sc

he
m

e)
 

H
ou

si
ng

 fo
r 

A
ll 

Co
m

m
un

it
ie

s 
 

H
ou

si
ng

 to
 S

up
po

rt
 H

ig
h 

G
ro

w
th

 
Em

pl
oy

m
en

t S
ite

s 
an

d 
M

ai
n 

Em
pl

oy
m

en
t C

en
tr

es
 

· 
Su

st
ai

na
bl

e 
U

rb
an

 E
xt

en
si

on
 (P

er
ry

fie
ld

s,
 N

or
to

n 
Fa

rm
, W

hi
tf

or
d 

Ro
ad

 - 
1,

85
0 

un
its

), 
in

cl
ud

in
g 

m
ix

ed
 te

nu
re

 h
ou

si
ng

 
fo

r 
ol

de
r p

eo
pl

e 
(u

p 
to

 1
50

 u
ni

ts
, i

nc
lu

di
ng

 E
xt

ra
 C

ar
e 

pr
ov

is
io

n)
 

· 
Lo

ng
br

id
ge

 E
as

t (
70

0 
un

its
)  

· 
M

aj
or

 d
ev

el
op

m
en

t s
ite

s 
at

 A
lv

ec
hu

rc
h,

 F
ra

nk
le

y,
 H

ag
le

y,
 B

ar
nt

 G
re

en
, C

at
sh

ill
, W

yt
ha

ll 
an

d 
W

ag
on

 W
or

ks
  (

93
6 

un
its

) 
Su

pp
or

tin
g 

th
e 

Vi
ta

lit
y 

of
 

W
or

ce
st

er
sh

ir
e’

s 
To

w
ns

  
· 

N
ew

 re
si

de
nt

ia
l d

ev
el

op
m

en
ts

 in
cl

ud
in

g 
Br

oa
d 

St
re

et
, C

ob
na

l R
oa

d,
 fo

rm
er

 g
ar

ag
e 

si
te

s 
in

 B
ro

m
sg

ro
ve

, f
or

m
er

 g
ar

ag
e 

si
te

s 
in

 A
lv

ec
hu

rc
h 

(c
. 7

0 
un

its
)  

Su
st

ai
na

bl
e 

Ru
ra

l H
ou

si
ng

 
· 

Af
fo

rd
ab

le
 h

ou
si

ng
 s

ch
em

es
 in

 ru
ra

l v
ill

ag
es

 in
cl

ud
in

g 
Cl

en
t a

nd
 B

eo
le

y 
Sp

ec
ia

l H
ou

si
ng

 N
ee

ds
   

· 
Sh

el
te

re
d 

ho
us

in
g 

sc
he

m
e 

at
 W

in
ds

or
 G

ar
de

ns
, B

ro
m

sg
ro

ve
 

· 
Re

cr
ea

tio
n 

Ro
ad

 re
tir

em
en

t c
om

pl
ex

 (E
xt

ra
 C

ar
e 

H
ou

si
ng

 S
ch

em
e)

   
· 

Bu
ng

al
ow

 d
ev

el
op

m
en

t f
or

 o
ld

er
 p

eo
pl

e,
 B

ro
m

sg
ro

ve
 

· 
Su

pp
or

te
d 

ho
us

in
g 

fo
r d

is
ab

le
d 

pe
op

le
 a

ge
d 

18
-5

0 
· 

Su
pp

or
te

d 
ho

us
in

g 
fo

r y
ou

ng
 p

eo
pl

e 
w

ith
 c

ha
ot

ic
 li

fe
st

yl
es

 
Im

pr
ov

in
g 

th
e 

Ex
is

tin
g 

H
ou

si
ng

 
St

oc
k 

 
· 

Re
tr

of
itt

in
g 

co
nd

en
se

rs
 a

nd
 c

la
dd

in
g 

in
 S

id
em

oo
r a

nd
 C

ha
rf

or
d 

· 
Ta

ck
lin

g 
hy

po
th

er
m

ia
 ri

sk
s 

(w
ith

 P
rim

ar
y 

Ca
re

 T
ru

st
) 

D
ev

el
op

in
g 

W
or

ce
st

er
sh

ir
e’

s 
In

fr
as

tr
uc

tu
re

  
St

re
ng

th
en

in
g 

th
e 

H
ig

hw
ay

s 
In

fr
as

tr
uc

tu
re

  
· 

Im
pr

ov
em

en
ts

 to
 M

5 
Ju

nc
tio

n 
4 

· 
Im

pr
ov

em
en

ts
 to

 M
42

, J
un

ct
io

n 
1 

 
· 

Ea
st

er
n 

by
pa

ss
 e

nh
an

ce
m

en
t s

ch
em

e 
· 

Ju
nc

tio
n 

im
pr

ov
em

en
ts

 fo
r 

ac
ce

ss
 to

 s
us

ta
in

ab
le

 u
rb

an
 e

xt
en

si
on

 s
ite

 in
cl

ud
in

g 
Bi

rm
in

gh
am

 R
oa

d,
 P

er
ry

fie
ld

s 
Ro

ad
/S

to
ur

br
id

ge
 R

oa
d,

 P
er

ry
fie

ld
s 

Ro
ad

/K
id

de
rm

in
st

er
 R

oa
d 

an
d 

W
hi

tf
or

d 
Ro

ad
 

Page 150



●
 W

or
ce

st
er

sh
ir

e 
Lo

ca
l I

nv
es

tm
en

t P
la

n 
●

 

Pa
ge

 4
8 

 

· 
A4

48
 B

ro
m

sg
ro

ve
 to

 R
ed

di
tc

h 
im

pr
ov

em
en

ts
  

Im
pr

ov
in

g 
Pu

bl
ic

 T
ra

ns
po

rt
 

In
fr

as
tr

uc
tu

re
 a

nd
 S

er
vi

ce
s 

 
· 

N
ew

 b
us

 li
nk

 fr
om

 P
er

ry
fie

ld
s 

to
 to

w
n 

ce
nt

re
 a

nd
 s

ta
tio

n 
 

· 
N

ew
 s

ta
tio

n 
sc

he
m

e 
fo

r 
Br

om
sg

ro
ve

  
· 

Ex
te

ns
io

n 
of

 C
ro

ss
 C

ity
 L

in
e 

So
ut

h 
 

D
ev

el
op

in
g 

So
ci

al
, C

om
m

un
ity

 a
nd

 
G

re
en

 In
fr

as
tr

uc
tu

re
  

· 
Im

pr
ov

ed
 w

al
ki

ng
 a

nd
 c

yc
le

 li
nk

s 
 

· 
En

ha
nc

ed
 b

us
 n

et
w

or
k 

fo
r B

ro
m

sg
ro

ve
 to

w
n 

an
d 

di
st

ric
t 

 
· 

To
w

n 
ce

nt
re

 p
ub

lic
 r

ea
lm

 e
nh

an
ce

m
en

t s
ch

em
e 

· 
N

ew
 lo

ca
l c

en
tr

e 
fo

r 
su

st
ai

na
bl

e 
ur

ba
n 

ex
te

ns
io

n,
 in

cl
ud

in
g 

re
ta

il 
fa

ci
lit

ie
s,

 c
om

m
un

ity
 h

al
l, 

pl
ay

 a
re

as
, s

po
rt

s 
pi

tc
he

s 
M

an
ag

in
g 

W
or

ce
st

er
sh

ire
’s

 
Re

so
ur

ce
s 

· 
Po

te
nt

ia
l r

ei
nf

or
ci

ng
 o

f g
as

 s
up

pl
y 

ne
tw

or
k 

in
 N

or
th

 W
es

t B
ro

m
sg

ro
ve

  
· 

SU
D

S 
m

ea
su

re
s 

fo
r 

ne
w

 d
ev

el
op

m
en

ts
  

 

M
A

IN
 IN

V
ES

TM
EN

T 
SC

H
EM

ES
 F

O
R 

RE
D

D
IT

CH
  

Cr
ea

ti
ng

 th
e 

Co
nd

it
io

ns
 to

 S
us

ta
in

 a
nd

 G
en

er
at

e 
Em

pl
oy

m
en

t 
  

Cr
ea

tin
g 

an
d 

Su
st

ai
ni

ng
 

Em
pl

oy
m

en
t i

n 
W

or
ce

st
er

sh
ir

e’
s 

M
ai

n 
Ce

nt
re

s 
 

· 
Re

dd
itc

h 
To

w
n 

Ce
nt

re
 re

de
ve

lo
pm

en
t (

of
fic

e 
an

d 
re

ta
il)

  
· 

Br
oc

kh
ill

 E
as

t e
m

pl
oy

m
en

t s
ite

 (o
ff

ic
es

) 
· 

Br
oc

kh
ill

 W
es

t e
m

pl
oy

m
en

t s
ite

 (o
ff

ic
es

 a
nd

 re
ta

il)
  

· 
La

nd
 to

 re
ar

 o
f A

le
xa

nd
ra

 H
os

pi
ta

l (
of

fic
es

)  
H

ou
si

ng
 fo

r 
A

ll 
Co

m
m

un
it

ie
s 

 
H

ou
si

ng
 to

 S
up

po
rt

 H
ig

h 
G

ro
w

th
 

Em
pl

oy
m

en
t S

ite
s 

an
d 

M
ai

n 
Em

pl
oy

m
en

t C
en

tr
es

 

· 
Ch

ur
ch

 H
ill

 c
en

tr
e 

re
ge

ne
ra

tio
n 

(5
7 

un
its

)  
· 

M
aj

or
 h

ou
si

ng
 d

ev
el

op
m

en
t a

t B
ro

ck
hi

ll 
Ea

st
 (8

25
 u

ni
ts

)  
· 

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t a
t B

ro
ck

hi
ll 

W
es

t (
16

7 
un

its
)  

 
· 

La
nd

 to
 re

ar
 o

f A
le

xa
nd

ra
 H

os
pi

ta
l (

14
5 

un
its

) 
· 

W
oo

dr
ow

 s
tr

at
eg

ic
 s

ite
s 

(D
in

gl
es

id
e 

M
id

dl
e 

Sc
ho

ol
 &

 P
la

yi
ng

 F
ie

ld
s,

 A
ux

er
re

 A
ve

nu
e,

 2
20

 u
ni

ts
) 

· 
Ra

ng
e 

of
 s

m
al

l s
ca

le
 d

ev
el

op
m

en
ts

 in
cl

ud
in

g 
pu

rc
ha

se
 a

nd
 d

ev
el

op
m

en
t o

f R
ox

bo
ro

ug
h 

H
ou

se
, C

lif
to

n 
Cl

os
e,

 W
ire

hi
ll 

D
riv

e,
 L

ox
le

y 
 C

lo
se

, M
ar

fie
ld

 S
ch

oo
l, 

Ea
se

m
or

e 
Ro

ad
, C

as
tl

ed
itc

h,
 W

id
ne

y 
W

or
ks

, M
ill

fie
ld

s 
M

ee
tin

g 
Sp

ec
ia

l H
ou

si
ng

 N
ee

ds
   

· 
Sp

ec
ia

lis
t c

ar
e 

ho
us

in
g 

fo
r 

el
de

rly
 p

eo
pl

e 
w

ith
 d

em
en

tia
, R

ed
di

tc
h 

· 
Re

pl
ac

em
en

t r
ef

ug
e 

fo
r v

ic
tim

s 
of

 d
om

es
tic

 v
io

le
nc

e,
 R

ed
di

tc
h 

· 
Af

fo
rd

ab
le

 h
ou

si
ng

 fo
r v

ul
ne

ra
bl

e 
yo

un
g 

pe
op

le
, R

ed
di

tc
h 

· 
St

.G
re

go
ry

’s
 C

hu
rc

h 
de

ve
lo

pm
en

t f
or

 v
ul

ne
ra

bl
e 

yo
un

g 
pe

op
le

 
· 

Co
nv

er
si

on
 o

f e
x 

–o
ff

en
de

r h
ou

si
ng

 (S
to

nh
am

)  
Im

pr
ov

in
g 

th
e 

H
ou

si
ng

 S
to

ck
  

· 
In

su
la

tio
n 

an
d 

re
ne

w
ab

le
 e

ne
rg

y 
gr

an
t s

ch
em

e 
 

· 
G

ra
nt

 a
nd

 lo
an

 s
ch

em
e 

fo
r 

im
pr

ov
em

en
ts

 to
 H

M
O

s 
an

d 
pr

iv
at

e 
ho

us
in

g 
 

D
ev

el
op

in
g 

W
or

ce
st

er
sh

ir
e’

s 
In

fr
as

tr
uc

tu
re

 

Page 151



●
 W

or
ce

st
er

sh
ir

e 
Lo

ca
l I

nv
es

tm
en

t P
la

n 
●

 

Pa
ge

 4
9 

 

St
re

ng
th

en
in

g 
th

e 
H

ig
hw

ay
s 

In
fr

as
tr

uc
tu

re
  

· 
W

ei
gh

ts
 L

an
e 

Li
nk

 R
oa

d 
(B

ro
ck

hi
ll 

Ea
st

) 
· 

Ac
ce

ss
 fr

om
 B

41
84

 B
ro

ck
hi

ll 
D

riv
e 

· 
Re

dd
itc

h 
Tr

an
sp

or
t S

tr
at

eg
y 

M
aj

or
 S

ch
em

e 
· 

In
ne

r R
in

g 
Ro

ad
 s

ch
em

e 
· 

Bo
rd

sl
ey

 B
yp

as
s 

Sc
he

m
e 

 
· 

W
in

ds
or

 R
oa

d/
M

id
dl

eh
ou

se
 L

an
e 

Ju
nc

tio
n 

Im
pr

ov
em

en
t S

ch
em

e 
· 

Ju
nc

tio
n 

en
ha

nc
em

en
ts

 a
nd

 a
cc

es
s 

to
 N

in
e 

D
ay

s 
La

ne
 fo

r d
ev

el
op

m
en

t o
f l

an
d 

to
 re

ar
 o

f A
le

xa
nd

ra
 H

os
pi

ta
l 

· 
N

ew
 a

cc
es

s 
ro

ad
 to

 C
hu

rc
h 

H
ill

 d
is

tr
ic

t c
en

tr
e 

(T
an

ho
us

e 
La

ne
 to

 R
ic

ky
ar

d 
La

ne
) 

Im
pr

ov
in

g 
Pu

bl
ic

 T
ra

ns
po

rt
 

· 
In

cr
ea

se
d 

ra
il 

se
rv

ic
es

 o
n 

Cr
os

s 
Ci

ty
 L

in
e 

So
ut

h 
(L

on
gb

rid
ge

 to
 B

ro
m

sg
ro

ve
), 

pr
ov

id
in

g 
ad

di
tio

na
l s

er
vi

ce
s 

fo
r 

Re
dd

itc
h 

· 
Ra

il 
in

fr
as

tr
uc

tu
re

 e
nh

an
ce

m
en

ts
 o

n 
Ba

rn
t G

re
en

-R
ed

di
tc

h 
br

an
ch

 
· 

En
ha

nc
ed

 R
ed

di
tc

h 
bu

s 
ne

tw
or

k 
· 

Su
st

ai
na

bl
e 

tr
an

sp
or

t p
ro

vi
si

on
 fo

r a
ll 

st
ra

te
gi

c 
de

ve
lo

pm
en

t s
ite

s 
 

D
ev

el
op

in
g 

So
ci

al
, C

om
m

un
ity

 a
nd

 
G

re
en

 In
fr

as
tr

uc
tu

re
  

· 
Sh

ar
ed

 s
ch

oo
l/

co
m

m
un

ity
 fa

ci
lit

y 
in

cl
ud

in
g 

sc
ho

ol
 a

nd
 p

la
yi

ng
 fi

el
d 

fo
r B

ro
ck

hi
ll 

Ea
st

 
· 

Im
pr

ov
em

en
ts

 to
 c

yc
lin

g 
an

d 
w

al
ki

ng
 n

et
w

or
k 

· 
Im

pl
em

en
ta

tio
n 

of
 g

re
en

 in
fr

as
tr

uc
tu

re
 c

on
ce

pt
s 

fo
r 

al
l s

tr
at

eg
ic

 d
ev

el
op

m
en

t s
ite

s 
id

en
tif

ie
d 

in
 C

or
e 

St
ra

te
gy

  
M

an
ag

in
g 

W
or

ce
st

er
sh

ire
’s

 
Re

so
ur

ce
s 

· 
Re

in
fo

rc
in

g 
th

e 
ga

s 
su

pp
ly

 n
et

w
or

k 
in

 R
ed

di
tc

h 
 

· 
SU

D
S 

m
ea

su
re

s 
fo

r 
ne

w
 d

ev
el

op
m

en
ts

  

 

 
 

Page 152



●
 W

or
ce

st
er

sh
ir

e 
Lo

ca
l I

nv
es

tm
en

t P
la

n 
●

 

Pa
ge

 5
0 

 

 
M

A
IN

 IN
V

ES
TM

EN
T 

SC
H

EM
ES

 F
O

R 
W

YR
E 

FO
RE

ST
   

Cr
ea

ti
ng

 th
e 

Co
nd

it
io

ns
 to

 S
us

ta
in

 a
nd

 G
en

er
at

e 
Em

pl
oy

m
en

t  
 

D
ev

el
op

in
g 

H
ig

h 
G

ro
w

th
 

Em
pl

oy
m

en
t S

ite
s 

 
· 

So
ut

h 
Ki

dd
er

m
in

st
er

 B
us

in
es

s 
an

d 
N

at
ur

e 
Pa

rk
 (K

id
de

rm
in

st
er

-S
to

ur
po

rt
 c

or
rid

or
) 

Cr
ea

tin
g 

an
d 

Su
st

ai
ni

ng
 

Em
pl

oy
m

en
t i

n 
W

or
ce

st
er

sh
ir

e’
s 

M
ai

n 
Ce

nt
re

s 
 

· 
Ki

dd
er

m
in

st
er

 T
ow

n 
Ce

nt
re

  
· 

W
es

t M
id

la
nd

s 
Sa

fa
ri

 a
nd

 L
ei

su
re

 P
ar

k 
  

Su
pp

or
tin

g 
th

e 
Ec

on
om

ic
 

Su
st

ai
na

bi
lit

y 
of

 W
or

ce
st

er
sh

ir
e’

s 
To

w
ns

   

· 
Lo

ad
 S

t.
 re

ge
ne

ra
tio

n 
ar

ea
, B

ew
dl

ey
 

H
ou

si
ng

 fo
r 

A
ll 

Co
m

m
un

it
ie

s 
 

H
ou

si
ng

 to
 S

up
po

rt
 H

ig
h 

G
ro

w
th

 
Em

pl
oy

m
en

t S
ite

s 
an

d 
M

ai
n 

Em
pl

oy
m

en
t C

en
tr

es
 

· 
Ch

ur
ch

fie
ld

s 
re

ge
ne

ra
tio

n 
ar

ea
, K

id
de

rm
in

st
er

 (3
50

 u
ni

ts
)  

· 
Fo

rm
er

 B
rit

is
h 

Su
ga

r S
ite

, K
id

de
rm

in
st

er
 (3

00
 u

ni
ts

)  
· 

O
th

er
 s

ite
s 

in
 K

id
de

rm
in

st
er

 in
cl

ud
in

g 
W

ol
ve

rl
ey

 P
ar

k 
(7

2 
op

en
 m

ar
ke

t a
nd

 a
ff

or
da

bl
e 

un
its

)  
Su

pp
or

tin
g 

th
e 

Vi
ta

lit
y 

of
 H

ou
si

ng
 

M
ar

ke
ts

 in
 W

or
ce

st
er

sh
ir

e’
s 

To
w

ns
  

· 
St

ea
tit

e 
W

ay
 a

nd
 B

ew
dl

ey
 R

oa
d,

 S
to

ur
po

rt
 (2

72
 u

ni
ts

) 
· 

Ca
rp

et
s 

of
 W

or
th

, S
to

ur
po

rt
 (1

59
 u

ni
ts

)  
· 

Pa
rs

on
’s

 C
ha

in
, S

to
ur

po
rt

 (3
-4

00
 u

ni
ts

) 
· 

O
th

er
 s

ite
s 

in
cl

ud
in

g 
H

ar
rie

rs
 T

ra
di

ng
 E

st
at

e,
 W

ol
ve

rly
 P

ar
k,

 C
le

nt
 A

ve
nu

e 
(a

ll 
Ki

dd
er

m
in

st
er

) 
· 

ST
C.

4 
Br

id
ge

 S
t.

 B
as

in
s 

Li
nk

, S
to

ur
po

rt
 (h

ou
si

ng
 a

s 
pa

rt
 o

f w
id

er
 re

ge
ne

ra
tio

n 
sc

he
m

e)
  

D
el

iv
er

in
g 

Su
st

ai
na

bl
e 

Ru
ra

l 
H

ou
si

ng
 

· 
Ru

ra
l s

ite
s 

in
cl

ud
in

g 
Ch

ad
de

rs
le

y 
Co

rb
et

t,
 S

eb
rig

ht
 R

oa
d 

(W
ol

ve
rly

), 
Fo

rm
er

 N
ur

se
ry

 S
ite

, B
la

ke
do

w
n 

(3
0+

 u
ni

ts
)  

M
ee

tin
g 

Sp
ec

ia
l H

ou
si

ng
 N

ee
ds

   
· 

Br
om

sg
ro

ve
 S

t.
 fo

ye
r 

sc
he

m
e,

 K
id

de
rm

in
st

er
 

· 
Su

pp
or

te
d 

af
fo

rd
ab

le
 h

ou
si

ng
 fo

r 
yo

un
g 

pe
op

le
 w

ith
 c

ha
ot

ic
 li

fe
st

yl
es

 
· 

Re
m

od
el

lin
g 

of
 h

ou
si

ng
 s

to
ck

 fo
r 

el
de

rly
 p

eo
pl

e 
· 

G
yp

sy
 a

nd
 tr

av
el

le
r p

itc
he

s 
(3

0 
ad

di
tio

na
l p

itc
he

s 
ov

er
 5

 y
ea

rs
)  

Im
pr

ov
in

g 
th

e 
H

ou
si

ng
 S

to
ck

  
· 

In
su

la
tio

n 
gr

an
t s

ch
em

e 
(u

p 
to

 4
00

 p
.a

.) 
· 

Br
in

gi
ng

 e
m

pt
y 

ho
m

es
 b

ac
k 

in
to

 u
se

 
D

ev
el

op
in

g 
W

or
ce

st
er

sh
ir

e’
s 

In
fr

as
tr

uc
tu

re
 

St
re

ng
th

en
in

g 
th

e 
H

ig
hw

ay
s 

In
fr

as
tr

uc
tu

re
  

· 
Ki

dd
er

m
in

st
er

 T
ra

ns
po

rt
 S

tr
at

eg
y 

M
aj

or
 S

ch
em

e.
 L

TP
3 

pa
ck

ag
e 

m
ay

 in
cl

ud
e 

sp
ec

ifi
c 

m
ea

su
re

s 
ou

tli
ne

d 
be

lo
w

.  
 

· 
H

oo
 B

ro
ok

 L
in

k 
Ro

ad
 (A

45
1)

 
· 

Ki
dd

er
m

in
st

er
 T

ow
n 

Ce
nt

re
 R

in
g 

Ro
ad

 (i
nc

lu
di

ng
 a

cc
es

s 
to

 C
hu

rc
hf

ie
ld

s)
 

· 
St

ou
rp

or
t R

el
ie

f R
oa

d 
· 

St
ou

rp
or

t a
nd

 B
ew

dl
ey

 p
ac

ka
ge

 m
ea

su
re

s 

Page 153



●
 W

or
ce

st
er

sh
ir

e 
Lo

ca
l I

nv
es

tm
en

t P
la

n 
●

 

Pa
ge

 5
1 

 

Im
pr

ov
in

g 
Pu

bl
ic

 T
ra

ns
po

rt
 

· 
Ki

dd
er

m
in

st
er

 s
ta

tio
n 

im
pr

ov
em

en
t p

ac
ka

ge
  

· 
Ki

dd
er

m
in

st
er

 T
ow

n 
Ce

nt
re

 P
ed

es
tr

ia
ni

sa
tio

n 
- i

nc
lu

di
ng

 n
ew

 b
rid

ge
s 

in
 C

hu
rc

hf
ie

ld
s 

an
d 

To
w

n 
Ce

nt
re

 
· 

En
ha

nc
ed

 K
id

de
rm

in
st

er
 a

nd
 S

to
ur

po
rt

 B
us

 N
et

w
or

ks
  

· 
Se

ve
rn

 V
al

le
y 

Ra
ilw

ay
 to

 n
at

io
na

l r
ai

l n
et

w
or

k,
 in

cl
ud

in
g 

po
ss

ib
le

 h
al

ts
 a

t B
rit

is
h 

Su
ga

r a
nd

 W
es

t M
id

la
nd

 S
af

ar
i P

ar
k 

· 
Im

pr
ov

ed
 K

id
de

rm
in

st
er

 a
nd

 S
to

ur
po

rt
 c

yc
lin

g 
an

d 
w

al
ki

ng
 li

nk
s 

D
ev

el
op

in
g 

So
ci

al
, C

om
m

un
ity

 a
nd

 
G

re
en

 In
fr

as
tr

uc
tu

re
 

· 
W

yr
e 

Fo
re

st
 S

ch
oo

ls
 R

ev
ie

w
 - 

fit
 fo

r p
ur

po
se

 s
ch

oo
l b

ui
ld

in
gs

 - 
re

vi
ew

 fo
llo

w
in

g 
cl

os
ur

e 
of

 th
e 

BS
F 

pr
og

ra
m

m
e 

W
F 

BS
F 

pr
og

ra
m

m
e 

w
as

 fa
irl

y 
ad

va
nc

ed
 

· 
M

ed
ic

al
 - 

Co
ns

ol
id

at
io

n 
an

d 
fit

 fo
r p

ur
po

se
 m

od
er

n 
G

P 
Pr

ac
tic

es
 in

cl
ud

in
g 

pr
op

os
ed

 re
pl

ac
em

en
t/

 c
on

so
lid

at
io

n 
of

 a
t 

le
as

t 4
 p

ra
ct

ic
es

 in
 K

id
de

rm
in

st
er

; 
· 

St
ou

rp
or

t C
om

m
un

ity
 F

ac
ili

tie
s 

Pr
oj

ec
t -

 o
n-

go
in

g 
re

vi
ew

 o
f f

ac
ili

tie
s 

 
· 

Be
w

dl
ey

 C
om

m
un

ity
 F

ac
ili

ty
 P

ro
je

ct
 in

cl
ud

in
g 

ne
w

 a
rt

s 
an

d 
m

ed
ic

al
 (h

ea
lth

 c
en

tr
e)

 fa
ci

lit
ie

s 
· 

Ci
vi

c 
ad

m
in

is
tr

at
io

n 
- W

yr
e 

Fo
re

st
 D

is
tr

ic
t C

ou
nc

il 
si

ng
le

 s
ite

 o
ff

ic
e 

ac
co

m
m

od
at

io
n 

M
an

ag
in

g 
W

or
ce

st
er

sh
ire

’s
 

Re
so

ur
ce

s 
· 

SU
D

S 
m

ea
su

re
s 

fo
r 

ne
w

 d
ev

el
op

m
en

ts
  

  
 

Page 154



●
 W

or
ce

st
er

sh
ir

e 
Lo

ca
l I

nv
es

tm
en

t P
la

n 
●

 

Pa
ge

 5
2 

 

 
M

A
IN

 IN
V

ES
TM

EN
T 

SC
H

EM
ES

 F
O

R 
W

O
RC

ES
TE

R 
 

Cr
ea

ti
ng

 th
e 

co
nd

it
io

ns
 to

 s
us

ta
in

 a
nd

 g
en

er
at

e 
em

pl
oy

m
en

t 
D

ev
el

op
in

g 
H

ig
h 

G
ro

w
th

 
Em

pl
oy

m
en

t s
ite

s 
· 

Su
pp

or
tin

g 
th

e 
ex

pa
ns

io
n 

of
 W

or
ce

st
er

 B
os

ch
 

· 
Ex

pa
ns

io
n 

of
 U

ni
ve

rs
ity

 o
f W

or
ce

st
er

 a
nd

 W
or

ce
st

er
 C

ol
le

ge
 o

f T
ec

hn
ol

og
y 

Cr
ea

tin
g 

an
d 

su
st

ai
ni

ng
 

em
pl

oy
m

en
t i

n 
W

or
ce

st
er

sh
ir

e’
s 

m
ai

n 
ce

nt
re

s 

· 
Pr

ov
id

in
g 

st
ra

te
gi

c 
le

is
ur

e,
 re

ta
il 

an
d 

cu
ltu

ra
l s

er
vi

ce
s 

fo
r 

w
id

er
 c

at
ch

m
en

t 
 

Pr
ov

id
in

g 
th

e 
ri

gh
t h

ou
si

ng
 fo

r 
al

l c
om

m
un

it
ie

s 
D

ev
el

op
in

g 
ho

us
in

g 
to

 s
up

po
rt

 
hi

gh
 g

ro
w

th
 e

m
pl

oy
m

en
t s

ite
s 

an
d 

m
ai

n 
em

pl
oy

m
en

t c
en

tr
es

 

· 
St

ra
te

gi
c 

gr
ow

th
 c

en
tr

ed
 o

n 
th

e 
re

le
as

e 
of

 u
rb

an
 c

ap
ac

ity
 w

ith
in

 th
e 

Ci
ty

 a
nd

 c
on

si
de

ra
tio

n 
of

  p
os

si
bl

e 
ur

ba
n 

ex
te

ns
io

ns
 

th
ro

ug
h 

th
e 

So
ut

h 
W

or
ce

st
er

sh
ire

 D
ev

el
op

m
en

t P
la

n 
(S

W
D

P)
 p

ro
ce

ss
 (S

ou
th

 W
or

ce
st

er
 a

nd
 W

or
ce

st
er

 W
es

t)
 

· 
H

ou
si

ng
 d

ev
el

op
m

en
t i

n 
St

 Jo
hn

’s
 A

re
a 

of
 th

e 
ci

ty
 (B

ra
ns

fo
rd

 R
oa

d 
si

te
s,

 2
84

 u
ni

ts
) 

· 
Ea

rl
s 

Co
ur

t F
ar

m
 h

ou
si

ng
 d

ev
el

op
m

en
t 

· 
Es

ta
te

 re
ne

w
al

 a
nd

 re
ge

ne
ra

tio
n 

in
 D

in
es

 G
re

en
 

M
ee

tin
g 

sp
ec

ia
l n

ee
ds

 
· 

D
et

ox
 C

en
tr

e 
to

 s
up

po
rt

 p
eo

pl
e 

w
ith

 a
lc

oh
ol

 a
nd

 s
ub

st
an

ce
 is

su
es

 
· 

Ex
tr

a 
ca

re
 s

ch
em

es
 to

 m
ee

t t
he

 n
ee

ds
 o

f o
ld

er
 p

eo
pl

e 
in

 th
e 

ci
ty

 a
nd

 d
ev

el
op

 a
lte

rn
at

iv
e 

ho
us

in
g 

op
tio

ns
 

· 
G

yp
sy

 a
nd

 T
ra

ve
lle

r p
itc

he
s 

· 
YM

CA
 Y

ou
ng

 P
er

so
ns

  h
ou

si
ng

 s
ch

em
e 

to
 p

ro
vi

de
 m

ov
e 

on
 a

cc
om

m
od

at
io

n 
an

d 
su

pp
or

tin
g 

se
rv

ic
es

 (1
0 

un
its

) 
· 

N
ig

ht
 s

he
lte

r 
sc

he
m

e 
fo

r 
pe

op
le

 w
ith

 c
ha

ot
ic

 li
fe

st
yl

es
 a

nd
 ro

ug
h 

sl
ee

pe
rs

 (1
5 

un
its

) 
Im

pr
ov

in
g 

th
e 

ex
is

tin
g 

ho
us

in
g 

st
oc

k 
· 

In
no

va
tiv

e 
w

or
ki

ng
 w

ith
 W

or
ce

st
er

 B
os

ch
 

· 
Re

co
nf

ig
ur

at
io

n 
of

 e
xi

st
in

g 
sh

el
te

re
d 

ho
us

in
g 

st
oc

k 
· 

U
pp

er
 F

lo
or

 C
on

ve
rs

io
n 

gr
an

t s
ch

em
e 

· 
U

nd
er

 o
cc

up
at

io
n 

in
iti

at
iv

es
 

D
ev

el
op

in
g 

W
or

ce
st

er
sh

ir
e’

s 
in

fr
as

tr
uc

tu
re

 
St

re
ng

th
en

in
g 

th
e 

hi
gh

w
ay

s 
in

fr
as

tr
uc

tu
re

 
· 

En
ha

nc
em

en
ts

 to
 th

e 
So

ut
he

rn
 L

in
k 

Ro
ad

 
· 

W
or

ce
st

er
 T

ra
ns

po
rt

 S
tr

at
eg

y 
· 

M
5 

Ju
nc

tio
n 

6 
en

ha
nc

em
en

ts
 

· 
W

or
ce

st
er

 S
hr

ub
 H

ill
 a

nd
 L

ow
es

m
oo

r a
re

a 
im

pr
ov

em
en

ts
 

Im
pr

ov
in

g 
pu

bl
ic

 tr
an

sp
or

t 
· 

W
or

ce
st

er
 T

ra
ns

po
rt

 S
tr

at
eg

y 
· 

W
or

ce
st

er
 F

or
eg

at
e 

St
re

et
 a

nd
 S

hr
ub

 H
ill

 E
nh

an
ce

m
en

t S
ch

em
es

 
· 

Ce
nt

ra
l l

oo
p 

im
pr

ov
em

en
ts

 
· 

Pa
rk

 a
nd

 ri
de

 s
ite

s 
· 

W
or

ce
st

er
sh

ir
e 

Pa
rk

w
ay

 

Page 155



●
 W

or
ce

st
er

sh
ir

e 
Lo

ca
l I

nv
es

tm
en

t P
la

n 
●

 

Pa
ge

 5
3 

 

D
ev

el
op

in
g 

so
ci

al
, c

om
m

un
ity

 a
nd

 
gr

ee
n 

in
fr

as
tr

uc
tu

re
 

· 
O

pe
n 

sp
ac

e 
en

ha
nc

em
en

ts
 

· 
Sw

im
m

in
g 

po
ol

/S
po

rt
s 

Ce
nt

re
 

· 
Pe

de
st

ria
n 

an
d 

cy
cl

e 
br

id
ge

s 
· 

Su
st

ai
na

bl
e 

dr
ai

na
ge

 s
ch

em
es

 
· 

G
re

en
 n

et
w

or
k 

M
an

ag
in

g 
W

or
ce

st
er

sh
ire

’s
 

re
so

ur
ce

s 
· 

Ac
tio

ns
 to

 m
iti

ga
te

 a
nd

 a
da

pt
 to

 c
lim

at
e 

ch
an

ge
 (a

s 
se

t o
ut

 in
 e

m
er

gi
ng

 C
or

e 
St

ra
te

gy
) 

· 
M

an
ag

in
g 

flo
od

 ri
sk

 

  
 

Page 156



●
 W

or
ce

st
er

sh
ir

e 
Lo

ca
l I

nv
es

tm
en

t P
la

n 
●

 

Pa
ge

 5
4 

 

 
M

A
IN

 IN
V

ES
TM

EN
T 

SC
H

EM
ES

 F
O

R 
M

A
LV

ER
N

 H
IL

LS
  

Cr
ea

ti
ng

 th
e 

co
nd

it
io

ns
 to

 s
us

ta
in

 a
nd

 g
en

er
at

e 
em

pl
oy

m
en

t 
D

ev
el

op
in

g 
H

ig
h 

G
ro

w
th

 
Em

pl
oy

m
en

t s
ite

s 
· 

Co
nt

in
ue

d 
in

ve
st

m
en

t a
t M

al
ve

rn
 H

ill
s 

Sc
ie

nc
e 

Pa
rk

 a
nd

 li
nk

s 
w

ith
 Q

in
et

iQ
 

· 
Em

er
gi

ng
 S

W
D

P 
pr

op
os

al
s 

fo
r 

ad
di

tio
na

l e
m

pl
oy

m
en

t l
an

d 
· 

Fo
st

er
 th

e 
de

ve
lo

pm
en

t o
f r

es
ea

rc
h 

an
d 

hi
gh

 te
ch

no
lo

gy
 b

us
in

es
se

s 
Su

pp
or

tin
g 

th
e 

ec
on

om
ic

 
su

st
ai

na
bi

lit
y 

of
 W

or
ce

st
er

sh
ir

e’
s 

to
w

ns
 

· 
Su

pp
or

tin
g 

th
e 

vi
ta

lit
y 

of
 M

al
ve

rn
 a

s 
a 

m
ai

n 
ce

nt
re

 w
ith

 im
pr

ov
em

en
ts

 to
 re

ta
il 

pr
ov

is
io

n 
an

d 
hi

gh
 q

ua
lit

y 
pu

bl
ic

 re
al

m
 

· 
Su

pp
or

tin
g 

th
e 

gr
ow

th
 o

f S
M

Es
 a

nd
 o

th
er

 b
us

in
es

se
s 

in
 a

nd
 a

ro
un

d 
M

al
ve

rn
 

· 
Su

pp
or

tin
g 

th
e 

re
ge

ne
ra

tio
n 

an
d 

en
ha

nc
em

en
t o

f m
ar

ke
t t

ow
ns

 (T
en

bu
ry

 a
nd

 U
pt

on
) 

Pr
ov

id
in

g 
th

e 
ri

gh
t h

ou
si

ng
 fo

r 
al

l c
om

m
un

it
ie

s 
D

ev
el

op
in

g 
ho

us
in

g 
to

 s
up

po
rt

 
hi

gh
 g

ro
w

th
 e

m
pl

oy
m

en
t s

ite
s 

an
d 

m
ai

n 
em

pl
oy

m
en

t c
en

tr
es

 

· 
Em

er
gi

ng
 S

W
D

P 
 c

on
si

de
ri

ng
   

a 
su

st
ai

na
bl

e 
m

ix
ed

 u
se

 u
rb

an
 e

xt
en

si
on

 to
 th

e 
no

rt
h 

an
d/

or
 e

as
t o

f M
al

ve
rn

 to
w

n 
· 

Po
ss

ib
le

 re
de

ve
lo

pm
en

t o
f s

ur
pl

us
 la

nd
 a

t Q
in

et
iQ

 fo
r h

ou
si

ng
/m

ix
ed

 u
se

s 

Su
pp

or
tin

g 
ho

us
in

g 
m

ar
ke

ts
 in

 
W

or
ce

st
er

sh
ir

e’
s 

to
w

ns
 

· 
En

su
rin

g 
th

at
 a

 ra
ng

e 
of

 h
ou

si
ng

 ty
pe

s 
an

d 
te

nu
re

s 
ar

e 
pr

ov
id

ed
 in

 M
al

ve
rn

 
· 

H
ou

si
ng

 d
ev

el
op

m
en

t a
t M

al
ve

rn
 V

al
e 

D
el

iv
er

in
g 

su
st

ai
na

bl
e 

ru
ra

l 
ho

us
in

g 

· 
Pr

ov
id

in
g 

a 
ra

ng
e 

of
 h

ou
si

ng
 ty

pe
s 

in
 ru

ra
l a

re
as

 to
 a

id
 a

ff
or

da
bi

lit
y 

· 
Su

pp
or

tin
g 

de
ve

lo
pm

en
t t

ha
t m

ee
ts

 lo
ca

l n
ee

ds
 a

nd
 s

up
po

rt
s 

th
e 

pr
os

pe
rit

y 
of

 ru
ra

l a
re

as
 b

y 
m

ai
nt

ai
ni

ng
 th

e 
vi

ab
ili

ty
 o

f 
se

rv
ic

es
/a

m
en

iti
es

 

M
ee

tin
g 

sp
ec

ia
l n

ee
ds

 

· 
U

rb
an

 e
xt

ra
 c

ar
e 

sc
he

m
e 

in
 M

al
ve

rn
 (A

le
xa

nd
ra

 G
ar

de
ns

, 1
01

 u
ni

ts
) 

· 
Su

pp
or

te
d 

ho
us

in
g 

in
 M

al
ve

rn
 (S

he
rr

ar
ds

 G
re

en
 R

oa
d 

an
d 

Co
ur

t R
oa

d,
 1

4 
un

its
) 

· 
In

cr
ea

si
ng

 th
e 

ra
ng

e 
of

 h
ou

si
ng

 o
pt

io
ns

 to
 m

ee
t t

he
 n

ee
ds

 o
f t

he
 a

ge
in

g 
po

pu
la

tio
n 

in
 M

al
ve

rn
 H

ill
s 

di
st

ric
t 

 
· 

M
ee

tin
g 

th
e 

ne
ed

s 
of

 g
yp

si
es

 a
nd

 tr
av

el
le

rs
 

Im
pr

ov
in

g 
th

e 
ex

is
tin

g 
ho

us
in

g 
st

oc
k 

· 
Br

in
gi

ng
 e

m
pt

y 
ho

m
es

 b
ac

k 
in

to
 u

se
 

D
ev

el
op

in
g 

W
or

ce
st

er
sh

ir
e’

s 
In

fr
as

tr
uc

tu
re

 

St
re

ng
th

en
in

g 
th

e 
hi

gh
w

ay
s 

in
fr

as
tr

uc
tu

re
 

· 
M

al
ve

rn
, T

en
bu

ry
 a

nd
 U

pt
on

 u
rb

an
 p

ac
ka

ge
s 

(L
TP

3)
  

· 
Tr

af
fic

 a
nd

 p
ar

ki
ng

 m
an

ag
em

en
t s

tr
at

eg
y 

· 
Li

nk
 to

 th
e 

M
5 

/ 
W

or
ce

st
er

 T
ra

ns
po

rt
 S

tr
at

eg
y 

/ 
W

or
ce

st
er

 S
ou

th
er

n 
Li

nk
 R

oa
d 

en
ha

nc
em

en
t 

· 
A4

49
 M

al
ve

rn
 to

 W
or

ce
st

er
 in

te
r u

rb
an

 c
or

rid
or

 s
ch

em
e 

· 
A4

43
 T

en
bu

ry
 W

el
ls

 to
 W

or
ce

st
er

 in
te

r u
rb

an
 c

or
ri

do
r s

ch
em

e 

Im
pr

ov
in

g 
pu

bl
ic

 tr
an

sp
or

t 
· 

M
al

ve
rn

 L
in

k 
st

at
io

n 
en

ha
nc

em
en

t 
· 

M
al

ve
rn

 L
in

k/
W

or
ce

st
er

 R
oa

d 
m

ai
nt

en
an

ce
 a

nd
 im

pr
ov

em
en

t s
ch

em
e 

D
ev

el
op

in
g 

so
ci

al
, c

om
m

un
ity

 a
nd

 
· 

M
al

ve
rn

 T
ow

n 
Ce

nt
re

 P
ub

lic
 R

ea
lm

 E
nh

an
ce

m
en

t S
ch

em
e 

Page 157



●
 W

or
ce

st
er

sh
ir

e 
Lo

ca
l I

nv
es

tm
en

t P
la

n 
●

 

Pa
ge

 5
5 

 

gr
ee

n 
in

fr
as

tr
uc

tu
re

 
· 

Te
nb

ur
y 

W
el

ls
 T

ow
n 

Ce
nt

re
 P

ub
lic

 R
ea

lm
 E

nh
an

ce
m

en
t S

ch
em

e 
· 

U
pt

on
 u

po
n 

Se
ve

rn
 T

ow
n 

Ce
nt

re
 P

ub
lic

 R
ea

lm
 E

nh
an

ce
m

en
t S

ch
em

e 
· 

Im
pr

ov
em

en
ts

 to
 c

yc
le

 a
nd

 p
ed

es
tr

ia
n 

ne
tw

or
k,

 in
cl

ud
in

g 
br

id
ge

 o
ve

r R
iv

er
 S

ev
er

n 
· 

U
pt

on
 u

po
n 

Se
ve

rn
 to

 M
al

ve
rn

 c
yc

le
 ro

ut
e 

· 
O

pe
n 

sp
ac

e 
pr

ov
is

io
n 

an
d 

m
ai

nt
en

an
ce

 
· 

Co
m

m
un

ity
 c

en
tr

es
 

M
an

ag
in

g 
W

or
ce

st
er

sh
ire

’s
 

re
so

ur
ce

s 
· 

Ac
tio

ns
 to

 m
iti

ga
te

 a
nd

 a
da

pt
 to

 c
lim

at
e 

ch
an

ge
 (a

s 
se

t o
ut

 in
 e

m
er

gi
ng

 S
W

D
P)

 
· 

M
an

ag
in

g 
flo

od
 ri

sk
 in

 U
pt

on
 u

po
n 

Se
ve

rn
 a

nd
 T

en
bu

ry
 W

el
ls

 

 

 
 

Page 158



●
 W

or
ce

st
er

sh
ir

e 
Lo

ca
l I

nv
es

tm
en

t P
la

n 
●

 

Pa
ge

 5
6 

 

   
M

A
IN

 IN
V

ES
TM

EN
T 

SC
H

EM
ES

 F
O

R 
W

YC
H

A
V

O
N

  
Cr

ea
ti

ng
 th

e 
co

nd
it

io
ns

 to
 s

us
ta

in
 a

nd
 g

en
er

at
e 

em
pl

oy
m

en
t 

D
ev

el
op

in
g 

H
ig

h 
G

ro
w

th
 

Em
pl

oy
m

en
t s

ite
s 

· 
Su

pp
or

tin
g 

th
e 

ex
pa

ns
io

n 
of

 W
or

ce
st

er
 B

os
ch

 a
nd

 th
e 

pr
op

os
ed

 W
or

ce
st

er
 T

ec
hn

ol
og

y 
Pa

rk
 

Su
pp

or
tin

g 
th

e 
ec

on
om

ic
 

su
st

ai
na

bi
lit

y 
of

 W
or

ce
st

er
sh

ir
e’

s 
to

w
ns

 

· 
Su

pp
or

tin
g 

ne
w

 e
m

pl
oy

m
en

t o
pp

or
tu

ni
tie

s 
in

 D
ro

itw
ic

h 
Sp

a 
 to

 e
nh

an
ce

 it
s 

ro
le

 a
s 

a 
lo

ca
l c

om
m

er
ci

al
 a

nd
 v

is
ito

r 
ce

nt
re

, 
in

cl
ud

in
g 

op
po

rt
un

iti
es

 fo
r 

ne
w

 in
ve

st
m

en
t l

in
ke

d 
to

 c
an

al
 re

st
or

at
io

n 
pr

oj
ec

t 
an

d 
its

 p
ot

en
tia

l w
ith

in
 th

e 
A3

8 
H

ig
h 

Te
ch

no
lo

gy
 C

or
rid

or
 

· 
Co

nt
in

ue
d 

re
ge

ne
ra

tio
n/

de
ve

lo
pm

en
t i

n 
Ev

es
ha

m
 in

cl
ud

in
g 

 s
up

po
rt

 to
 lo

ca
l b

us
in

es
se

s 
du

rin
g 

co
ns

tr
uc

tio
n 

ph
as

e 
of

 
Ab

be
y 

Br
id

ge
 re

pl
ac

em
en

t,
 n

ew
 o

pp
or

tu
ni

tie
s 

fr
om

 V
al

e 
Bu

si
ne

ss
 P

ar
k,

 p
ro

po
se

d 
in

ve
st

m
en

t i
n 

Ev
es

ha
m

 C
ou

nt
ry

 P
ar

k 
an

d 
th

e 
on

go
in

g 
 

· 
M

ai
nt

ai
ni

ng
 th

e 
vi

ta
lit

y 
an

d 
vi

ab
ili

ty
 o

f P
er

sh
or

e,
 in

cl
ud

in
g 

op
po

rt
un

iti
es

 fo
r 

ex
pa

nd
in

g 
Ke

yt
ec

 7
 b

us
in

es
s 

pa
rk

 
Pr

ov
id

in
g 

th
e 

ri
gh

t h
ou

si
ng

 fo
r 

al
l c

om
m

un
it

ie
s 

Su
pp

or
tin

g 
ho

us
in

g 
m

ar
ke

ts
 in

 
W

or
ce

st
er

sh
ir

e’
s 

to
w

ns
 

· 
H

ou
si

ng
 d

ev
el

op
m

en
t i

n 
D

ro
itw

ic
h 

in
cl

ud
in

g 
a 

si
te

 c
ap

ab
le

 o
f d

el
iv

er
in

g 
74

0 
un

its
 (s

ub
je

ct
 to

 D
ev

el
op

m
en

t P
la

n 
al

lo
ca

tio
n)

 a
nd

 W
or

ce
st

er
 R

oa
d 

M
ed

al
s 

Si
te

 (c
.1

00
 u

ni
ts

)  
· 

H
ou

si
ng

 d
ev

el
op

m
en

t t
o 

th
e 

So
ut

h 
Ea

st
 o

f W
or

ce
st

er
 (3

00
 u

ni
ts

, s
ub

je
ct

 to
 D

ev
el

op
m

en
t 

Pl
an

 a
llo

ca
tio

n)
 

· 
H

ou
si

ng
 d

ev
el

op
m

en
t i

n 
Ev

es
ha

m
 in

cl
ud

in
g 

Ba
ds

ey
 R

oa
d 

(3
00

 u
ni

ts
), 

O
ff

en
ha

m
 R

oa
d 

(5
08

 u
ni

ts
) a

nd
 C

he
lte

nh
am

 R
oa

d 
Ph

as
e 

1 
(1

58
 u

ni
ts

) 
· 

H
ou

si
ng

 d
ev

el
op

m
en

t i
n 

Pe
rs

ho
re

 w
ith

 2
-3

 la
rg

e 
si

te
s 

ca
pa

bl
e 

of
 d

el
iv

er
in

g 
up

 to
 1

,0
00

 h
ou

se
s 

(s
ub

je
ct

 to
 D

ev
el

op
m

en
t 

Pl
an

 a
llo

ca
tio

n)
 a

nd
 T

hr
ee

 S
pr

in
gs

 R
oa

d 
(1

32
 u

ni
ts

) 

D
el

iv
er

in
g 

su
st

ai
na

bl
e 

ru
ra

l 
ho

us
in

g 

· 
Af

fo
rd

ab
le

 h
ou

si
ng

 a
nd

 s
up

po
rt

in
g 

in
fr

as
tr

uc
tu

re
 in

 W
yc

ha
vo

n’
s 

ru
ra

l a
re

as
 in

cl
ud

in
g 

sc
he

m
es

 in
 B

ev
er

e,
 B

ro
ad

w
ay

 a
nd

 
Ba

ds
ey

 
· 

Co
m

m
un

ity
 L

an
d 

Tr
us

t d
ev

el
op

m
en

t i
n 

Ev
es

ha
m

 ru
ra

l a
re

a 
· 

Re
m

od
el

lin
g 

ho
us

in
g 

of
 n

on
 tr

ad
iti

on
al

 b
ui

ld
 in

 ru
ra

l a
re

as
 

· 
Ac

hi
ev

in
g 

Co
de

 fo
r 

Su
st

ai
na

bl
e 

H
om

es
 L

ev
el

 6
 in

 E
ve

sh
am

 r
ur

al
 a

re
a 

M
ee

tin
g 

sp
ec

ia
l n

ee
ds

 

· 
D

ev
el

op
m

en
t o

f h
ou

si
ng

 fo
r t

ho
se

 w
ith

 s
pe

ci
al

is
t n

ee
ds

 o
n 

pu
bl

ic
 s

ec
to

r 
la

nd
 in

 E
ve

sh
am

 
· 

Pr
ov

is
io

n 
of

 s
pe

ci
al

is
t h

ou
si

ng
 (e

xt
ra

 c
ar

e 
vi

lla
ge

)  
· 

Ex
te

ns
io

n 
of

 e
xi

st
in

g 
sp

ec
ia

lis
t/

sh
el

te
re

d 
ho

us
in

g 
sc

he
m

es
 in

 P
er

sh
or

e 
(C

he
rr

y 
O

rc
ha

rd
 H

ou
se

 a
nd

 A
lm

on
ry

 C
lo

se
 

· 
Su

pp
or

tin
g 

th
os

e 
w

ith
 m

en
ta

l h
ea

lth
 p

ro
bl

em
s 

an
d 

su
bs

ta
nc

e 
m

is
us

e 
· 

In
cr

ea
si

ng
 th

e 
ra

ng
e 

of
 h

ou
si

ng
 o

pt
io

ns
 to

 m
ee

t t
he

 n
ee

ds
 o

f a
n 

ag
ei

ng
 p

op
ul

at
io

n 
· 

Re
m

od
el

lin
g 

of
 E

C/
Fe

rr
y 

Vi
ew

 in
 E

ve
sh

am
 

Im
pr

ov
in

g 
th

e 
ex

is
tin

g 
ho

us
in

g 
· 

Br
in

gi
ng

 e
m

pt
y 

ho
m

es
 b

ac
k 

in
to

 u
se

 

Page 159



●
 W

or
ce

st
er

sh
ir

e 
Lo

ca
l I

nv
es

tm
en

t P
la

n 
●

 

Pa
ge

 5
7 

 

st
oc

k 
· 

In
ve

st
m

en
t i

n 
en

er
gy

 e
ff

ic
ie

nc
y 

im
pr

ov
em

en
ts

 a
nd

 re
tr

of
itt

in
g 

· 
Ta

ck
lin

g 
un

de
r o

cc
up

at
io

n 
· 

U
pp

er
 fl

oo
r c

on
ve

rs
io

n 
gr

an
t s

ch
em

e 
or

 c
on

ve
rs

io
n 

of
 g

ar
ag

es
 to

 li
vi

ng
 s

pa
ce

 
D

ev
el

op
in

g 
W

or
ce

st
er

sh
ir

e’
s 

In
fr

as
tr

uc
tu

re
 

St
re

ng
th

en
in

g 
th

e 
hi

gh
w

ay
s 

in
fr

as
tr

uc
tu

re
 

· 
Ev

es
ha

m
 A

bb
ey

 B
rid

ge
 a

nd
 V

ia
du

ct
 R

ep
la

ce
m

en
t 

· 
Tr

af
fic

 a
nd

 p
ar

ki
ng

 m
an

ag
em

en
t s

tr
at

eg
y 

– 
D

ro
it

w
ic

h 
Sp

a 
· 

A3
8 

W
or

ce
st

er
 –

 D
ro

it
w

ic
h 

Sp
a 

– 
W

yc
hb

ol
d 

in
te

r u
rb

an
 c

or
rid

or
 im

pr
ov

em
en

ts
 

· 
Pi

nv
in

 A
44

 c
ro

ss
ro

ad
 e

nh
an

ce
d 

ca
pa

ci
ty

 s
ch

em
e 

· 
Ev

es
ha

m
 B

40
35

 ju
nc

tio
n 

en
ha

nc
em

en
t /

 B
en

ge
w

or
th

, E
ve

sh
am

 in
fr

as
tr

uc
tu

re
 e

nh
an

ce
m

en
ts

 
· 

Ev
es

ha
m

 A
41

84
 C

he
lte

nh
am

 R
oa

d 
Ju

nc
tio

n 
En

ha
nc

em
en

t S
ch

em
e 

· 
Im

pr
ov

em
en

ts
 to

 S
ou

th
er

n 
Li

nk
 R

oa
d 

(A
44

0)
 

Im
pr

ov
in

g 
pu

bl
ic

 tr
an

sp
or

t 

· 
D

ro
itw

ic
h 

Sp
a 

To
w

n 
Ce

nt
re

 P
ub

lic
 R

ea
lm

 E
nh

an
ce

m
en

t S
ch

em
e 

· 
D

ro
itw

ic
h 

Sp
a 

Ra
ilw

ay
 S

ta
tio

n 
En

ha
nc

em
en

t S
ch

em
e 

an
d 

Su
bw

ay
 E

nh
an

ce
m

en
t s

ch
em

e 
· 

Pe
rs

ho
re

 S
ta

tio
n 

En
ha

nc
em

en
t S

ch
em

e 
· 

H
ar

tle
bu

ry
 S

ta
tio

n 
En

ha
nc

em
en

t S
ch

em
e 

· 
Ra

il 
w

or
ks

 –
 W

or
ce

st
er

 to
 E

ve
sh

am
 li

ne
 a

nd
 a

 li
ne

 d
ua

lli
ng

 s
ch

em
e 

be
tw

ee
n 

D
ro

itw
ic

h 
Sp

a 
an

d 
Br

om
sg

ro
ve

 
· 

H
on

ey
bo

ur
ne

 S
ta

tio
n 

En
ha

nc
em

en
t S

ch
em

e 

D
ev

el
op

in
g 

so
ci

al
, c

om
m

un
ity

 a
nd

 
gr

ee
n 

in
fr

as
tr

uc
tu

re
 

· 
Ev

es
ha

m
 w

al
k/

cy
cl

e 
br

id
ge

 o
ve

r A
46

 a
nd

 u
nd

er
 R

iv
er

 A
vo

n 
br

id
ge

 
· 

Co
m

m
un

ity
 c

en
tr

es
 a

nd
 im

pr
ov

ed
 u

til
is

at
io

n 
of

 c
om

m
un

ity
 fa

ci
lit

ie
s 

· 
Co

 lo
ca

tio
n 

of
 p

ub
lic

 s
er

vi
ce

s 
· 

O
pe

n 
sp

ac
e 

pr
ov

is
io

n 
an

d 
m

ai
nt

en
an

ce
 

· 
N

ei
gh

bo
ur

ho
od

 p
ol

ic
e 

st
at

io
n 

in
 D

ro
itw

ic
h 

· 
En

ha
nc

ed
 le

is
ur

e 
an

d 
pl

ay
 p

ro
vi

si
on

 
M

an
ag

in
g 

W
or

ce
st

er
sh

ire
’s

 
re

so
ur

ce
s 

· 
Ac

tio
ns

 to
 m

iti
ga

te
 a

nd
 a

da
pt

 to
 c

lim
at

e 
ch

an
ge

 (a
s 

se
t o

ut
 in

 e
m

er
gi

ng
 C

or
e 

St
ra

te
gy

) 
· 

M
an

ag
in

g 
flo

od
 ri

sk
 

 

Page 160



● Worcestershire Local Investment Plan● 

Page 58 
 

6. Funding Delivery 
Key Points 

  
· Significant reductions in the availability of public sector funding, including HCA investment, 

expected to lead to far greater competition for resources.   
· New emphasis on finding creative solutions to developing packages of finance to support 

housing, regeneration and economic development will be key.  
· Strong emphasis on extracting more value from public sector assets, including to pool assets and 

cross subsidise.  Measures such as HCA local land initiative, Worcestershire’s Capital Asset 
Pathfinder and new risk and reward mechanisms will underpin future development.   

· Importance of partnership activity is reinforced, with the need for local authorities and 
Registered Providers to work with the HCA, other public sector partners and the private sector to 
develop investment packages to secure investment in developing new affordable rented housing.  

· Local authorities will need to lead development of new tenancy strategies in Worcestershire to 
reflect mechanisms and availability of funding for affordable housing.  

· Local mechanisms including Community Infrastructure Levy, Tax Increment 
Financing/Accelerated Development Zones and New Homes Bonus will become key sources of 
funding to support investment in housing, regeneration and infrastructure.     

· Partners gearing up to work with a new range of funding mechanisms (eg. Regional Growth Fund, 
Technology and Innovation Centres) to assist in delivering economic development and 
regeneration priorities.  Regional Growth Fund bids already submitted.   
 

The Delivery Challenge 

6.1 Implementation of the thematic priorities set out in the previous section will involve the 
delivery of a range of different schemes, including:  

· Major residential schemes, some of which are targeted at specific groups of 
residents such as older or vulnerable people, or particular localities where 
opportunities for new housing developments have been identified.   

· Major mixed use developments, some of which will take place in several phases over 
a number of years.  Early investment in infrastructure or housing on a site will unlock 
future, larger scale development phases.    

· Employment led schemes, ranging from major site developments and key town 
centre investments through to more modest workspace schemes.  

· Crucially, the development of infrastructure to underpin housing and wider 
regeneration activities.   

6.2 Partners in Worcestershire recognise that this will take place in an investment climate which 
has substantially changed.  Over the past decade there has been public sector funding to 
support the delivery of new housing, regeneration schemes and infrastructure 
improvements.  As the recession took hold of the housing industry, mechanisms including 
the National Affordable Housing Programme and Kickstart became increasingly critical to 
development activity, accounting for as much as 70% of recorded starts in the year to the 
second quarter of 2010.   

Page 161



● Worcestershire Local Investment Plan● 

Page 59 
 

6.3 These favourable funding conditions also extended to wider regeneration and economic 
development.  Regional development agencies, including Advantage West Midlands, 
channelled substantial funding to local areas through investments in employment sites and 
premises, together with the extensive range of investments to support specific sectors of the 
economy, business support, skills development, public realm improvements and other key 
components of the economy.   

6.4 In recent years, emphasis on the development of the knowledge economy has also played a 
key part in improving and generating new infrastructure including science and technology 
parks as well as directing investment towards research and development.  There has been a 
strong flow of investment both directly into this infrastructure (eg. through the RDAs) but 
also through public investment into technology intensive industries such as defence.   

6.5 A feature of the period leading up to the recession was the ready supply of credit and the 
generally relaxed conditions for borrowing. These features extended to local public sector 
authorities who, in certain parts of the country, secured increasing volumes of unsupported 
borrowing to help implement major pieces of physical renewal.   

6.6 Many of these funding sources have now radically reduced and the LIP will be delivered in a 
substantially different context to that which prevailed through much of the 2000s.   

6.7 The HCA has seen a significant reduction in its funding, with £4.5 billion available over the 
period from 2011-15 for investment in affordable housing, mortgage rescue, empty homes, 
provision for gypsies/travellers and places of change.  It will now operate through a different 
geographical structure that will see increased competition for resources over much larger 
areas of the country.   Partners can expect much greater emphasis on the alignment of 
public sector resources, package based approaches to development and the maximising of 
returns on investment.    

6.8 These changes in the HCA’s mechanisms for investing in housing present key challenges to 
which partners in Worcestershire are now responding:   

· The need to continually refine and update lists of investment priorities to better 
reflect the volume and type of public funding available.  This first LIP represents the 
start of this process.   

· The need for Registered Providers and local authorities to work together to develop 
packages of schemes to access HCA investment.      

· The need to accelerate activity to find new ways to pool public sector assets in 
Worcestershire and lever in investment for housing and regeneration through the 
creative use of these assets.  

· The importance of local authorities leading the development of new or updated 
tenancy strategies, working with Registered Providers and other partners.   

6.9 The withdrawal of single programme funding and the closure of the RDAs will reduce the 
availability of funding to support employment development and regeneration activity in 
Worcestershire.  Between 2008 and 2010, Advantage West Midlands operated with an 
annual budget of just under £300 million.  While new funding will be available, it will be both 
more limited and more competitive.   

Page 162



● Worcestershire Local Investment Plan● 

Page 60 
 

Worcestershire’s Response   

6.10 In this new policy and funding landscape, a number of generic principles are emerging that 
will determine how partners will approach the housing, wider regeneration and 
infrastructure investment it requires over the next few years.  Strong public and private 
sector partnership, creative ways of subsidising development and the pooling of public 
sector assets will be central features of this new approach.  Any public sector resource that 
is available will be fiercely competed for.   

6.11 Specifically partners in Worcestershire will seek to: 

First, work constructively with the HCA’s new affordable rent 
investment mechanism  

6.12 The shift to the affordable rent model will fundamentally change the means by which 
significant volumes of affordable housing are provided, and will have particularly important 
consequences for social rented housing.  Partners are now responding to the need for a 
closer, three-way working arrangement and dialogue between the HCA, Registered 
Providers and local authorities based on trust and a full, open book approach to determining 
what could and should be developed.  Key elements of Worcestershire’s response include:    

· Registered Providers exploring how to work with new flexibilities (eg. potential to 
reassign stock to affordable rent, which in turn is expected to provide additional 
revenue which could be used to subsidise further development).   The way in which 
Registered Providers are able to contribute significant equity and funding into 
project packages, in order to secure HCA funding, could entail various initiatives 
including:  

Ø loan finance (secured against other assets / income)  

Ø converting existing socially rented stock into affordable rented 
accommodation – using the uplift in rentals to fund additional new build, or 

Ø putting in land assets upfront at nil value, taking any value / uplifts at a later 
date. 

· Collective dialogue amongst Registered Providers and local authorities about 
investment priorities, building on existing mechanisms in the County.    

· Exploring how the mix of sites proposed by Registered Providers together with an 
approach which focuses development as much as possible, or feasible, on the HCA’s 
preferred new affordable product (up to 80% of market rent) could help to 
strengthen the role of the private sector in funding deliverable private housing (for 
sale and / or to rent) and in contributing to the affordable housing needs of the area.   

· Similarly, partners are continuing to create opportunities to cross-subsidise 
development through Section 106 arrangements or through the use of land and 
premises assets to generate receipts for reinvestment.  This approach is particularly 
important for special needs special needs developments, since less public funding 
will be available to support priority schemes of this type across Worcestershire.   

Page 163



● Worcestershire Local Investment Plan● 

Page 61 
 

· Assessing the contributions that Registered Providers could make in delivering some 
other housing products (e.g. socially rented or special needs projects) and the scale 
of such provision.   

6.13 Together, these activities will play a critical part in determining how much HCA funding will 
be available to support the new affordable housing product.  At the same time, partners 
recognise the need to demonstrate the best possible value for money from any proposed 
investments.  As well as simply representing a direct return (e.g. the number of housing units 
delivered), such considerations also need to take account of procurement and other 
efficiencies (e.g. through Registered Providers working in consortia, or ensuring their 
projects develop skills and employment within local communities).    

Second, use local assets creatively  

6.14 There is now growing emphasis on the creative use of local land assets to secure housing, 
regeneration and economic development priorities.  Partners in Worcestershire are now 
seeking to build on initiatives already underway in this area, and to explore new mechanisms 
for extracting additional value from shared assets.  Their response includes:     

· Early dialogue about the HCA’s local land initiative (LLI).  The HCA will have the 
leading role in a 10 year programme intended to create a long term pipeline of land 
for housing to support economic development and other key policy objectives.  The 
initiative will involve the alignment of resources and investment plans including the 
use of HCA and Advantage West Midlands’ assets, local assets and the development 
of opportunities to cross subsidise between sites in these portfolios.  Support for the 
procurement of delivery partners will be central to the LLI, part of a drive to make 
the HCA’s resources (expertise, influence) available to local partners which will also 
include work with financial institutions to secure new private sector investment in 
schemes.   

· Starting to explore the potential to recycle receipts from land assets (including HCA 
land) and the more creative use of land to generate income.   This is closely 
connected to the local land initiative, with the use of mechanisms such as overage 
aligned to HCA grant funding to fund several phases of development.  New 
approaches to assets might extend to requests to ring-fence receipts from the sale 
of HCA land for the local area, with those funds then subsiding housing 
developments elsewhere in the community.  It could also include local authorities 
leasing rather than selling land to generate longer term income streams.   

· Further developing Worcestershire’s Capital and Asset Pathfinder initiative, which is 
a good example of how partners are approaching the need to more creatively use 
either HCA or public sector land holdings, with greater emphasis on creating 
opportunities for land swaps.  Through the Capital and Asset pathfinder, partners in 
Worcestershire have already made progress in building a comprehensive picture of 
the availability of public sector land and property assets across the county.  Business 
plans have been developed to promote joint approaches to service delivery, 
including the sharing of buildings.  Over time, this will provide a valuable resource to 
support further work on the creative use of local assets to secure future 
development.     

Page 164



● Worcestershire Local Investment Plan● 

Page 62 
 

6.15 Part of the process of identifying schemes for inclusion in the LIP has included establishing 
the ownership of sites and the potential for sites to be used as assets to lever other 
investment or cross-subsidise development elsewhere.  Partners will seek to build on this 
work in future versions of the LIP.   

Third, experiment with new risk and reward tools 

6.16 The UK government has signalled its intent to introduce a range of risk and incentive tools 
designed to encourage local housing and business development by expanding the options 
available to local authorities and their partners to borrow resources to facilitate physical 
renewal.   

6.17 To incentivise areas to accept new house building and to help increase rates of 
development, the New Homes Bonus policy will take effect from April 2011.  This will see 
local planning authorities receive payments based on the annual net increase in dwellings in 
its area, with higher payments per dwelling for properties in higher value council tax bands.  
Although there is no indication that this funding will be ring fenced solely for housing and 
related infrastructure, it is a further signal of intent on moves to a more localist position on 
tax and expenditure decisions. Partners in Worcestershire are now considering how best to 
use this to support priorities identified in the LIP, with the potential for some NHB funding to 
be pooled across several local authority areas.     

6.18 The 2010 White Paper on Local Growth gave a clear commitment by the government to 
introduce a Tax Increment Finance (TIF) model.  This would give Worcestershire’s local 
authorities the potential to borrow additional funds to invest in capital and infrastructure 
projects leveraged against projected increases in local revenues from local business rates.  
As development takes place and new revenues are generated, these would be ring fenced to 
enable the local authority to meet its borrowing obligations (debt and interest).   The 
expectation is that this would be based on an Accelerated Development Zone model, where 
an area is designated within which a local authority or groups of local authorities will invest 
in the expectation of securing growth in income from business rates.    

6.19 Partners recognise that retaining a flexible approach to future housing and regeneration 
priorities in Worcestershire will be important, since detail about how these mechanisms will 
work and the opportunities they will create is still emerging.   

Fourth, adopt new approaches to capturing developer value 

6.20 In November 2010, the government announced its intention to retain the Community 
Infrastructure Levy.  The CIL mechanism is intended to simplify the process of capturing 
value from development for reinvestment in local communities, through the setting of local 
levy rates based on infrastructure plans. This ties the returns from development to their 
scale – essentially through the use of a charging schedule which will be clear to developers in 
advance of any development.  

6.21 The expectation about the CIL mechanism is that it will provide local areas with a flexible 
mechanism to fund an extensive array of infrastructure to underpin development.  In 
delivering the local investment plan for Worcestershire, the CIL is likely to be an important 
contribution to the wider package of funding required to make new developments work, and 

Page 165



● Worcestershire Local Investment Plan● 

Page 63 
 

to ensure that local infrastructure improvements keep pace with new housing schemes.    

Fifth, gear up early for competitive funding regimes 

6.22 Partners in Worcestershire have moved quickly to respond to a number of new funding 
regimes introduced during the latter part of 2010.  In the context of delivering the LIP, two 
funding sources in particular have an important part to play:  

· Bids are currently being submitted for the first round of the new Regional Growth 
Fund (RGF).  A total of £1.4 billion has been earmarked for the RGF over the next 3 
years, with its primary purpose to encourage bids by private-public partnerships to 
support initiatives that will create new private sector jobs over a sustained period.  
While housing is not an explicit priority for RGF, successful first round bids and 
submissions to future rounds have the potential to be a significant source of funding 
to support the creation of new employment opportunities in Worcestershire, and to 
underpin priorities identified in the LEP and in Worcestershire’s economic strategy.  
The government’s intention is that RGF will be directed to those areas where there 
are both the biggest opportunities for new employment and which are most heavily 
dependent on public sector employment. Six first round bids have already been 
submitted including:  

Ø A major package of improvements to Kidderminster Station (East Midlands 
Trains)  

Ø The purchase of land for development in Evesham 

Ø Proposals for the development of the Bosch led technology centre.   

· The government has allocated £200 million over a 4 year period to support the 
development of new Technology and Innovation Centres (TIC), with the Technology 
Strategy Board tasked with identifying 6-8 centres for investment in sectors 
including energy & resource efficiency, transport systems, healthcare, ICT and 
electronics, photonics and electrical systems.  With a well established, 
internationally recognised base of high tech manufacturing businesses and its 
associated research and development base, Worcestershire partners will consider 
how the TIC initiative might support their aspirations to further develop the county’s 
strengths in knowledge intensive industries.     

Sixth, develop Worcestershire policies on a range of housing issues  

6.23 Production of this first LIP and the emergence of new policy and funding mechanisms for 
housing and wider regeneration reinforce the case for developing Worcestershire wide 
policies and programmes on housing issues.   Partners are making good headway in this 
regard with the development of the LIP and with their continued work to complete the 
County Housing Strategy.  The Local Enterprise Partnership, work on a new County 
Sustainable Community Strategy and the development of a County Infrastructure Delivery 
Plan are all helping to strengthen Worcestershire wide policies for priorities identified by the 
LIP.  However, partners have signalled through the LIP process the need for further work on 
an extensive range of issues which are common to several areas or in some cases the County 
as a whole. These are summarised in below: 

Page 166



● Worcestershire Local Investment Plan● 

Page 64 
 

Table 6-1: Key Housing Issues Identified By Partners  

Issue Emerging Responses  
New approaches to tenancy Highlighted through LIP process and dialogue has commenced, and 

partners will need to work towards tenancy strategies that reflect the 
new national tenancy policy framework 

Domestic abuse refuges and 
support 

Some potential schemes identified through LIP process. Needs 
assessment being undertaken across County.   

Provision for Gypsies and 
Travellers 

Some schemes identified in LIP, with adopted Core Strategy (Wyre 
Forest) and draft core strategies identifying need and locations 

Connecting LIP to 
Infrastructure Deliver y 
Planning process 

Discussed through LIP process and recognised as issue to be 
addressed following completion of first LIP.  Place Shaping Group to 
consider.   

Older people and need for 
more extra care provision 

Research undertaken and new work commissioned looking at Extra 
Care by the Joint Commissioning Unit. Potential for more research to 
target priority locations.  Further research needed on demand for 
accommodation for people suffering from dementia. 

Need for innovative 
approaches to funding and 
mix of housing for elderly 

Partners have pointed to scope for more subsidising of low rent, extra 
care and other types of provision through the development of more 
aspirational market housing for the elderly.   

Provision of accommodation 
for people with mental 
health needs. 

Needs assessment being undertaken across County which may result 
in reconfiguration of services and development of new provision 

Provision for people with 
physical disabilities and 
sensory impairment 

Needs assessment being undertaken across County which may result 
in reconfiguration of services and development of new provision 

Accommodation for single 
homeless and young people 
at risk 

Needs assessment being undertaken across South Worcestershire 
which may result in reconfiguration of services and development of 
new provision 

Need to develop 
Worcestershire wide 
approach to Mortgage 
Rescue  

Work already underway to generate data on potential demand for 
mortgage rescue, which will inform how HCA funding and supporting 
activity is allocated across the County  

Empty  homes  Potential to look at new ways to bring empty homes back into use 
through a toolkit of measures and linking investment to nomination 
rights 

Delivery of renewable 
technologies in homes and 
retrofitting of low carbon 
technologies  

Process of developing LIP has highlighted wide range of schemes 
already being delivered in Worcestershire and need to secure funding 
to continue programmes.  Linked to measures to tackle fuel poverty.   

Implementation of code for 
sustainable homes and new 
design standards 

These will be determined locally under the emerging policy 
framework, and partners could work with the HCA to respond to this 
change 

Tackling underoccupation  Need to explore incentives for downsizing to promote better use of 
existing affordable housing provision by enabling downsizing within 
current social rented homes.   

Overcrowding  Need to find innovative ways to increase space available (eg. loft 
conversion programmes) to enable households to remain living in 
local communities and to retain existing support networks particularly 
where larger accommodation is in poor supply - building on pilot 
project outcomes 

6.24 This rapidly changing policy and funding climate presents both opportunities and challenges 
for partners in Worcestershire in taking forward the priorities they have identified in the LIP.  
Over the coming months, partners will need to undertake a more detailed assessment of the 

Page 167



● Worcestershire Local Investment Plan● 

Page 65 
 

range of funding and delivery issues they are faced with in delivering key priorities for the 
County.  It will be important to ensure that County wide strategic priorities for 
accommodation for older and vulnerable people are connected to the Supporting People 
initiative and other commissioning arrangements.  In essence, what is required is a business 
planning approach to identifying the most deliverable and the highest impact investments 
with an emphasis on finding creative and innovative ways to deliver them.  The 
Worcestershire Place Shaping Group should be expected to play a key role in coordinating 
this activity. 

  

Page 168



● Worcestershire Local Investment Plan● 

Page 66 
 

7. Working with the HCA  
7.1 Local Investment Plans were, and remain, a mechanism to help HCA decide how best it can 

assist in meeting affordable housing and regeneration needs in local areas. Whilst the scale 
and nature of the resource which HCA has at its disposal has changed fundamentally from 
when LIPs were first conceived, there remains a continuing need for the LIP to provide HCA 
with a framework against which it can assess the case for any investment in Worcestershire.    

7.2 As set out in Section 6, HCA’s principal investment mechanism for the period 2011-15 in 
Worcestershire will be its new £4.5 billion affordable rental model.3 

7.3 Resources under the affordable rental model will be distributed via Registered Provider led 
investment packages. Each investment package will deliver affordable homes, with a primary 
focus on affordable rental properties, via a number of funding routes comprising: 

· HCA grant funding, with the detail of the process set out in the prospectus on the 
affordable rent product 

· Registered Provider’s own resources – which could come from borrowing capacity 
from new affordable rent homes, or resources generated from conversion (to 
affordable rent and in some cases, disposal or conversion to shared ownership) 

· Other sources, including private sector developer Section 106 contributions and the 
(anticipated) extensive use of public sector land assets.  

7.4 Proposals under HCAs supported housing, empty homes and gypsy and traveller initiatives 
are also to be included within affordable rent package proposals.     

7.5 The HCAs wider enabling role, in terms of the in-house expertise across its teams and access 
to delivery partner panels for example, will underpin the assembly of package proposals and 
their implementation. The process of securing grant from HCA has yet to be determined but 
is likely to be via a competitive bidding process, with the demands for HCA resources being 
greater than the level of available resources.   

7.6 In recent months housing officers from the six local authorities, together with inputs from 
Worcestershire’s Registered Providers, have been assembling a long list of possible 
investment priorities that could underpin package proposals. These lists have now been 
refined to comprise schemes that have: 

· The potential to provide a significant new supply of affordable homes along with the 
provision of housing to meet special needs, including those of older and vulnerable 
people.     

· A genuine probability of delivery commencing within the next 4 years.  In preparing 
the LIP, the deliverability of each scheme has been assessed with partners.  Any for 
which barriers exist which make delivery a remote prospect have been excluded.   

· Scope to contribute to one or more of the five LIP housing themes set out in Section 

                                                
3  Whilst HCA nationally also has £2 bn to deploy on the Decent Homes programme the vast majority of this will be 
focused on Council Landlords with a backlog of more than 10% non-decent stock, none of which are located in 
Worcestershire.  

Page 169



● Worcestershire Local Investment Plan● 

Page 67 
 

5 of this document.  This is clearly indicated in the analysis of the list.   

7.7 For some schemes there is an anticipated need for public subsidy to deliver affordable 
housing components - there may be a proven or likely viability gap, or HCA or other public 
sector land may be involved.  This is clearly indicated in the table.  For others affordable 
housing will be delivered through Section 106 contributions, or through resources generated 
from conversion of existing Registered Provider stock to affordable rental units.  

7.8 In utilising these lists of candidate schemes for north and south Worcestershire, a number of 
caveats should be highlighted. There is a clear need for further financial modelling with 
Registered Providers to assess whether the affordable rent product will prove to be a viable 
on sites identified for HCA support.   

7.9 Also, the lists have been compiled in dialogue with each of the local authorities and 
representatives of the Registered Providers using the best information currently available 
about the schemes.  In some cases, there are not yet clear details about the nature of some 
individual schemes, the volume of housing they will accommodate, their potential 
start/completion dates and requirements for HCA and other public sector support. This 
reinforces the need for partners to retain a degree of flexibility in updating and 
supplementing the list as schemes come forward. 

Page 170



● Worcestershire Local Investment Plan● 

Page 68 
 

Analysis of Worcestershire Schemes     

7.10 Table 7-1 below provides a summary analysis of those schemes for which the LIP has 
identified a need for subsidy to secure the delivery of affordable housing.  These schemes 
will be central to further discussions between the HCA, local authorities and Registered 
Providers about the development of package proposals.   

7.11 Alongside summary data on the number of schemes under each of the LIP’s key housing 
priorities, Table 7-1 shows the number of housing units and affordable housing units which 
those schemes have the potential to deliver.  It also indicates how many of those schemes 
have Registered Providers already involved or earmarked for them, and how many would 
involve the use of public land.  The key findings from this analysis are:   

· The analysis identifies 103 schemes for which a need for subsidy has been identified.   

· Overall, the schemes would deliver just under 3,500 housing units, of which around 
2,100 would be affordable.   

· A total of 19 schemes deliver just over 2,000 houses (930 affordable) in schemes to 
support high growth employment sites and the main employment centres in 
Worcestershire.  

· Under the supporting the vitality of housing markets in Worcestershire’s towns, 19 
schemes have been identified as requiring subsidy.  They would deliver around 340 
homes, close to 300 of which would be affordable.   

· A large number of schemes (42) would deliver sustainable rural housing.  The 
majority (90%) of this housing would be affordable.  This reflects the extensive 
rurality of parts of Worcestershire.     

· A total of 23 schemes under the meeting special needs priority, which together 
would deliver around 620 units ranging from extra care units for elderly people to 
supported flats for young people with chaotic lifestyles.   

· The overwhelming majority of schemes (more than 80%) already have Registered 
Providers involved in them through land/building ownership, roles as development 
partners or outline agreements to deliver affordable housing on the site.   

· Around 40% of the schemes involve the use of public sector land assets, an 
increasingly important factor in securing investment.  Although 60% of schemes do 
not appear to involve public sector land assets, many of the sites identified are 
owned by Registered Providers and have therefore been earmarked for affordable 
housing, special needs housing etc. 

Page 171



●
 W

or
ce

st
er

sh
ir

e 
Lo

ca
l I

nv
es

tm
en

t P
la

n●
 

Pa
ge

 6
9 

 

      

Ta
bl

e 
7-

1:
 C

ou
nt

 o
f S

ch
em

es
 w

it
h 

po
te

nt
ia

l t
o 

st
ar

t w
it

hi
n 

4 
ye

ar
s,

 w
it

h 
re

qu
ir

em
en

t f
or

 p
ub

lic
 s

ub
si

dy
 id

en
ti

fie
d

 
Pr

io
rit

y 
D

is
tr

ic
t 

To
ta

l N
o.

 
of

 
Sc

he
m

es
 

To
ta

l N
o.

 o
f 

U
ni

ts
 

Su
m

 o
f 

A
ff

or
da

bl
e 

U
ni

ts
 

RP
 

id
en

tif
ie

d 
Ye

s/
N

o 
 

U
se

 o
f 

pu
bl

ic
 

la
nd

 
Ye

s/
N

o 

Br
om

sg
ro

ve
 

M
al

ve
rn

 
H

ill
s 

Re
dd

itc
h 

W
or

ce
st

er
 

W
yc

ha
vo

n 
W

yr
e 

Fo
re

st
 

H
ou

si
ng

 to
 s

up
po

rt
 h

ig
h 

gr
ow

th
 

em
pl

oy
m

en
t s

ite
s 

an
d 

em
pl

oy
m

en
t i

n 
m

ai
n 

ce
nt

re
s 

1 
1 

9 
4 

0 
4 

19
 

2,
04

5 
93

0 
Y 

= 
14

 
N

 =
 5

 
Y 

= 
10

 
N

 =
 9

 

Su
pp

or
tin

g 
th

e 
vi

ta
lit

y 
of

 
ho

us
in

g 
m

ar
ke

ts
 in

 
W

or
ce

st
er

sh
ir

e’
s 

to
w

ns
 

4 
1 

0 
0 

12
 

2 
19

 
34

5 
30

1 
Y 

= 
15

 
N

 =
 4

 
Y 

= 
7 

N
 =

 1
2 

D
el

iv
er

in
g 

su
st

ai
na

bl
e 

ru
ra

l 
ho

us
in

g 
 

2 
11

 
0 

0 
26

 
3 

42
 

46
7 

42
5 

Y 
= 

33
 

N
 =

 9
 

Y 
= 

14
 

N
 =

 2
8 

M
ee

tin
g 

sp
ec

ia
l n

ee
ds

  
4 

3 
6 

2 
4 

4 
23

 
62

3 
47

3 
 Y

 =
 1

9 
N

 =
 4

 
Y 

= 
7 

N
 =

 1
6 

To
ta

l 
11

 
16

 
15

 
6 

42
 

13
 

10
3 

3,
48

0 
2,

12
9 

Y=
81

 
N

=2
2 

Y=
38

 
N

=6
5 

Page 172



● Worcestershire Local Investment Plan● 

Page 70 
 

7.12 Table 7-2 provides a summary analysis of the all schemes identified by partners for 
consideration in the LIP process.  This list includes both those schemes for which a need for 
public subsidy has been identified and others for which no specific need for subsidy has yet 
been identified. Many of these non-subsidy schemes are expected to generate affordable 
housing through developer contributions.  The analysis includes only the following types of 
scheme:   

· The potential to commence delivery within 4 years.   

· No potentially insurmountable barriers to the scheme being delivered.  Partners 
have identified a number of sites where development is assessed as being unlikely to 
proceed.  

· Schemes where there is a clear start date and data on the number of units that 
could be accommodated on the site. The analysis therefore excludes those schemes 
for which this information is not yet available.   

7.13  Clearly, partners have an extensive range of specific sites, schemes and initiatives which are 
expected to contribute to achieving housing targets and policy objectives.  A total of 131 
specific schemes/sites have been included in this analysis.  The list provides a 
comprehensive picture of the supply and pipeline of sites and schemes in Worcestershire.  
They range from large scale urban extensions which are expected to generate significant 
investment in affordable housing from Section 106 contributions through to small scale 
schemes on which housing provision is likely to be dependent on public subsidy.  The key 
points of this summary analysis are:   

· Schemes would deliver 10,400 housing units, 5,000 of which would be affordable.   

· Around 65% of site specific schemes (95) already have a Registered Provider 
involved with them.  

· Only around 20% of site specific schemes have involved identified public land.  Many 
sites are owned of sites by Registered Providers, while there are also substantial 
private sector land holdings across the County.   

· An overwhelming majority of the housing units that would be delivered by these 
schemes have been identified under priorities to support high growth employment 
sites and employment centres together with housing to support the vitality of 
housing markets in Worcestershire’s towns.   

· However, the highest number of schemes (47) falls under the Sustainable Rural 
Housing priority, reflecting the large number of rural housing sites identified by both 
Malvern Hills Council and Wychavon Council. 

 

Page 173



●
 W

or
ce

st
er

sh
ir

e 
Lo

ca
l I

nv
es

tm
en

t P
la

n●
 

Pa
ge

 7
1 

 

       

Ta
bl

e 
7-

2:
 C

ou
nt

 o
f S

ch
em

es
 w

it
h 

po
te

nt
ia

l t
o 

st
ar

t w
it

hi
n 

4 
ye

ar
s,

 w
it

h 
re

qu
ir

em
en

t f
or

 p
ub

lic
 s

ub
si

dy
 id

en
ti

fie
d

 
 

Pr
io

rit
y 

D
is

tr
ic

t 
To

ta
l N

o.
 

of
 

Sc
he

m
es

 

To
ta

l N
o.

 o
f 

U
ni

ts
 

Su
m

 o
f 

A
ff

or
da

bl
e 

U
ni

ts
 

RP
 

id
en

tif
ie

d 
Ye

s/
N

o*
 

U
se

 o
f 

pu
bl

ic
 

la
nd

 
Ye

s/
N

o*
 

Br
om

sg
ro

ve
 

M
al

ve
rn

 
H

ill
s 

Re
dd

itc
h 

W
or

ce
st

er
 

W
yc

ha
vo

n 
W

yr
e 

Fo
re

st
 

H
ou

si
ng

 to
 s

up
po

rt
 h

ig
h 

gr
ow

th
 

em
pl

oy
m

en
t s

ite
s 

an
d 

em
pl

oy
m

en
t i

n 
m

ai
n 

ce
nt

re
s 

10
 

2 
17

 
5 

4 
11

 
49

 
7,

90
0 

3,
00

6 
Y=

17
 

N
=2

9 
Y=

14
 

N
=3

5 

Su
pp

or
tin

g 
th

e 
vi

ta
lit

y 
of

 
ho

us
in

g 
m

ar
ke

ts
 in

 
W

or
ce

st
er

sh
ir

e’
s 

to
w

ns
 

4 
3 

0 
0 

2 
2 

11
 

1,
06

1 
86

0 
Y=

18
 

N
-9

 
Y=

8 
N

=2
5 

D
el

iv
er

in
g 

su
st

ai
na

bl
e 

ru
ra

l 
ho

us
in

g 
 

2 
11

 
0 

0 
31

 
3 

47
 

79
2 

64
6 

Y=
40

 
N

=7
 

Y=
10

 
N

=3
7 

M
ee

tin
g 

sp
ec

ia
l n

ee
ds

  
4 

3 
6 

2 
5 

4 
24

 
66

2 
49

1 
Y=

20
 

N
=4

 
Y=

6 
N

-1
8 

To
ta

l 
20

 
19

 
23

 
7 

42
 

20
 

13
1 

10
,4

15
 

5,
00

3 
Y=

95
 

N
=4

9 
Y=

38
 

N
=1

15
 

* 
In

fo
rm

at
io

n 
on

 p
ub

lic
 la

nd
 a

nd
 R

eg
is

te
re

d 
Pr

ov
id

er
 in

vo
lv

em
en

t n
ot

 k
no

w
n 

fo
r 

sm
al

l n
um

be
r o

f s
ch

em
es

.  

Page 174



● Worcestershire Local Investment Plan● 

Page 72 
 

 

7.14 This full list of schemes that partners have identified through the LIP process provides 
partners in Worcestershire with a strong platform for dialogue about the development of 
packages of proposed investments with housing.  The potential for schemes to cross-
subsidise other schemes (eg. through developer contributions, land swap mechanisms, 
reallocations) is already being explored by partners, and this process will be critical in 
achieving the objectives identified by the LIP.    

7.15 It is important to note that partners identified a total of 243 schemes and sites through the 
LIP process.  In summary, those which do not feature in the analysis above include:  

· 40 schemes/sites for which no start date was available 

· 40 schemes/sites for which no housing unit data was available 

· 24 non-site specific initiatives (eg. energy efficiency schemes, retrofitting schemes)  

· A number of sites which partners specifically indicated should not be included in the 
analysis.   

7.16 Registered Providers will continue to play a central role in delivering affordable housing 
across Worcestershire.  Further analysis of those scheme for which a need for subsidy has 
been identified indicates that the County is well-served by a wide range of Registered 
Providers that are already involved with many of the schemes listed in the LIP.  An indicative 
summary of the specific Registered Providers identified with the schemes summarised in 
Tables 7.1 and 7.2 is provided in Table 7-3 below.  

  

Page 175



● Worcestershire Local Investment Plan● 

Page 73 
 

 

Table 7-3: Indicative Summary of Registered Providers Identified for Local Investment Plan Schemes 

 BDHT Stonham 
Home 
Group 

Accord Accord/RCH  Festival  WFCH West 
Mercia 

West 
Mercia/ 
BDHT 

Various 

No. of 
Schemes 
with 
Need for 
Subsidy 
Indicated 

8 5 1 2 2 7 2 1 1 

Overall 
No. of 
Schemes 

11 5 1 2 2 8 2 1 1 

  
 Festival 

Housing 
Group  

West 
Mercia  

Worcester 
Community 
Housing  

Marches-
Jephson 
Group 

Rooftop 
Housing 
Group  

Stonham 
Home 
Group 

Various   

No. of 
Schemes 
with 
Need for 
Subsidy 
Indicated 

12 4 3 3 32 1 1*   

Overall 
No. of 
Schemes 

13 4 4 3 35 1 1   

Note: *Various Registered Providers identified for non-site specific schemes (eg. retrofitting, 
reconfiguration of sheltered housing stock) 

7.17 This is not intended to represent an exhaustive list of Registered Providers involvement with 
schemes identified in the LIP.  In some cases, agreement with a specific Registered Provider 
has not yet been reached, while there were information gaps for a number of schemes (eg. 
no clear start date, numbers of housing units unknown). The substantial number of schemes 
associated with the Rooftop Housing Group reflects this Registered Provider’s significant 
presence in rural areas of Worcestershire. 

 

Page 176



● Worcestershire Local Investment Plan  ● 

Page 74 

 

8. Consultation and Engagement  
8.1 Consultations with Local Authorities, Registered Providers, the Homes and Communities 

Agency have been essential in compiling the Local Investment Plan.  These took place over 
the period from November 2010 to February 2011 and included: 

· North and South Worcestershire Local Investment Plan Task and Finish Group 
(November) 

· Consultation with Worcestershire County Council representatives, 15th November  

· Meeting with Worcestershire Place Shaping Group, 29th November  

· Scheme review discussion with Ruth Bamford, Daniel Russell (Redditch Council) and 
Andy Coel (Bromsgrove Council), 29th November  

· Site visit and scheme review, Wyre Forest Council, 29th November  

· Meeting with North Worcestershire Delivery Group, 29th November  

· Scheme review meeting with Andy Coel and Mike Dunphy, Bromsgrove Council, 
December 2010 

· Scheme review meeting with Alison Grimmett, Daniel Russell, Matthew Bough 
(Redditch Borough Council) and Mike Williams (Worcestershire County Council), 
December 2010 

· Scheme review meeting with Kate Bailey, Wyre Forest Council, 9th December  

· Roundtable meeting with Registered Providers, Malvern, 9th December.  Attendees 
from Bromsgrove &  District Housing Trust, Rooftop Housing Group, Worcester 
Community Housing, Community Housing Group, WM Housing Group, Waterloo 
Housing Group, Bromford Housing Group, Festival Housing Group 

· Scheme review meeting with Wychavon Council representatives, January 2011 

· Scheme review meeting with Worcester City Council representatives, January 2011 

· Scheme review meeting with Malvern Hills Council representatives, January 2011  

· Joint meeting with South Worcestershire Registered Providers and Local Authorities, 
January 2011  

· Meeting with North Worcestershire LIP Task and Finish Group, January 19th 

· Meeting with South Worcestershire LIP Task and Finish Group, January 19th 

· Joint meeting with Local Authority representatives and HCA, Worcester, 19th January  

 

Page 177



 

 

     
 

Regeneris Consulting Ltd 

Manchester Office 
One Ashley Road 
Altrincham, Cheshire 
WA14 2DT 
Tel: 0161 926 9214   
Email: manchester@regeneris.co.uk 
 

London Office 
70 Cowcross Street 
London, EC1M 6EJ 
Tel: 0207 608 7200 
Email: london@regeneris.co.uk 

Web: www.regeneris.co.uk 

 

Page 178



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

COUNCIL  6th June 2011  

 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\6\3\AI00006366\MDSGdecision0.doc 

MEMBER DEVELOPMENT STEERING GROUP, 31ST MARCH 2011 - 
REFERRALS 
 
Member Development Programme 2011/12 
 
RESOLVED that 
 
1) subject to clarification from Officers on the inclusion of the Crime 

and Disorder Scrutiny Panel amongst those bodies for which 
compulsory training was required, the programme be endorsed; 

 
Members’ ICT Facilities – Policy 
 
RECOMMENDED that 
 
2) the policy, as attached to the report, be adopted and the proposals it 

contains be implemented for the municipal year 2011/12; and 
 
Social Networking 
 
RESOLVED that 
 
3) this change of position be noted. 

Page 179



Page 180



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

 
EXECUTIVE 
COMMITTEE  12th April 2011 
 

Dem’o S’s/ Exec 110412/MDSG Referral report/sms1.4.11 

MEMBER DEVELOPMENT STEERING GROUP 31ST MARCH 2011 –  
REFERRALS –   MEMBER DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMME 2011/12 
MEMBERS’ ITC FACILITIES – POLICY 
SOCIAL NETWORKING  
 
Relevant Portfolio Holder(s) Cllr M Braley, Portfolio Holder for 

Corporate Management 
Relevant Head of Service Head of Legal, Equalities & 

Democratic Services / 
Head of Business Transformation 

Not a Key Decision  
 
REFERRAL REPORT 
 
A number of meetings of the Member Development Steering Group have been 
held over the current municipal year, culminating in the meeting of 31st March 
2011. This meeting was attended by: 
Councillors Juliet Brunner (Chair), Cllr Michael Braley, Cllr Greg Chance 
(an apology for absence was received from Cllr Debbie Taylor). 
Officers:  Claire Felton, Mark Hanwell and Steve Skinner. 
 
Recommendations have been worked up in relation to the three matters below: 
 
A. MEMBER DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMME 2011/12 
 
A final draft programme was approved for 2011/12, as now provided under 
separate cover.  This was essentially supported by all members of the Group.  
 
Members were, however, split on the issue of compulsory/mandatory training. 
Whilst accepting that training for quasi-judicial meetings was an absolute  
necessity, as currently agreed by the Council, opinions on other sessions were 
divided. Members accepted, for example, Chairing Skills training as being highly 
desirable for any Chair, as well as Induction Training for all new Members, but 
could not reach agreement about making such sessions obligatory.  It was 
agreed to ask the Executive Committee to make further recommendations on this 
point.  
 
Officers had considered that a number of other training sessions were essential 
for the proper conduct of council business and that therefore in Members’ own 
best interests, and those of the Council, certain further sessions might best be 
considered as mandatory.  

Page 181



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

 
EXECUTIVE 
COMMITTEE  12th April 2011 
 

Dem’o S’s/ Exec 110412/MDSG Referral report/sms1.4.11 

Some Members supported this view. However an alternative viewpoint was that 
such training was not a statutory pre-requisite of Council membership and that 
therefore participation should be discretionary. All Members of the Group 
supported Member Development, but some felt that attendance at mandatory 
sessions could be counter-productive and that it was essential Members were 
personally motivated to attend sessions. 
 
It was therefore AGREED that 
 
subject to Members’ views on the issue of compulsory training sessions, 
the programme be endorsed. 
 
 
B. MEMBERS’ ITC FACILITIES – POLICY 
 
The Group received a draft Members’ ICT Facilities Policy Document.  Members 
considered the options offered and received clarifications in response to queries 
in a number of areas. 
 
The resultant updated draft Policy, incorporating the updates made at the 
meeting, is appended to this referral report. 
 
It was AGREED that 
 
the Executive Committee be requested to RECOMMEND to the Council that,  
subject to Members’ views, the policy, as attached to the report, be now 
adopted and that the proposals it contains be implemented for the 
municipal year 2011/12. 
 
 
C. SOCIAL NETWORKING 
 
Officers advised that access to social networking sites on RBC equipment would 
no longer be blocked; and that, other than during a formal election period, 
redirection from the Council’s website to Members’ personal social networking 
sites would be enabled, subject to a formal disclaimer notice being displayed to 
make it clear that the Council held no responsibility for content on these sites. 
 
It was AGREED that 
 
this change of position be noted. 
 

Page 182



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

 
EXECUTIVE 
COMMITTEE  12th April 2011 
 

Dem’o S’s/ Exec 110412/MDSG Referral report/sms1.4.11 

APPENDICES 
 
Appendix  1 -   Members’ IT Facilities Policy – latest draft 
 
            2 -  Member Development Programme (colour version available 

under separate cover, for Committee members) 
 

 
AUTHOR OF REPORT 
 
Name:  Steve Skinner  
  Democratic Services Manager 
E Mail: steve.skinner@redditchbc.gov.uk 
Tel:      (01527) 64252 ext: 3256 
 
 
 
  
 
  
 

Page 183



Page 184



Members’ ICT Facilities 

 
DRAFT COPY – v1.3 Page 1 of 9 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

                    
 

Policy Document 

Members’ ICT 
Facilities 

[01/04/2011] 
 

Page 185



Members’ ICT Facilities 

 
DRAFT COPY – v1.3 Page 2 of 9 
 

Document Control 
 
 

Organisation Redditch Borough Council 
Title Members ICT Facilities. 
Author Mark Hanwell 
Filename Members ICT Facilities v1.2.doc 
Owner Mark Hanwell – ICT Transformation Manager 
Subject Policy for Members use of ICT equipment. 
Protective Marking Unclassified 
Review date 30/03/2012 

 
Revision History 

 
Revision 
Date 

Reviser Previous 
Version 

Description of Revision 

07/03/2011 Mark Hanwell N/A Second Draft. 
29/03/2011 Mark Hanwell 1.0 V1.1 Third Draft. 
30/03/2011 Mark Hanwell 1.1 V1.2 Amendments following new 

comments received. 
1/4/2011 Mark Hanwell 1.2 Amendments following MDSG 31.3.11 
    
    
    
    

 
Document Approvals 
 
This document requires the following approvals: 

Sponsor Approval Name Date 
Head of Business 
Transformation 

Deborah Poole  

CMT   
Members   
   

 
Document Distribution 
 
This document will be distributed to: 

Name Job Title Email Address 
Steve Skinner Democratic S’s Manager steve.skinner@redditchbc.gov.uk 
Trish Buckley Members’ S’s Officer trish.buckley@redditchbc.gov.uk 
Claire Felton Head of LED S’s Claire.felton@redditchbc.gov.uk 
Deb Poole   
   

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 186



Members’ ICT Facilities 

 
DRAFT COPY – v1.3 Page 3 of 9 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Contents 
 
1 Policy Statement 4 
2 Purpose 4 
3 Scope 4 
4 Definition 4 
5 Provision for ICT equipment. 5 
6 Policy Compliance 7 
7 Policy Governance 7 
8 Review and Revision 8 
9 References 8 

 
 
 

Page 187



Members’ ICT Facilities 

 
DRAFT COPY – v1.3 Page 4 of 9 
 

1 Policy Statement 
 
Redditch Borough Council has 29 Council Members, plus 3 Independent Members of the 
Standards Committee, who require access to information to enable them to perform their 
duties as a councillor. Much of this information can be provided electronically via email, 
word processing and spreadsheet files.    
 
The Council’s general presumption is for electronic provision of information / transaction of 
business. 
 
 
2 Purpose 
 
The purpose of this policy is to ensure that Redditch Borough Councillors can access 
Information and Communication Technology (ICT) facilities and work within government 
frameworks such as the ‘Code of Connection’ (CoCo).   
 
The Council holds large amounts of personal and restricted information.  Information 
security is very important to help protect the interests and confidentiality of the Council and 
its customers.  Information security cannot be achieved by technical means alone.  
Information security must also be enforced and applied by the people who use it and those 
who provide support for it.  
 
 
3 Scope 
 
This policy applies to any Councillor that requires access to Council information systems 
such as email or other documents, whether it is a temporary or permanent arrangement.  
 
 
4 Definition 
 
The Council understands that to reduce the risk of theft, fraud or inappropriate use of its 
information systems, anyone that is given access to Council information systems must: 
 

• Be suitable for their roles. 
• Fully understand their responsibilities for ensuring the security of the information. 
• Only have access to the information they need. 
• Request that this access be removed as soon as it is no longer required.  
• Complete Data Protection training to ensure Members are clear on how information 

can be used when they are working on behalf of the council and when they are 
working on behalf of constituents, and how it should be stored. 

• Ensure that no personal information that could be in breach of the data protection 
act, is stored on their laptop or other unencrypted device. 

 
This policy must therefore be applied prior, during and after any user’s access to 
information or information systems used to deliver Council business. 
 
Access to Council information systems will not be permitted until the requirements of this 
policy have been met. 

Page 188



Members’ ICT Facilities 

 
DRAFT COPY – v1.3 Page 5 of 9 
 

5 Provision for ICT equipment. 
 
The Council recognises that individual Councillors have different requirements for how they 
need to access electronic information. This has led to several options being made available 
to accommodate the requirements, whilst remaining within the budget and resource 
limitations of the Authority. Should the limits of the budget be reached, the Leader of the 
Council will identify priorities for scheduling of ICT equipment. 
 
Whichever choice is, or is not, selected, the council will no longer automatically forward 
Council emails to personal email accounts such as hotmail, Google mail etc from June 1st 
2011. This is to ensure the authority complies with the Government’s code of connection.   
 
Choice 1 
 
The Authority will provide a laptop or PC that is technically secure, to enable the Councillor 
to access the internet, Corporate Email, Modern.Gov, Microsoft Office and necessary 
documents. 
 
Broadband services are to be provided by the Councillor and expenses for these claimed 
through the normal expenditure claim process at £100 per year (maximum 1 per 
household). 
 
Support for this laptop/PC will be provided by the authority’s ICT department 
(help.desk@redditchbc.gov.uk) or telephoning 01527 881266 during normal office hours.    
 
All internet usage and emails sent and received via the Corporate email facility, will be 
subject to automated scanning, monitoring and filtering to ensure other implemented 
policies are met (please see section 9).  
 
It is the Councillor’s responsibility to ensure their password for accessing any Corporate 
Information service is not shared with any other person and that connection to such 
services is ended by logging off the system, as soon as work is completed or the 
connection is left unattended. This is to prevent unauthorised access to information. 
 
If it suspected that someone else may know their password, or any security problem has 
occurred, Councillors must report this to the helpdesk immediately so it can be rectified.  
 
The Councillor shall make reasonable arrangements for the safe-keeping of the computer. 

Ensure that any computer which is in need of repair is brought to the Council’s ICT Section 
for the appropriate work to be done. 
 
The Council provides the computer together with ancillary equipment and materials 
required, for the Councillor’s functions as a Councillor. Use of this equipment for any other 
reason, including personal use or use by anyone other than a Councillor is not permitted. 

All ICT equipment provided by the authority remains the property of the Council and must 
be returned at the end of the election term.  
 
 
 
 

Page 189



Members’ ICT Facilities 

 
DRAFT COPY – v1.3 Page 6 of 9 
 

Choice 2 
 
The authority will provide a device that enables an existing PC or laptop owned by the 
Councillor to access the internet, Corporate Email, Modern.Gov, Microsoft Office and 
necessary documents. 
 
This choice will depend on the technical ability of the PC or Laptop to load from a council 
provided device and may require the council ICT team to make changes to the PC/Laptop.   
 
Broadband services are to be provided by the Councillor and expenses for these claimed 
through the normal expenditure claim process at £100 per year (maximum 1 per 
household). 
 
Support for the PC/laptop will be limited to resolving any issues with accessing Corporate 
information systems and will be provided by the authority’s ICT department 
(help.desk@redditchbc.gov.uk) or telephoning 01527 881266 during normal office hours.    
 
Whilst connected to the Council’s systems, all internet usage and emails sent and received 
via the Corporate email facility, will be subject to automated scanning, monitoring and 
filtering to ensure other implemented policies are met (please see section 9).  
 
It is the Councillor’s responsibility to ensure their password for accessing any Corporate 
Information service is not shared with any other person and that connection to such 
services is ended by logging off the system, as soon as work is completed or the 
connection is left unattended. This is to prevent unauthorised access to information. 
 
If it suspected that someone else may know their password, or any security problem has 
occurred, Councillors must report this to the helpdesk immediately so it can be rectified.   
 
All ICT equipment provided by the Authority, remains the property of the Council and must 
be returned at the end of the election term.  
 
 
Choice 3 
 
The Councillor provides their own ICT equipment accepting full responsibility for the 
support and security of the device. 
 
Any equipment chosen will need to be able to connect to the internet and be compatible 
with Citrix to enable access to the councils email facility. 
 
Expenses for the ICT equipment are to be claimed at up to £300 per year, paid either up 
front as a lump sum annually to assist with equipment purchase, or else monthly pro-rata, 
at Members’ choice.                        .              
 
Broadband services are to be provided by the Councillor and expenses for these claimed 
through the normal expenditure claim process at £100 per year (maximum 1 per 
household). 
 

Page 190



Members’ ICT Facilities 

 
DRAFT COPY – v1.3 Page 7 of 9 
 

Whilst connected to the Council’s systems, all internet usage and emails sent and received 
via the corporate email facility will be subject to automated scanning, monitoring and 
filtering to ensure other implemented policies are met (please see section 9).  
 
It is the Councillor’s responsibility to ensure their password for accessing any Corporate 
Information service is not shared with any other person and that connection to such 
services is ended by logging off the system, as soon as work is completed or the 
connection is left unattended. This is to prevent unauthorised access to information. 
 
If it suspected that someone else may know their password, or any security problem has 
occurred, Councillors must report this to the helpdesk immediately so it can be rectified.   
 
All ICT equipment claimed for remains the property of Redditch BC and must be returned 
at the end of the election term, if considered suitable for retention / re-allocation.  
 
Part costs will be recovered from Members who do not complete full years. (Members will 
be asked to sign an undertaking to this effect before expenses can be paid.) 
 
 
Blackberry Devices 
 
In addition to the choices highlighted above, Group Leaders and the Exec will have 
Blackberry mobile devices provided by the council. 
 
Should councillors wish to use their own privately owned blackberry device to access 
council emails, this can be achieved, although all emails appear in one inbox on the device. 
For this reason it is particularly important that members are aware of their responsibilities 
with regards to Data Protection and the policies outlines in section 9.      
 
 
6 Policy Compliance 
 
If any Member is found to have breached this policy, IT provision will be withdrawn. If a 
criminal offence is considered to have been committed further action may be taken to 
assist in the prosecution of the offender(s). 
 
If you do not understand the implications of this policy or how it may apply to you, please 
seek advice from Members’ Services or ICT. 
 
 
7 Policy Governance 

 
The following table identifies who within the council is Accountable, Responsible, Informed 
or Consulted with regards to this policy.  The following definitions apply: 

 
• Responsible – the person(s) responsible for developing and implementing the 

policy. 
• Accountable – the person who has ultimate accountability and authority for the 

policy. 

Page 191



Members’ ICT Facilities 

 
DRAFT COPY – v1.3 Page 8 of 9 
 

• Consulted – the person(s) or groups to be consulted prior to final policy 
implementation or amendment. 

• Informed – the person(s) or groups to be informed after policy implementation or 
amendment. 

 
 

Responsible ICT Transformation Manager 

Accountable Head of Business Transformation 

Consulted Corporate Management Team, Members’ Services 

Informed  All Councillors. 

 
 
8 Review and Revision 
 
This policy will be reviewed as it is deemed appropriate, but no less frequently than every 
12 months. 
 
Policy review will be undertaken by the ICT Manager. 
 
 
9 References 
 
The following Redditch Borough Council policy documents are directly relevant to this 
policy.  
 

• Email Policy. 
• Internet Acceptable Usage Policy. 
• IT Access Policy. 
• Information Protection Policy. 
• Information Security Incident Management Policy. 
• Members’ Code of Conduct and related Codes and Protocols. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 192



Members’ ICT Facilities 

 
DRAFT COPY – v1.3 Page 9 of 9 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Receipt and acceptance statement 
 
 
I, Councillor __________________________ have chosen to select option ____ from the 

options contained within this policy and agree to comply with the policy items as stated 

within this document. 

 

 
 
 
Signed ___________________________________     Date ____________________ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 193



Page 194



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

COUNCIL  6th June 2011  

 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\7\6\3\AI00006367\audit1decision0.doc 

EXTERNAL AUDIT - CERTIFICATION OF GRANTS 2009/10 
 
RESOLVED that 
 
1) the report be approved; and 
 
RECOMMENDED that 
 
2) full Council make representations to central government regarding 

the high fees charged for this work. 
 

Agenda Item 10Page 195



Page 196



Certification of 
claims and 
returns - annual 
report
Redditch Borough Council  

Audit 2009/10 

Page 197



 

The Audit Commission is an independent watchdog, 

driving economy, efficiency and effectiveness in local 

public services to deliver better outcomes for everyone. 

Our work across local government, health, housing, 

community safety and fire and rescue services means 

that we have a unique perspective. We promote value for 

money for taxpayers, auditing the £200 billion spent by 

11,000 local public bodies. 

As a force for improvement, we work in partnership 

to assess local public services and make practical 

recommendations for promoting a better quality of life 

for local people. 
 

Page 198



 

Audit Commission Certification of claims and returns - annual report 1
 

Contents 

 
 

Summary.............................................................................................................2

Certification of claims....................................................................................2

Background ........................................................................................................3

Findings ..............................................................................................................4

Control environment .....................................................................................4

Specific claims ..............................................................................................4

Appendix 1  Summary of 2009/10 certified claims..........................................5

Claims and returns above £500,000.............................................................5

Claims between £100,000 and £500,000 .....................................................5
 
 
 

Page 199



 

Audit Commission Certification of claims and returns - annual report 2
 

Summary 

Funding from government grant-paying departments is an important 
income stream for the Council. The Council needs to manage claiming 
this income carefully. It needs to demonstrate to the auditors that it 
has met the conditions which attach to these grants.  

This report summarises the findings from the certification of 2008/09 
claims. It includes the messages arising from my assessment of your 
arrangements for preparing claims and returns and information on 
claims that we amended or qualified. 

 

Certification of claims

1 Redditch Borough Council receives more than £25 million funding from 
various grant-paying departments. The grant-paying departments attach 
conditions to these grants. The Council must show that it has met these 
conditions. If the Council cannot evidence this, the funding can be at risk. It 
is therefore important that the Council manages certification work properly 
and can demonstrate to us, as auditors, that the relevant conditions have 
been met.  

2 In 2009/10, my audit team certified 6 claims. Of these, we carried out a 
limited review of 5 claims and a full review of 1 claim. (Paragraph 10 
explains the difference). We amended 1 claim requiring full certification for 
errors. For 2 claims, we were unable to fully certify the claim and issued a 
qualification letter to the grant-paying body. Appendix 1 sets out a full 
summary.  

3 The fees I charged for grant certification work in 20009/10 were 
£49,200. 

Page 200



 

Audit Commission Certification of claims and returns - annual report 3
 

Background  

1 The Council claims over £25 million for specific activities from grant 
paying departments. As this is significant to the Council’s income it is 
important that this process is properly managed. In particular this means: 
! an adequate control environment over each claim and return; and 
! ensuring that the Council can evidence that it has met the conditions 

attached to each claim.  

2 I am required by section 28 of the Audit Commission Act 1998 to certify 
some claims and returns for grants or subsidies paid by the government 
departments and public bodies to Redditch Borough Council. I charge a fee 
to cover the full cost of certifying claims. The fee depends on the amount of 
work required to certify each claim or return.  

3 The Council is responsible for compiling grant claims and returns in 
accordance with the requirements and timescale set by the grant paying 
departments.  

4 The key features of the current arrangements are as follows. 
! For claims and returns below £100,000 the Commission does not make 

certification arrangements. 
! For claims and returns between £100,000 and £500,000, auditors 

undertake limited tests to agree form entries to underlying records, but 
do not undertake any testing of eligibility of expenditure. 

! For claims and returns over £500,000 auditors assess the control 
environment for the preparation of the claim or return to decide whether 
or not they can place reliance on it. Where reliance is placed on the 
control environment, auditors undertake limited tests to agree from 
entries to underlying records but do not undertake any testing of the 
eligibility of expenditure or data. Where reliance cannot be placed on 
the control environment, auditors undertake all of the tests in the 
certification instruction and use their assessment of the control 
environment to inform decisions on the level of testing required. This 
means that the audit fees for certification work are reduced if the control 
environment is strong.  

! For claims spanning over more than one year, the financial limits above 
relate to the amount claimed over the entire life of the claim and testing 
is applied accordingly. The approach impacts on the amount of grants 
work we carry out, placing more emphasis on the high value claims.  

Page 201



 

Audit Commission Certification of claims and returns - annual report 4
 

Findings  

Control environment

5 The control environment for the production of claims was considered to 
be adequate and this enabled us to reduce the level of testing accordingly. 
There is a good working relationship between audit and council staff. 
Working papers were satisfactory although there were instances where 
improvements could be made. 

Specific claims

6  As noted in Appendix 1 no amendments were made to any of the 
claims certified although in two instances a qualification letter had to be sent 
relevant government department. 

Housing Benefits 

7 The housing Benefit claim (BEN01) had a value of £26.9 million. The 
Audit Commission has agreed with the Department of Work and Pensions a 
prescriptive programme of work to certify the claim. Although no 
amendments were made to the claim a qualification letter was issued 
detailing a number of errors found during the certification process. 
! The council carried out reconciliations following the software providers 

instructions but there were a number of small errors between the totals 
per the subsidy claim and the actual amounts paid. 

! Testing of individual cases and cells within the claim found a number of 
small errors. The initial number of errors required further testing of HB 
cases. The errors were reported in detail but no amendment was made 
to the claim. 

HRA Subsidy Base Data Return 

8 The HRA subsidy Base Data return (HOU02) was tested in line with the 
certification instructions agreed between the Audit Commission and 
Department of Communities and Local Government. Although no 
amendments were made to the claim a qualification letter was issued 
detailing a number of errors found during the certification process. 

9 We agreed the number of properties per the claim agreed with council's 
housing management system. However, the council could not support the 
numbers on the housing management system with either a property survey 
or other supporting records that could be practically tested. Without this 
supporting information we were unable to complete all the testing as 
required in the certification instructions. 

 

Page 202



 

Audit Commission Certification of claims and returns - annual report 5
 

Appendix 1  Summary of 2009/10 certified 
claims 

Claims and returns above £500,000

Claim Value

£ 000 

Adequate
control
environment

Amended Qualification
letter

Housing and 
council tax 
benefit 

26,925 Yes No Yes 

Pooling of 
Housing 
receipts 

545 Yes No No 

HRA 
Subsidy 

5,764,836 Yes No No 

HRA Base 
Data  

- Yes No Yes 

NNDR  33,707 Yes No No 

Claims between £100,000 and £500,000

 

Claim Value

£ 000 

Amended

Disabled Facilities 240 No 

Page 203



Page 204



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

COUNCIL  6th June 2011  

 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\7\6\3\AI00006367\audit2decision0.doc 

INTERNAL AUDIT - PROGRESS REPORT 
 
RESOLVED that 
 
1) the report be noted; 

 
2) ‘Future Audit Reporting Arrangements’ be added as a topic to the 

Member Development Programme; and 
 
RECOMMENDED that 
 
3) Heads of Service be reminded of the importance of timely update 

reports being made to the Audit & Governance Committee on 
outstanding key recommendations from internal audit reports. 

Page 205



Page 206



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

AUDIT & GOVERNANCE 
COMMITTEE  18th April 2011 
 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\7\6\3\AI00006367\InternalAuditProgressReportFINAL0.docdg10.3.11/
amended11.3.11jw/amended/lms/22.03.11/circ./22.03.11 

INTERNAL AUDIT PROGRESS REPORT 
 
Relevant Portfolio Holder  Councillor Michael Braley – Corporate 

Management 
Relevant Head of Service Jayne Pickering – Executive Director – 

Finance and Corporate Resources 
Non-Key Decision  
 

 
1.  SUMMARY OF PROPOSALS 
 
 To present an update to Members regarding the audits completed in the 

period from November 2010 to 28th February 2011. 
 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS  
 
 The Committee is asked to RESOLVE that 
 
 the report be noted. 
 
3. BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 The Audit Team has carried out a number of audits since details of audit 

assignments were last reported to Committee on 24th January 2011 and 
this report appraises Members of those audits. 

 
3.2 A list of all audits completed in the period is attached as Appendix A but not 

all the audits are reported upon in detail in Appendix B.  In cases where no 
fundamental control risks were identified by the audit work undertaken, no 
detailed report has been provided for Members. 

 
3.3 In addition, in several audits a number of issues identified by Audit were 

resolved satisfactorily during the course of the audit, whilst the 
recommendations were implemented by the Heads of Service / Managers 
concerned at the conclusion of the audit.  These recommendations are not 
being reported to Members as part of this report because the risk that non-
implementation would have presented has been removed. 

 

Page 207



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

AUDIT & GOVERNANCE 
COMMITTEE  18th April 2011 
 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\7\6\3\AI00006367\InternalAuditProgressReportFINAL0.docdg10.3.11/
amended11.3.11jw/amended/lms/22.03.11/circ./22.03.11 

4. KEY ISSUES 
 
 This report informs Members about the audits that have been completed 

during the period November 2010 to February 2011.  The individual audits 
referred to in this report have identified problems with systems controls and 
other issues which must be corrected in order that assurance can be given 
that the systems of internal control in place within the Council are operating 
effectively. 

 
5. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
 There are no direct financial implications arising out of this report. 
 
6. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
 The Accounts and Audit (Amendment) (England) Regulations 2006 state 

that Local Authorities must maintain an adequate and effective system of 
Internal Audit to ensure its systems of internal control are operating 
effectively.  The Audit Progress Reports are one way the Council can 
monitor its Internal Audit Service. 

 
7. POLICY IMPLICATIONS 
 
 Further to  good practice advice received from the Audit Commission, the 

Council agreed to set up an Audit and Governance Committee in 2004 as 
part of its system of controls to gain assurance that the Council’s internal 
control systems are in place and operating effectively. 

 
8. COUNCIL OBJECTIVES 
 
 As part of the audit of services, Internal Audit will ascertain whether those 

services are meeting their laid down objectives including performance 
indicators. 

 
9. RISK MANAGEMENT INCLUDING HEALTH & SAFETY 

CONSIDERATIONS 
 
9.1 One of the Audit Committee’s responsibilities is to ensure its Internal Audit 

Service is operating effectively.  If it is not in place there is a risk of misuse 
of resources, fraud or corruption taking place and the Council is at risk of 
not complying with the Accounts and Audit Legislation. 

 

Page 208



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

AUDIT & GOVERNANCE 
COMMITTEE  18th April 2011 
 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\7\6\3\AI00006367\InternalAuditProgressReportFINAL0.docdg10.3.11/
amended11.3.11jw/amended/lms/22.03.11/circ./22.03.11 

9.2 In order to manage risks internal controls are used to mitigate and minimise 
risks to an acceptable level.  Any weaknesses in the operation of the 
Authority’s suite of internal controls therefore impacts directly onto the 
management of risk. 

 
9.3 Risk Management issues could therefore arise when weaknesses in 

internal controls are being identified during the audit review process but 
management delay or defer the implementation of recommendations made.  
By receiving information on key recommendations made in audit reports the 
Audit Committee is able to re-enforce the importance of getting these 
recommendations in place in accordance with the timetable agreed as part 
of the audit process. 

 
10. CUSTOMER IMPLICATIONS 
 
 There are no direct customer implications arising out of this report. 
 
11. EQUALITIES AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
 There are no equalities or diversity issues arising out of this report. 
 
12. VALUE FOR MONEY IMPLICATIONS, PROCUREMENT AND ASSET 

MANAGEMENT 
 
 When carrying out all audits, Internal Audit seeks to determine whether the 

services being reviewed are complying with the Council’s laid down 
procurement procedures or not and is achieving value for money when 
procuring goods and services. 

 
13. CLIMATE CHANGE, CARBON IMPLICATIONS AND BIODIVERSITY 
 
 There are no climate changes, carbon implications or biodiversity 

implications arising out of this report. 
 
14. HUMAN RESOURCES IMPLICATIONS 
 
 There are no direct human resources issues arising out of this report. 
 
15. GOVERNANCE/PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS 
 
 There are no direct governance/performance implications arising out of this 

report. 
 

Page 209



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

AUDIT & GOVERNANCE 
COMMITTEE  18th April 2011 
 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\7\6\3\AI00006367\InternalAuditProgressReportFINAL0.docdg10.3.11/
amended11.3.11jw/amended/lms/22.03.11/circ./22.03.11 

16. COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS INCLUDING SECTION 17 OF 
CRIME AND DISORDER ACT 1998 

 
 There are no community safety implications arising out of this report. 
 
17. HEALTH INEQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 
 There are no health inequality implications arising out of this report. 
 
18. LESSONS LEARNT 
 
 In all audits undertaken by the service, Internal Audit try to give assurances 

as to whether the controls in the systems being audited are adequate and 
are being complied with.  In all cases where they are not, hopefully lessons 
will be learnt and management will implement recommendations made as 
part of the audits to ensure the future soundness of the Authority’s system 
of internal control. 

 
19. COMMUNITY AND STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT 
 
 There are no community and stakeholder engagement implications arising 

out of this report. 
 
 

Page 210



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

AUDIT & GOVERNANCE 
COMMITTEE  18th April 2011 
 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\7\6\3\AI00006367\InternalAuditProgressReportFINAL0.docdg10.3.11/
amended11.3.11jw/amended/lms/22.03.11/circ./22.03.11 

 
20. OTHERS CONSULTED ON THE REPORT 
 

Portfolio Holder 
 

No 

Chief Executive 
 

Yes 

Executive Director (S151 Officer) 
 

Yes 

Deputy Chief Executive/Executive Director – 
Leisure, Environment and Community Services 
 

Yes 

Executive Director – Planning & Regeneration, 
Regulatory and Housing Services  
 

Yes 

Director of Policy, Performance and 
Partnerships 
 

Yes 

Head of Service 
 

Yes 

Head of Resources  
  

Yes 

Head of Legal, Equalities & Democratic 
Services 
 

Yes 

Corporate Procurement Team 
 

No 

 
21. WARDS AFFECTED 
 
 None directly. 
 
22. APPENDICES 
 

Appendix A - Index of audit reports completed in the period November 2010 
to 28th February 2011. 

Appendix B - Details of a number of audits where key recommendations 
have been made that may impact upon the Council’s system 
of internal controls 

 
23. BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

Individual Internal Audit reports. 

Page 211



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

AUDIT & GOVERNANCE 
COMMITTEE  18th April 2011 
 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\7\6\3\AI00006367\InternalAuditProgressReportFINAL0.docdg10.3.11/
amended11.3.11jw/amended/lms/22.03.11/circ./22.03.11 

 
AUTHOR OF REPORT 
 
Name:  Bob Haycock 
E Mail: Bob.Haycock@redditchbc.gov.uk 
Tel: Ex. 3051  

Page 212



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\7\6\3\AI00006367\InternalAuditProgressReportIndexofauditreportsAppendi
xA0.doc-dg10.3.11 

 
APPENDIX A 
 

Audit 
Report No 

Audit Date 
Issued 

Auditor 

1261 Review of Photocopiers 
Contract 

1.11.10 R. Haycock 

1262 Forge Mill Museum 10.11.10 J. Dickenson 
1263 Markets 7.12.10 J. Dickenson 
1264 Housing Rent Arrears 

Management and Rent Debit 
Control 

14.12.10 J. Dickenson 

1265 Crematorium and Cemeteries 14.12.10 J. Dickenson 
1266 Procurement 16.12.10 J. Bramley /  

H. Tiffney 
1267 Capital Contracts - Tender 

Process 
29.12.10 D. Pendle 

1268 Crossgate Depot Supplies Unit 27.1.11 M. Grimoldby 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 213



Page 214



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\7\6\3\AI00006367\InternalAuditProgressReportAppendixB0.doc-
dg10.3.11/amendedjw11.3.11 
 

APPENDIX B 
 
1. Market Service 
 
1.1 Audit Objective 
 To ensure that the systems operating on the Market were operating in 

accordance with the Market rules and internal financial regulations and 
procedures. 

 
1.2 Audit Conclusions/Auditors Opinion 
 The audit highlighted there were a number of issues that needed addressing 

to ensure there were no future concerns about the operation of the market, 
including that monthly reconciliations of income and the production of 
meaningful management information were not of an appropriate standard.  

 
1.3 Audit Recommendations 
 

Key Recommendations Officer 
Responsible for 
Implementation 

Implementation 
Timetable 

(a) An effective monthly 
reconciliation of Markets 
Income should be completed.  
This should set out amounts 
due from Traders and be 
reconciled to amounts actually 
received, including details of 
all outstanding amounts as 
reconciling items.  

 

 
Operational Support 
Manager 

 
By 31st March 
2011 

(b) The current method of 
recording of income is not 
effective.  A new system 
should be put in place that 
records Markets income that is 
understandable to staff and 
that produces meaningful 
Management Information.  
Consideration should be given 
to the purchase or adaptation 
of software that effectively 
records Market income.  Until 
this is put in place, the 
currently used spreadsheet 
should be password protected 
and saved on an appropriate 
server. 

 
Operational Support 
Manager 

 
By 31st March 
2011 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 215



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\7\6\3\AI00006367\InternalAuditProgressReportAppendixB0.doc-
dg10.3.11/amendedjw11.3.11 
 

 
2. Housing Rent Arrears Management and Rent Debt Control 
 
2.1 Audit Objective  
 An audit of the Housing Rents system was undertaken to ensure there were 

adequate controls in place and that these controls were being adhered to. 
 
2.2 Audit Opinion 
 The audit concluded that the system for managing Housing Rents and the 

Rent Debt is sound and appears to be working satisfactorily. 
 
2.3 Audit Recommendation 
 

Key Recommendations Officer 
Responsible for 
Implementation 

Implementation 
Timetable 

(a) The audit concluded that the 
number of tenants that pay 
their rent via Direct Debit is 
lower that would be expected 
and therefore recommended 
that the plan in place to 
encourage payment of rent by 
this method should now be 
progressed.  

 

Housing Services 
Manager 

By 31st March 
2011 

 
3. Crematorium and Cemeteries 
 
3.1 Audit Objective 
 A planned audit of the Crematorium and Cemeteries service was undertaken 

to verify whether the systems and controls in place with this service were 
adequate and were being complied with. 

 
3.2 Audit Opinion 
 The controls that are currently in place are effective in that they allow the 

current work to be completed.  However, due to the inadequacies that were 
highlighted as part of the audit, the following recommendations need to be 
implemented to ensure the continued effective running of the service and/or to 
protect the Council and its staff.  Due to this the opinion is that this service 
has satisfactory controls in place. 

 
 

Page 216



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\7\6\3\AI00006367\InternalAuditProgressReportAppendixB0.doc-
dg10.3.11/amendedjw11.3.11 
 

3.3 Audit Recommendations 
 

Key Recommendations Officer 
Responsible for 
Implementation 

Implementation 
Timetable 

(a) The Funeral Director that has 
a significant debt outstanding 
should repay this amount 
urgently and then keep within 
the terms to which all other 
Funeral Directors are subject.  
No special terms can be in 
place for any clients, as such 
terms are prejudicial to all 
other Funeral Directors. 

 

Bereavement 
Services Manager 

By 31st March 
2011 

(b) Budget Monitoring should be 
completed each month to 
ensure that all expenditure 
and income is being recorded 
appropriately. 

 

Bereavement 
Services 
Manager/Head of 
Service 

By 28th 
February 2011 

 
4. Capital Contracts (Tender Process) 
 
4.1 Audit Objective 
 To ensure that staff who are responsible for processing tenders are complying 

with the Council’s Contract Procedures Rules (formally Standing order 46).  
 
4.2 Audit Opinion 
 Audit concluded that although the Contract Procedure Rules appeared to be 

working satisfactorily there were a number of weaknesses that needed 
reviewing in respect of the tender opening procedures. 

 

Page 217



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\7\6\3\AI00006367\InternalAuditProgressReportAppendixB0.doc-
dg10.3.11/amendedjw11.3.11 
 

 
4.3 Audit Recommendations 
 

Key Recommendations Officer 
Responsible for 
Implementation 

Implementation 
Timetable 

(a) In one of the tenders reviewed 
the tender opening record 
sheet could not be located and 
therefore Audit recommended 
that all documentation 
appertaining to the opening of 
tenders must be maintained 
securely in the Tenders 
Register. 

 

Democratic 
Services Manager 

By 31st 
December 2010 

(b) Audit recommended that all 
One Stop Shop staff who may 
be involved with the receipt of 
tender documents must be 
given regular refresher training 
on the correct procedures to 
be followed in this area. 

Procurement 
Advisor 
 
 
 
 
 
 

By 30th May 
2011 

 
5. Crossgate Depot Supplies Unit 
 
5.1 Audit Objective 
 An audit of supplies service was undertaken to determine whether the 

systems and controls in place within the stores were adequate and whether 
they were being complied with. 

 
5.2 Audit Opinion 
 The Audit Assistant gave this system a moderate level of assurance subject to 

the weaknesses in controls identified by audit work being addressed. 
 
 
 

Page 218



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\7\6\3\AI00006367\InternalAuditProgressReportAppendixB0.doc-
dg10.3.11/amendedjw11.3.11 
 

5.3 Audit Recommendations 
 

Key Recommendations Officer 
Responsible for 
Implementation 

Implementation 
Timetable 

(a) 15% (269 items) of the stores 
stock lines have a zero 
balance.  Audit recommended 
that stock items with a zero 
balance should be 
discontinued. 

 

Transport and 
Supplies  Manager/ 
Supplies Team 
Leader 

By 31st January 
2011 

(b) 18% (313 items) of the stores 
stock lines have not moved 
for 12 months.  Audit 
recommended that all such 
stock lines should be 
reviewed and obsolete stock 
written off where necessary. 

 

Transport and 
Supplies  Manager 

By 31st March 
2011 

(c)   The write-off provision for the 
stores is currently £800.  
Audit recommended this 
should be reviewed to ensure 
it is adequate in view of the 
level of possibly obsolete 
stock held in the stores.  

 

Head of 
Environmental 
Services / Head of 
Finance and 
Resources  

By 31st Match 
2011 

(d) No independent stock checks 
had been undertaken in the 
stores during 2010/11 (up to 
3.11.10).  Audit 
recommended the 
independent stock check 
process must be operated on 
a timely basis. 

Head of 
Environmental 
Services/ 
Environmental 
Business Support 
Manager/ Transport 
and Supplies  
Manager 
 

By 31st January 
2011 

(e) Quotation exercises for the 
supply of stores materials 
have not been completed, 
(although data has been 
forwarded to the Procurement 
Advisor for the negotiation of 
framework contract, this had 
only been progressed for 
fencing and plumbing 
materials).  Audit 
recommended that approved 
suppliers must be identified 
for all categories of supplies  
materials by an agreed date. 
 

Head of Finance 
and Resources/ 
Head of 
Environmental 
Services 

By 1st 
September 
2011  

Page 219



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\7\6\3\AI00006367\InternalAuditProgressReportAppendixB0.doc-
dg10.3.11/amendedjw11.3.11 
 

 
Key Recommendations Officer 

Responsible for 
Implementation 

Implementation 
Timetable 

(f) The value and control of stock 
held on operatives vehicles 
has not been determined or 
valued.  Audit recommended 
that ‘van stocks’ should be 
determined and then those 
stocks fully controlled and 
subject to regular stock 
checks. 

 
Note: This recommendation was 
agreed at the last audit but not 
implemented. 
 

Head of Housing 
Services/ Repairs 
and Maintenance 
Manager 

By 31st March 
2011 

(g) Reports from the Triscan fuel 
issuing system were not being 
produced.  Audit 
recommended that these 
reports must be produced and 
monitored on a regular and 
timely basis. 

 

Head of 
Environmental 
Services 

By 25th  
February 2011  

(h) The independent checking of 
materials issued to Housing 
clients is not operating 
effectively.  Audit 
recommended that issues of 
materials to Housing jobs 
must be properly monitored. 

Head of Housing 
Services  

By 25th 
February 2011  

 

Page 220


	Agenda
	8 Motions on Notice - Worcestershire Acute Hospitals NHS Trust
	9 Executive Committee
	WHS - decision
	Worcestershire Housing Strategy - Report
	Worcestershire Housing Strategy Appendix 1
	WLIP - decision
	Worcestershire LIP & Affordable Homes Framework report
	Worcestershire LIP - Appendix 1 - Final
	MDSG - decision
	MDSG 1 Referrals Report
	MDSG 2 Members ICT Facilities V1 3 - RBC

	10 Regulatory Committees
	External Audit - Grants Report - decision
	External Audit - Grants Report
	Internal Audit - Progress Report - decision
	Internal Audit Progress Report - FINAL
	Internal Audit Progress Report - Index of audit reports Appendix A
	Internal Audit Progress Report -  Appendix B


